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Project Administration Manual Purpose and Process 

 
The project administration manual (PAM) describes the essential administrative and manage-
ment requirements to implement the project on time, within budget, and in accordance with the 
policies and procedures of the government and Asian Development Bank (ADB). The PAM 
includes references to all available templates and instructions either through linkages to rele-
vant URLs or directly incorporated in the PAM. 
 
The Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan 
(MOHSPP) and the Project Administration Group (PAG) are wholly responsible for the imple-
mentation of ADB financed project, as agreed jointly between the recipient and ADB, and in 
accordance with the policies and procedures of the government and ADB. ADB staff is respon-
sible for supporting implementation including compliance by MOHSPP and PAG of their obli-
gations and responsibilities for project implementation in accordance with ADB’s policies and 
procedures. 
 
At grant negotiations, the recipient and ADB shall agree to the PAM and ensure consistency 
with the grant agreement. Such agreement shall be reflected in the minutes of the grant nego-
tiations. In the event of any discrepancy or contradiction between the PAM and grant agree-
ment, the provisions of the grant agreement shall prevail. 
 



 
 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
A. Rationale 
 
1. Tajikistan is a small, landlocked country located in the southeastern region of Central 
Asia. Its territory covers 142,600 square kilometers and is bordered by Uzbekistan and Kyrgyz 
Republic to the west and north, China to the east, and Afghanistan to the south. It is a low-
middle income country with a gross national income (GNI) per capita of $1,110; a population 
of 8.7 million; and a poverty headcount rate of 31.3%.1 
 
2. Tajikistan is committed to the attainment of SDGs targets for neonatal and infant mor-
tality––12 neonatal and 25 infant deaths per 1,000 live births. The country’s current child mor-
tality rates are 20 neonatal deaths per 1,000 live births and 37 infant mortality rate.2 Maternal 
mortality is also higher in Tajikistan––32 deaths per 100,000 live births in 2017––than in other 
Central Asian or European countries, which averaged 23 deaths per 100,000 live births in 
2017.3  
 
3. The attainment of the MCH-related SDG3 targets is constrained by systemic health 
sector issues such as inadequate funding for and delivery of quality health care services, in-
sufficient human resources, and the population’s limited awareness of the importance of MCH. 
Other impediments to MCH outcomes outside the health sector are poverty, geography, and 
lack of access to clean water. 
  
4. Achieving better health for all is an important part of ADB’s Strategy 2030 which aims 
to address remaining poverty and reducing inequalities in Asia and the Pacific. The strategy 
regards ADB’s support for improving quality and coverage of health services and reducing the 
out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the poor as essential in addressing impoverishment.  
 
5. Health services delivery. MCH care suffers from fragmented links and communication 
between primary health care (PHC) and hospital care, nonfunctioning referral pathways, and 
an absence of patient follow-up practices. Apart from being fragmented, the service delivery 
system is duplicative. For instance, antenatal care, immunization, and child health care are 
provided at PHC centers. Alongside these are specialized institutions such as the Center for 
Immunization and the Center for Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses, which can 
also provide consultations on MCH. These specialized centers are vertical programs that di-
rectly report to the Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic 
of Tajikistan (MOHSPP). Some of them also provide limited inpatient care. 
 
6. Most patients go directly to secondary- and tertiary-level hospitals, bypassing most ru-
ral hospitals for child delivery and during child illness. Bypassing leads to disrupted patient 
care and a more expensive health service delivery. Although regulations on a referral system 
exist, its implementation is not enforced. 
  
7. Health facilities in remote districts are in poor condition after years of underinvestment, 
and available technology and equipment are often obsolete. About 65% of the facilities were 
built between 1938 and 1990, and most do not meet basic technical requirements and put both 
patients and staff at risk.4 Some lack electricity during winter, many have inadequate sanitation, 
and infection-preventing measures are not always adhered to either.5 

                                                
1  Current US$, Atlas method.  World Bank. World Development Indicators.  
2  UNICEF. Monitoring the situation of Women and Children.  
3  UNICEF. Monitoring the situation of Women and Children, and World Bank. World Development Indicators.  
4 KfW. 2013. Strategic Plan for the Rationalization of Hospital Care in the Khatlon Oblast. Tajikistan. 
5 B. Matthys. 2014. Quality of care assessment in primary health care facilities in two new pilot rayons of Project 

Sino V and comparison with findings from the 2012 assessment. Basel: Swiss Centre for International Health 
and Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute. 

https://data.worldbank.org/country/tajikistan?view=chart
https://data.unicef.org/country/tjk/
https://data.unicef.org/country/kgz/
https://data.worldbank.org/country/tajikistan?view=chart
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8. Human resources for health. The poor qualifications of health care workers are an-
other constraint. In a small-scale study of selected health care providers in rural areas, physi-
cians and midwives on average answered less than 50% of 52 knowledge questions about 
maternity care correctly.6 Continuous medical education (CME) is regulated by a special de-
cree. Publicly financed slots are scarce, and neither the health facilities nor the physicians can 
afford to pay for training. Demand for paid CME courses is low unless they are financed by 
development partners.7 The quality of care has also suffered from a serious brain drain, begin-
ning with the civil war and continuing into the present, as health workers seek higher wages 
abroad. 
 
9. Health Financing. All the problems above are exacerbated by limited financing for 
health. Despite the political commitment to public health,8 the health sector commands only 
7.0% of the total government budget, compared with 12.0% in the Kyrgyz Republic and an 
11.5% global weighted average.9 Consequently, households shoulder most of the health care 
costs.10 
 
10. A World Bank review of public health expenditure noted an oversupply of beds and too 
many avoidable inpatient admissions (an estimated one-third of these cases could have been 
treated in outpatient settings).11 This situation is compounded by the current health financing 
modalities, whereby the government provides funds through line-item budgeting, which allo-
cates public funds to institutions based on their bed capacity, number of staff, and historical 
utility costs. In contrast, many countries have shifted to a case-based payment method, which 
reimburses hospitals at a predetermined fixed rate for each treated case.12 
 
11. Knowledge on MCH. The share of pregnant women delivering in hospitals has steadily 
increased in Tajikistan’s urban centers, but in rural and often remote areas, awareness of the 
need for timely and good-quality MCH care remains low. Limited access to hospitals and cul-
tural issues are only part of the story. The rural population also lacks important information on 
childcare practices. A coherent and culturally sensitive strategy to change the health-seeking 
behavior of rural families does not exist, and rural health workers also lack the skills to com-
municate effectively with these communities.  
 
12. Government’s Sector Strategies. The pursuit of SDG3 is echoed in the National 
Health Strategy for Tajikistan, 2010–2020, which envisions strengthening maternal, newborn, 
child, and adolescent health; preventing and controlling infectious diseases; decreasing the 
burden of preventable noncommunicable diseases; and improving PHC. The government ap-
proved the Strategic Plan for the Rationalization of Medical Facilities in the Republic of Tajiki-
stan for 2010–2020 (No. 169 dated 1 April 2011) to rationalize health service delivery. The 
plan envisions the integration of health services across levels of care and types of providers. 
 
13. Lessons.  The project will build upon achievements and lessons learned from Asian 
Development Bank’s past support to health sector in Tajikistan. A major lesson learned from 

                                                
6 T.A. Wiegers, W.G.W. Boerma, O. de Haan. 2011. Maternity care and birth preparedness in rural Kyrgyzstan 

and Tajikistan. Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare. Vol. 1: pp. 189–194. 
7 The decree instructs physicians to collect a certain amount of credit hours in order to be certified or recertified 

once every 5 years. 
8 Address by the President of the Republic of Tajikistan, the Leader of the Nation, H.E. Emomali Rahmon to 

the Parliament of the Republic of Tajikistan, 22.12.2017, Dushanbe City. http://www.presi-
dent.tj/en/node/16773. 

9 World Bank. World Development Indicators. 
10 Data from the 2015 Tajikistan health accounts show that 63.3% of total health expenditures are met by 

households’ out-of-pocket payments. 
11 World Bank. 2013.Tajikistan Public Expenditure Review  
12 J. Langenbrunner, C. Cashin, and S. O’Dougherty. 2009. Designing and Implementing Health Care Provider 

Payment Systems:  How-To Manuals. Washington, DC: World Bank. 

https://data.worldbank.org/products/wdi
https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/20771
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the Health Sector Reform Project is that rationalization of health facilities and provision of ad-
equate health financing should go hand in hand.13 The completion report noted the value of 
conducting comprehensive needs assessment before drawing up civil works and equipment 
lists to ensure right inputs are made, and the need for intensive information campaigns to 
ensure community participation. 
 
14. ADB Value Addition. ADB will contribute to the integration of primary and secondary 
care by concentrating on MCH, which is key for better-quality and efficient provision of ser-
vices. The project will consolidate different pilots of development partners that focus on either 
PHC or secondary care into an integrated concept. Integrated care refers to integration and 
coordination of all levels of health services (primary, secondary, and tertiary) to provide pa-
tients with more effective and continuous care.14 ADB will bring in regional lessons on integrat-
ing health care services and improving efficiencies in health service delivery to inform the pro-
ject and the country’s ongoing health reforms.  
 
15. Development Partner Support. German development cooperation through KfW has 
been supporting the rationalization of hospitals in Khatlon Oblast since 2011, while the World 
Bank, the Japan International Cooperation Agency, and German development cooperation 
through Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) have been supporting 
PHC. United Nations agencies such as the World Health Organization, the United Nations 
Children’s Fund (UNICEF), the United Nations Development Programme, and the United Na-
tions Population Fund are also providing policy and implementation support to the sector. 
KfW’s planned financing of the Mother, Child and Emergency Care VI program will align with 
the project to complete the continuum of MCH care: the ADB project focuses on primary and 
secondary care, while the new KfW program supports the tertiary reference level for ADB pro-
ject districts. Close coordination is planned on a case-based financing pilot and the implemen-
tation of a national medical equipment maintenance concept.15  
 
A. Impact and Outcome 
 
16. The project is aligned with the following impact: health status and well-being of mothers 
and children in the project districts improved.16 The project will have the following outcome: 
Coverage of women and children with quality MCH services in the project districts improved.17  
Project districts are:  Fayzobod, Rasht and Shamsiddin Shohin. 
 
B. Outputs 
 
17. Output 1: Integrated delivery of quality maternal and child care services in pro-
ject districts improved. The project will: (i) formulate a strategy for planning and deploying 
human resources, build institutional capacity for Continuous Medical Education (CME); and 
strengthen clinical capacities in the project districts; (ii) create an effective referral system be-
tween the various MCH service levels as well as a sound feedback mechanism and integration 
of vertical programs into PHC; (iii) institutionalize Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) sys-
tem at national, sub-national and facility levels and establish a supportive supervision system; 
and (iv) pilot case-based financing mechanism at project district hospitals. 
 
18. Output 2: Infrastructure and equipment for MCH services in project districts ra-
tionalized and improved. The project will support: (i) upgrade of central district hospitals 

                                                
13  Asian Development Bank. 2010. Project Completion Report: Tajikistan Health Sector Reform Project (Loan 

2054-TAJ). Manila: Philippines.  
14 S. Shaw, R. Rosen, and B. Rumbold. 2011. What is integrated care?: An overview of integrated care in the 

NHS. London. https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2017-01/what-is-integrated-care-report-web-final.pdf. 
15 A memorandum of understanding between ADB and KfW will be signed in November 2018. 
16  Government of Tajikistan.2017. National Development Strategy. Dushanbe  
17 The design and monitoring framework is in Appendix 1. 

https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2017-01/what-is-integrated-care-report-web-final.pdf
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2017-01/what-is-integrated-care-report-web-final.pdf
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(CDHs) and DHCs; (ii) supply of medical equipment and medical furniture to refurbished CDHs 
and DHCs, and provision of basic medical kits to PHC facilities; and (iii) piloting of the equip-
ment management system in project facilities. The project will also support the Government’s 
efforts in establishing a national equipment management system in close coordination with 
KfW and JICA.  
 
19. Output 3: Knowledge of MCH and health seeking behaviors in project districts 
improved.  The project will help (i) build the capacity of the Republican Healthy Lifestyle Cen-
ter for developing a behavior change communication (BCC) plan, and for monitoring, evaluat-
ing, and reporting the plan; (ii) design and implement district-specific knowledge, attitude, and 
practice (KAP) surveys; and design district-specific BCC implementation plans based on the 
findings of the baseline KAP survey; (iii) carry out community mobilization activities to promote 
social norms that support collective MCH objectives and challenge harmful practices; and (iv) 
develop the BCC skills of health workers and community members. 

II. IMPLEMENTATION PLANS 

A. Project Readiness Activities 
 

Table 1: Project Readiness Activities 

Indicative activities 

Year/month Responsible 

agencies 2018 2019 

8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3  

Advance contracting actions         MOHSPP 

Retroactive financing actions         MOHSPP 

Establish project implementation arrangements         MOHSPP 

ADB Board Approval         ADB 

Grant signing         ADB and 

Government 
Government legal opinion provided         

Government budget inclusion         MOF 

Grant effectiveness         ADB 

ADB = Asian Development Bank, MOF = Ministry of Finance, MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection 
of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan. 
Source: Asian Development Bank 

 
Table 2: Advance Actions and Retroactive Financing 

No. Advance Actions Timeline  
Responsible  

Parties 

Retroactive 

Financing 

1. Establishment of Project Administration Group (PAG)  
 

1.1 Appointment of PAG Director 

1.2 Development the Terms of References 

(ToRs) of PAG staff 

1.3 Advertisement to invite Expression of In-

terests (EOIs) for PMG manager and key 

positions  

1.4 Evaluation and selection 

1.5 Contract award 

1.6 Commencement of the services 

August to December 

2018 

August 2018 

October 2018 

 

 

December 2018 

January 2019 

February 2019  

TRTA consult-

ants / 

MOHSPP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided 

2. Procurement of PAG office furniture, office equipment, and vehicles (RFQ) 
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No. Advance Actions Timeline  
Responsible  

Parties 

Retroactive 

Financing 

 2-1. Development of the list, specification, and 

cost estimates of furniture, equipment and ve-

hicles of PAG office 

2-2. Issuance of Request for Quotations 

2-3. Evaluation 

August 2018 

 

 

November 2018 

January 2019 

TRTA  

consultants / 

MOHSPP / 

PAG 

 

3. Recruitment of Project Implementation Firm (QCBS) 

 3-1. Development of TORs for project imple-

mentation consultants 

3-2. Preparation of Request for Proposal 

3-3. Advertisement for EOI on CMS  

3-4. Evaluation of submitted EOIs 

3-5. Shortlisting of the firms to invite to submit 

technical and financial proposals 

3-6. Evaluation of proposals  

August 2018 

 

September 2018 

November 2018 

January 2019 

February 2019 

 

March 2019 

TRTA  

consultants / 

MOHSPP/ 

PAG 

 

4. Recruitment of 2 Individual Consultants (Financial Management and Integrated Care Specialist -ICR) 
 

4-1. Preparation of TOR and RFP  

4-2. Advertisement of the invitation for EOIs  

4-3. Evaluation and selection 

4-4. Contract award 

4-6. Commencement of services 

August 2018 

October 2018 

December 2018 

February 2019 

March 2019 

TRTA  

consultants/ 

MOHSPP/ 

PAG 

 

 

 

Provided 

5. Recruitment of Design and Supervision Firm (QCBS)  
 

5-1. Development of TORs for project imple-

mentation consultants 

5-2. Preparation of Request for Proposal 

5-3. Advertisement for EOI on CMS  

5-4. Evaluation of submitted EOIs 

5-5. Shortlisting of the firms to submit tech-

nical and financial proposals 

5-6. Evaluation of the proposals 

August 2018 

 

September 2018 

November 2018 

January 2019 

February 2019 

 

March 2019 

ADB / 

MOHSPP / 

PAG  

 

6. Recruitment of UNICEF (subject to approval of management approval) 

 6-1. Development of TORs  

6-2. Issuance of request for the technical and 

financial proposals 

6-3. Evaluation of proposals 

August 2018 

February 2019 

 

March 2019 

TRTA  

consultants / 

MOHSPP/ 

PAG  

 

CMS = Consultant Management System, EOI = Expression of Interest, ICR = Individual Consultant Selection, 
MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan, PAG = Project 
Administration Group, QCBS = Quality and Cost Based Selection, RFQ = Request for Quotation, TOR = Terms of 
Reference, TRTA = Transaction Technical Assistance. 
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B. Overall Project Implementation Plan 
 

Table 3: Overall Project Implementation Plan 

Code Outputs 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Output 1: Integrated delivery of quality maternal and child care services in project districts improved 

1.1 Health workforce planning and capacity building 

1.1.1 Health workforce planning and deployment 
- Development / update of HRH database 
- Development of manual for use of database 

- Staff training / HR Registration 
- Development of HRH deployment strategy 
- Stakeholder consultations 

- Monitoring of staff deployment 

                        

1.1.2 Institutional capacity building for CME 
- Baseline assessment of the CME Agency 

- Stakeholder consultations 
- Institutional Development Plan 
- Training curriculum and materials 

- Training of Agency staff 
- Final assessment of the Agency 

                        

1.1.3 Strengthening clinical capacities of HRH working 
in project target districts  

- Define key clinical training modules (MCH) 
- Develop HRH training plan 
- Procure training materials 
- Introduce standard training evaluation 
- Conduct training 
- Support PAG in reporting on training 

                        

1.2 

  

Operationalization of the referral system 

- Assessment of legal / regulatory framework 
- Design / review of (MCH) referral pathways 
- Getting revised pathways approved 
- Development of mobile referral application 

- Definition of indicators for M&E 
- Training curriculum & materials 
- Master trainer training (TOT) 

- Training of Health Workers 

                        

1.3 Institutionalization of Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) 
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Code Outputs 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

1.3.1 Design of CQI System 
- Assessment of the CQI Agency 

- Institutional capacity development plan 
- CQI operational manual 
- Implementation of capacity development 

- Revision of CQI tools and processes 

                        

1.3.2 Enhance facility based CQI practices  
- CQI training curriculum and materials 
- Training of CQI master trainers (TOT) 

- Training of health facility staff 

                        

1.3.3 Institutionalization of supportive supervision 
- Review of supportive supervision system 

- Development of operational manual 
- Selection and training of staff 
- Supervision visits to project districts 

- Evaluation of the approach 
- Refinement of system and practice  

                        

1.3.4 Revision of MCH clinical guidelines & protocols 

- Revision/update/development and approval 
of MCH clinical guidelines and protocols 

- Training of Master trainers 

                        

1.3.5 Improving Infection control Practices  
- Update of infection control policy and plans 
- Training curriculum & materials development 
- Training of Trainers (SES) in infection control 

at national and district level 
- Follow-up & monitoring of infection control 

                        

1.3.6 Improving (medical) waste management practice 

- Revision of waste management policy 
- Development of operational manual, SOPs 
- Waste management TOT training 
- Training of supervisors 

                        

1.4 Piloting case-based financing 

1.4.1 Design of the case-based financing model  
- Data collection and analysis 

- Design of the methodology 
- Development of data collection framework for 

salary calculation system 
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Code Outputs 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

- Introduction of the (virtual) salary calculation 
system for case-based financing pilot 

1.4.2 Development of the regulatory framework  
- Support MOHSPP and MOF with review / ad-

justment of the regulatory framework 

- Organize consensus building workshop(s) 

                        

1.4.3 Piloting of case-based financing  
- Development of training curriculum and mate-

rials 

- Training of hospital management teams 
- Monitoring of pilot implementation 
- Revision/adjustment of the design 

- Presentation of results to the MOHSPP, MoF 
, Local Governments, Partners, etc. 

                        

1.4.4 Development of MIS for case-based financing and 
referrals: 

- Design of the information system 
- Improvement of data input forms, data analy-

sis frameworks and reporting forms 

- Procurement of IT equipment 

                        

Output 2: Infrastructure and equipment for MCH services in project districts rationalized and improved 

2.1 Service rationalization and infrastructure Improve-
ment 
- Development of detailed design of health fa-

cilities and including cost estimates for works 
and equipment 

- Procurement of civil works 
- Development of facility specific environmental 

management plans (EMP) 
- Construction of health facilities 
- Supervision of civil works and EMP imple-

mentation 

                        

2.2 Procurement of medical equipment and furniture  
- Procurement of medical equipment and furni-

ture 

- Supervision of the installation of equipment 
furniture 

- Staff training in use of new equipment 

                        

2.3 Development of Equipment Maintenance System                         
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Code Outputs 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

- Procurement of maintenance tools 
- Inventory of equipment in project districts 

- Capacity building of staff at project facilities 

Output 3: Knowledge on maternal and child health and health seeking behaviors in project districts improved 

3.1 Enhance capacity of the Republican Healthy Life-
style Center (RHLC) and strengthen partnerships 
- Institutional Assessment of the RHLC 

- Development of capacity building plan 
- Conduct stakeholder consultation workshops 
- Implementation of capacity building 

measures at national and district levels 

                        

3.2 
 
3.2.1 
3.2.2 
3.2.3 
 
3.2.4 
 
3.2.5 
 
3.2.6 

Development and Implementation of District 
Specific BCC Strategies 

- Planning and implementation of baseline, 
mid-term and end-line KAP surveys 

- Organization of stakeholder workshop to dis-
cuss results of KAP Surveys 

- Design of district specific BCC strategies and 
implementation plans 

- Presentation and discussion of BCC strate-
gies at district level 

- Monitoring and evaluation of BCC strategy 
implementation and strategy adjustment 

  

                      

3.3 
3.3.1 
 
 
 
3.3.2 
 
 
 
3.3.4 
3.3.5 
 

Community Mobilization Strategy  

- Development of the community mobilization 
strategy, delivery channels and modes 

- Presentation of community mobilization strat-
egy to participating districts 

- Organization of community sensitization 
events (meeting, workshops, etc.) 

- Organization of community training on route 
cause analysis and planning 

- Manage small grants for the development and 
implementation of community-based BCC ac-
tivities (allocation / M&E) 

                        

3.4 Development of technically sound, culturally rele-
vant, visually attractive, and effective job aids  
- Design of the job- aids 
- Testing and finalization of job aids 
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Code Outputs 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

Q
1

 

Q
2

 

Q
3

 

Q
4

 

- Printing of district specific job aids 

3.5 Capacity development of health workers and com-
munity members in Counselling  
- Development of training curriculum and mate-

rials 

- Training of health workers and community 
members 

                        

4 Project Management, Monitoring and evaluation 

4.1 Establishment of Project Administration Group 
- Recruitment of specialists and consultants 
- Procurement of office equipment 
- Training of PAG Staff 

                        

4.2 Establishment of M&E System  
- Development of M&E operational manual in-

cluding data collection tool(s) 

- Implementation of M&E visits 
- Training of implementing partners in M&E 
- Planning and implementation of baseline, 

mid-term and end-line surveys as well as an-
nual performance reviews 

- Elaboration of project progress and comple-
tion reports 

                        

BCC = Behavior change communication, CGP = clinical guidelines & protocols, CME = Continuous Medical Education, CQI = Continuous Quality Improvement, EMP = Environ-
mental Management Plan, HRH = Human Resources for Health, IT = Information Technology, KAP = Knowledge, Attitude and Practice, MCH = Maternal and Child Health, M&E 
= Monitoring and Evaluation, MIS = Management Information System, MOF = Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Tajikistan, PAG = Project Administration Group, RHLC = 
Republican Healthy Lifestyle Center, SOP = Standard Operating Procedure. 
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III. PROJECT MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 

A. Project Implementation Organizations – Roles and Responsibilities 

Project 

implementation 

organizations 

Management roles and responsibilities 

Executing Agency 

(EA) 

The Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan 

(MOHSPP) will be the EA of the Project and responsible for overall management including 

but not limited to: 

- Monitoring and supervision of Project implementation 

- Policy coordination and guidance for implementation 

- Signing of contracts 

- Coordination and timely submission of reports to ADB  

Project Steering 

Committee (PSC) 

MOHSPP will be assisted by the PSC. The PSC shall be co-chaired by the MOHSPP and 

the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Tajikistan (MOF) and comprised of representatives 

from other relevant ministries. Manager of the Project Administration Group (PAG) shall be 

participating in PSC meetings. The PSC shall meet no less than twice a year. PSC’s roles 

and responsibilities will include, but not be limited to:  

- Overall policy guidance 

- Coordination and liaising with other government agencies and departments  

- Evaluation of project activities and outputs based on quarterly reports 

Project 

Administration Group 

(PAG) 

The PAG will be established under the MOHSPP and manage day-to-day operations of the 

Project as an implementing agency. The PAG will primarily be responsible for procurement 

and financial management of the project. MOHSPP will appoint the PAG Director who will 

supervise PAG’s operations. PAG manager and staff will be selected through a competitive 

procedure and funded by the Project. The PAG will have the following staff: PAG Manager 

and experts in specific areas (Financial Management, Disbursement, Procurement, Equip-

ment, Civil Engineering, Environmental Safeguards, Monitoring and Evaluation, Communi-

cation, Information Technology, Social Safeguards and Gender, Legal Aspects) as well as 

support staff. PAG’s roles and responsibilities will include, but not be limited to: 

- Support the MOHSPP with the implementation of activities and financial management 

of the Project; 

- Review and monitoring of Project progress; 

- Administration of procurement and recruitment of consultants; 

- Supervision of Consultants to ensure quality in execution of all contracts; 

- Establishment of the project monitoring and evaluation (M&E) framework, preparation 

of progress reports and of baseline and end-line surveys; 

- Preparation of withdrawal applications  

- Management of the advance account(s)  

- Annual audits of Project accounts and submission to ADB and the government of all 

financial statements necessary; 

- Establishment of local level Project Complaints Coordinating Units in accordance with 

the Project’s Grievance Redress Mechanism (GRM); 

- Compliance with all safeguards, gender and social requirements and covenants  

- Overseeing and implementation of the communication strategy and liaise with other min-

istries and government agencies involved in implementation; 

- Monitoring of contract awards and disbursement, preparation of expenditure estimates, 

retaining of financial supporting documents; 

- Attend the portfolio meetings; 
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Project 

implementation 

organizations 

Management roles and responsibilities 

- Development of the Project’s website and management of all communication related to 

the Project on behalf of the EA; and 

- Preparation of and attendance to ADB missions. 

Ministry of Finance 

(MOF) 

MOF’s roles and responsibilities will include, but not be limited to: 

- Overseeing grant disbursements and ensuring that all disbursements are properly ac-

counted for; and 

- Provision of adequate budgets to the MOHSPP to meet Project objectives.  

Asian Development 

Bank (ADB) 

ADB will: 

- Provide Project funds and oversee Project implementation;  

- Monitor compliance with grant agreement and the project administration manual;  

- Monitor implementation arrangements, disbursement, procurement, consultant selec-

tion, and reporting;   

- Monitor schedules of activities, including funds flow;   

- Review compliance with agreed procurement procedures and grant covenants;  

- Monitor effectiveness of the project to achieve its expected outputs and outcomes, safe-

guards, and anti-corruption measures;  

- Approve procurement activities at no-objection basis and withdrawal applications;  

- Undertake an inception mission and periodic review missions as well as joint mid-term 

and project completion review missions with the government. 

ADB = Asian Development Bank; EA = Executing Agency; IT = Information Technology; M&E = Monitoring and Evalu-
ation; MOF = Ministry of Finance; MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic 
of Tajikistan; PAG = Project Administration Group; PSC = Project Steering Committee 

B. Key Persons Involved in Implementation 

Executing Agency 
 
Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the 
Population of the Republic of Tajikistan 

 
 
Name: Isfandiyor Mahmudzoda 
Tel no.: +992 900 88 70 22 
Email address: dr.diyor@mail.ru 

Asian Development Bank 
 
Social Sector Division 
Central and West Asia Department 

 
 
Name: Rie Hiraoka  
Position: Director  
Tel no.: +632 6324458  
Email address: rhiraoka@adb.org 

Mission Leader Name: Rouselle Lavado 
Health Specialist  
Tel no.: +632 6324958 
Email address: rlavado@adb.org 
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C. Project Organizational Structure 

 

Figure 1: Project Management Structure 

 
ADB = Asian Development Bank; EA = executing agency; MOF = Ministry of Finance; MOHSPP = Ministry of Health 
and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan; PAG = Project Administration Group 
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Figure 2: Project Administration Group - Organizational Structure 

 

Source: ADB. TRTA Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care Project. Dushanbe, August 2018 
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IV. COST AND FINANCING 

A. Cost Estimates Preparation and Revisions 

20. The TAJ Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care Project is estimated to cost $35.2 
million, of which the ADB will finance $32 million Asian Development Fund. The government will 
contribute in-kind assistance in the form of tax exemption (and other in-kind contributions). The 
Project investment plan is set out in Table below: 

Table 4: Project Investment Plan 

 ($ million) 

Notes:  
1. Numbers may not sum precisely due to rounding.  
2. Includes taxes and duties of $3.3 million, of which ADB will shoulder $0.13 million. 
3. All government counterpart funding will be in taxes and duties exemption, estimated to be $3.2 million 
4. In 2018 prices as of August 2018. 
5. Physical contingencies computed at 10% for civil work and 5% for other goods and services. Price contingencies are 
based on escalation rates for domestic and international costs estimated for Tajikistan. Annual escalation rate for do-
mestic costs is estimated average 7% per year while annual escalation rate for international costs is estimated at 
average of 1.5% per year. 
Source: ADB cost estimates.  
 

21. The cost estimates were prepared by Transition Technical Assistance (TRTA) Team, re-
viewed by ADB staff and the Executing Agency. Cost estimates will be reviewed prior to sending 
invitations to bid to confirm that they remain valid and will be revised as required. 
 

B. Key Assumptions 

22. The following key assumptions underpin the cost estimates and financing plan: 
i. Exchange rate: TJS 9.42 = $1.00 as of August 16th, 2018; 
ii. Price contingencies based on expected cumulative inflation over the implementation pe-

riod are as follows: 
 

Table 5: Cost Escalation Rates 

Item 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Average 

Foreign rate of price inflation 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 

Domestic rate of price inflation 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 

Source: Asian Development Bank 

 

 

Item Amount 

A.  Base Cost   
 1.  Output 1: Integrated delivery of quality maternal and child care  
                                          services in project districts improved 

3.10 

 2.  Output 2: Infrastructure and equipment for MCH services in project 
                                          districts rationalized and improved 

21.50 

 3.  Output 3: Knowledge on maternal and child health and health seeking       
                                          behaviors in project districts improved 

1.00 

  Project Implementation 3.70 
  Subtotal (A) 29.30 
B.  Contingencies (B)             5.90 
   Total (A+B) 35.20 
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C. Detailed Cost Estimates by Expenditure Category 

Table 6: Detailed Cost Estimates by Expenditure Category 
 

    Tajikistani Somoni USD thousand 
 

Item Foreign  
Exchange 

Local  
Currency 

Total  
Cost 

Foreign  
Exchange 

Local  
Currency 

Total  
Cost 

% of 
Total 
Base 
Cost          

A.  Investment Costs 
       

1 Civil work    47.9  71.9  119.8            5.1           7.6  12.7  43% 

2 Goods & Related 
Services 

   65.1    2.4   67.5            6.9           0.3    7.2  24% 

3 Consulting Ser-
vices 

   67.9   0.1   68.0            7.2           0.0    7.2  25% 

 
Subtotal (A)   180.9   74.4  255.3           19.2           7.9  27.1  92% 

B. Recurrent Cost 
       

4 Project Implemen-
tation  

      -    20.5   20.5               -            2.2  2.2   8%  

 
Subtotal (B)       -    20.5   20.5               -            2.2  2.2  8% 

C. Total Base Cost  180.9  94.9  275.8           19.2         10.1  29.3  100% 

D. Contingencies 
       

 
Physical   13.0     6.8  19.8            1.4           0.7    2.1  7%  
Price   35.6                 -   35.6            3.8             -     3.8  13% 

 Subtotal (D)   48.6    6.8  55.4            5.2           0.7  5.9                20% 

  
Total Project Cost 
(C+D) 

 229.5  101.7  331.2           24.4         10.8  35.2  120% 

      Note: Numbers may not sum precisely due to rounding. 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 

D. Allocation and Withdrawal of Grant Proceed 

Table 7: Allocation and Withdrawal of Funds 

No Expenditure category 

Amount  

Allocated 

($ million) 

Basis for withdrawal from the 

Grant  

Account 

1 Civil work  10.8  100% of total expenditure claimed* 

2 Goods & Related Services  6.8 100% of total expenditure claimed* 

3 Consulting Services  6.7  100% of total expenditure claimed* 

4 Project Implementation   1.8  100% of total expenditure claimed* 

5 Unallocated  5.9      

  Total  32.0      

* Exclusive of taxes and duties imposed within the territory of the Borrower. Withdrawals are subject to the withdrawal 
conditions per Schedule 2 of the Grant Agreement.  
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E. Detailed Cost Estimates by Financier 
 

Table 8: Project Cost Estimates by Financier 
  ADB Govt. Total cost 

Item 
Amount 

($ million) 

% of Cost 

Category 

Amount 

($ million) 

% of 

Cost 

Cate-

gory 

Amount 

($ million) 

Taxes 

and 

duties 

A.  Investment Costs       

1 Civil works  10.8  85%   1.9  15%   12.7   1.9  

2 Goods & related Services  6.8  94%   0.4   6%   7.2   0.4  

3 Consulting Services  6.7   93%   0.5  7%   7.2   0.5  

 Subtotal (A)  24.3  90%   2.8  10%   27.1   2.8  

B. Recurrent Cost 

  

 -   

   

4 Project Implementation  1.8 82% 0.4 18% 2.2 0.5 

 Subtotal (B)  1.8   82%   0.4   18%   2.2   0.5  

C. Total Base Cost (C)  26.1   89%   3.2   11%   29.3   3.3  

D. Contingency 

      

 Physical  2.1   100%   -    -    2.1   -   

 Price  3.8   100%   -    -    3.8   -   

 Subtotal (D)  5.9   100%   -    -    5.9   -   

  Total Project Cost (C+D)  32.0   91%   3.2   9%   35.2   3.3  

Note: Numbers may not sum precisely due to rounding. 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
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F. Detailed Cost Estimates by Outputs and/or Components 
Table 9: Project Cost Estimates by Outputs and/or Components 

($ million) 

 

Total 
Cost 

Integrated delivery of 
quality maternal and 
child care services in 
project districts im-
proved 

Infrastructure and 
equipment for MCH 
services in project dis-
tricts rationalized and 
improved 

Knowledge on mater-
nal and child health 
and health seeking 
behaviors in project 
districts improved 

Project Implementa-
tion & Monitoring 

Item ($ million) ($ million) 
% of Cost 
Category ($ million) 

% of Cost 
Category ($ million) 

% of 
Cost 
Category ($ million) 

% of 
Cost 
Category 

A. Investment Costs          

1. Civil work 12.7 - 0% 12.7 100% - 0% - 0% 

2. Goods & Related Services 7.2 0.1 1% 6.6 92% - 0% 0.5 7% 

3. Consulting Services 7.2 3.0 41% 2.2 30% 1.0 14% 1.0 15% 

    Subtotal (A) 27.1 3.1 11% 21.5 79% 1.0 4% 1.5 6% 

B. Recurrent Cost          

4. Project Implementation & Monitoring 2.2 - - - - - - 2.2 1.0 

    Subtotal (B) 2.2 - 0% - 0% - 0% 2.2 100% 

C. Total Base Cost 29.3 3.1 11% 21.5 73% 1.0 3% 3.7 13% 

D. Contingencies          

Physical 2.1 0.2 11% 1.5 73% 0.1 3% 0.3 13% 

Price 3.8 0.4 11% 2.8 73% 0.1 3% 0.5 13% 

Subtotal (D) 5.9 0.6 11% 4.3 73% 0.2 3% 0.7 13% 

Total Project Cost (C+D) 35.2 3.7 11% 25.8 73% 1.2 3% 4.5 13% 
 Notes: 
1. Numbers may not sum precisely due to rounding 
2. Includes taxes and duties of $3.3 million of which ADB will shoulder $0.13 million All government counterpart funding will be in taxes and duties exemption, 

estimated to be $3.2 million 
3. In 2018 prices as of August 2018 
4. Physical contingencies computed at 10% for civil work and 5% for other goods and services. Price contingencies are based on escalation rates for domestic and 

international costs estimated for Tajikistan.  
5. Annual escalation rate for domestic costs is estimated average 7% per year while annual escalation rate for international costs is estimated at an average of 

1.5% per year 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
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G. Detailed Cost Estimates by Year 

Table 10: Detailed Cost Estimates by Year 
($ million) 

 Item Total Cost 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

A  Investment Costs         

1 Civil work        12.7           0.0          0.0          1.3           3.8           3.8           2.5  1.3 

2 Goods & Related Services          7.2           0.5           0.0           0.1           4.6           1.3            0.0   0.7 

3 Consulting Services          7.2           0.8           2.1           1.1           1.1           1.0           0.9  0.2 
 Subtotal (A)        27.1           1.3           2.1           2.5           9.5           6.1           3.4  2.2 

B Recurrent Cost         

4 Project Implementation & Monitoring         
 Subtotal (B)          2.2           0.3           0.5           0.3           0.3           0.3           0.3  0.2 

C. Total Base Cost        29.3           1.6           2.6           2.8           9.8           6.4           3.7  2.4 

D. Contingencies         
 Physical          2.2           0.1           0.2           0.2           0.7           0.5           0.3  0.2 
 Price          3.7           0.0           0.1           0.2           0.7           1.1           0.9  0.7 
 Subtotal (D)          5.9           0.1           0.3           0.4           1.4           1.6           1.2  0.9 

  Total Project Cost (C+D)        35.2           1.7           2.9           3.2         11.2           8.0           4.9  3.3 

Note: Numbers may not sum precisely due to rounding. 
Source: Asian Development Bank.
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H. Contract and Disbursement S-Curve 
 
23. Table 11 and Figure 3 show the quarterly contract awards and disbursement projections over the life of the project. The S-
curve is only for ADB financing, which will be recorded in ADB’s systems and reported through e-Ops. Counterpart funds are ex-
cluded. The projections of contract awards include contingencies and unallocated amounts, but exclude front-end fees, service 
charges, and interest during construction.  
 

Table 11: Disbursement and Contract Awards 

Years 

Contract Awards    Disbursement 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2019 0.00 2.81 3.64 0.36 6.81 0.00 0.32 0.61 0.12 1.05 

2020 0.31 0.10 4.64 6.54 11.59 0.22 0.63 0.61 2.04 3.50 

2021 0.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.55 1.62 2.37 0.15 0.79 4.93 

2022 0.25 6.24 0.00 0.00 6.49 1.79 2.70 0.06 4.28 8.83 

2023 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.14 1.30 1.37 1.77 4.58 

2024 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.06 0.58 1.10 0.40 2.14 

2025 0.18 0.00 5.88 0.00 6.06 0.06 0.89 5.98 0.04 6.97 

Total         32.00         32.00 
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Figure 3: S-curve - Contract Awards and Disbursement Schedules 

 
Source: ADB. TRTA Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care Project 
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I. Fund Flow 

 
Figure 4: Fund Flow Mechanism 

ADB = Asian Development bank; MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the 
Republic of Tajikistan; TJS = Tajikistan Somoni; USD = United States dollar 

 

V. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

A. Financial Management Assessment 
 

24. Financial management assessment (FMA) was conducted in July 2018 in accordance 
with ADB’s Guidelines for the Financial Management and Analysis of Projects and the Finan-
cial Due Diligence: A Methodology Note. The FMA considered the capacity of the Ministry of 
Health and Social The Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan (MOHSPP) 
including funds flow arrangements, staffing, accounting and financial reporting systems, finan-
cial information systems, and internal and external auditing arrangement. The Project Admin-
istration Group (PAG) will be established under MOHSPP to implement the project as an im-
plementing agency. Yet, as the PAG is still to be created, it could not be considered in the 
FMA. Instead, the assessment process entailed visiting the accounting department, economic 
and budget planning department and the existing Coordination Group, acting as IA of the on-
going health projects funded by the World Bank.  
 
25. During the assessment, it was observed that the MOHSPP FM system is capable of 
executing the State Budget satisfactorily; however, it is still not able to track externally funded 
projects (Official Development Assistance Sources) adequately. Therefore, improving the fi-
nancial management (FM) capacity of the MOHSPP would entail: (i) installation of an auto-
mated accounting system, with inbuilt controls and ability to generate interim financial reports, 
and (ii) contracting of experienced FM experts to provide technical assistance to the MOHSPP 
accounting unit to fulfil their role and responsibility for Project related FM and disbursement 
functions. 
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26. Overall, the existing FM arrangement for the Project is assessed as unsatisfactory for 
the following reasons: The accounting system is not fully automated, it cannot generate any 
interim financial reports or project financial statements. The MOHSPP accounting and report-
ing staff are not familiar with ADB FM requirements. Although the MOHSPP follows instructions 
on accounting and internal control issued by the MOF, these are not adequate for effective 
financial management of the Project. 
 
27. Consequently, an action/risk mitigation plan is being proposed to strengthen the FM 
system. This plan includes but is not limited to the following actions: (i) elaboration of a Finan-
cial Procedures Manual to be developed by the individual financial management consultant 
financed by the project and to be made available in both the English and the Tajikistan lan-
guage; (ii) employment of one FM and one Disbursement officers as part of the PAG staff; (iii) 
procurement of accounting software for the Project; and (iv) special training on ADB FM pro-
cedures for all MOHSPP and PAG financial management staff involved in Project implemen-
tation. 
 
28. Upon satisfactory implementation of these actions, the FM arrangements established 
by the MOHSPP for the Project will allow the EA to completely and accurately record all trans-
actions and balances, and to prepare and submit to the ADB periodic financial statements 
regularly and on time. 
 
29. The overall FM risk for the Project is considered Substantial before and Moderate 
after the implementation of the above mentioned mitigation measures, given the existing weak-
nesses in the country’s FM systems, including the MOHSPP accounting system, which is cur-
rently not capable to track project funds adequately, and MOHSPP FM staff, who are not fa-
miliar with ADB specific FM procedures, as well as the potential delays that may be experi-
enced with the flow of funds from the designated advance account.  Once mitigation measures 
are implemented, MOHSPP and PAG will have the capacity and suitability to utilize Advance 
Fund and SOE procedure. 
 

Table 12: Financial Management and Related Risk Assessment 

Risk Description 
FM 

Risk 
Risk Mitigating Measures 

Residual 

Risk 

Inherent Risk S  M 

Country specific: Overall, Tajikistan has a 

weak public financial management (PFM) 

system which requires further improve-

ments. 

H The MOHSPP will establish a Project Admin-

istration Group (PAG) to become the Imple-

menting Agency (IA) of the Project. The IA will 

be responsible for all FM related tasks. Experts 

in Financial and Disbursement Management 

will be hired as part of the PAG staff. 

S 

Entity specific: The MOHSPP has no ex-

perience with the implementation of pro-

jects funded by the ADB, but it has exten-

sive experience with projects funded by 

the World Bank (WB). 

S The MOHSPP will be supported by the PAG 

(IA), to strengthen implementation capacity, in-

cluding financial management. 

M 

Control Risk S  M 

Implementing Entity: WB funded projects 

are implemented by the Control Group 

supported by a team of local consultants. 

S A similar arrangement (PAG) is being pro-

posed for the ADB funded project. 

M 

Staffing: Regular FM staff of the MOHSPP 

is not familiar with ADB procedures. 

S FM and Disbursement (national) Experts will 

be hired as art of the PAG staff. Specific 

M 
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Risk Description 
FM 

Risk 
Risk Mitigating Measures 

Residual 

Risk 

training will be provided to both the Experts 

and FM staff of the MOHSPP at project start. 

Accounting policies and procedures: Sys-

tems in use do not comply with interna-

tional standards. Budgeting is adequate. 

Ex-ante controls on state budget funds are 

in place, but additional controls are re-

quired for the ADB project. 

S Prepare Financial Procedures Manual to guide 

staff in FM operations. It will reflect FM ar-

rangements including accounting, disburse-

ment and reporting procedures, funds flow and 

audit arrangements, as well as internal control 

procedures, including segregation of duties, 

authorizations, reconciliations, etc. 

M 

Internal audit: Audit standards used do not 

comply with international standards. 

S Support the MOHSPP with the development of 

an internal audit manual / methodology, as well 

as an internal audit charter to guide those ac-

tivities. 

M 

External audit: Audits conducted by the 

Supreme Audit Institution (Chamber of Ac-

counts) cannot be relied on. 

S The Project financial statements will be audited 

by independent auditors based on the TOR 

agreed with the ADB. 

M 

Reporting and monitoring: The MOHSPP 

has no system for regular and reliable fi-

nancial reporting. 

S Install an automated accounting system (for 

the Project) that will generate interim financial 

reports to be regularly submitted to the ADB. 

M 

Information system: The MOHSPP uses 

an automated payment system provided 

by the Treasury of the MOF; however, this 

system has limitations such as lack of 

tools to generate required project reports. 

S The above-mentioned accounting system 

(similar to the one used by the Control Group 

managing projects funded by the WB) will en-

sure accurate and reliable accounting and re-

porting including for any disbursement made in 

the framework of the Project. 

M 

Overall (Combined) Risk S  M 

Legend: H – High, S – Substantial, M – Moderate, L – Low, N/A – Not Applicable 
ADB = Asian Development Bank; EA = Executing Agency; FM = Financial Management; MOHSPP = Ministry of 
Health and Social Protection of the Population of Republic of Tajikistan; PAG = Project Administration Group; 
PFM = Public Financial Management; TOR = Terms of Reference; WB = World Bank 

Table 13:  Proposed Action / Risk Mitigation Plan 

Proposed Actions By when Responsibility 

1. One financial management and one disbursement ex-
pert to be hired as part of the Project Administration 
Group (PAG) team under terms of reference (TORs) ac-
ceptable to the ADB 

Effectiveness MOHSPP 

2. PAG Financial Management staff involved in project im-
plementation would receive specialized training in ADB 
FM and disbursement procedures. 

During the first 
year of project im-
plementation 

PAG 

3. A Financial Procedures Manual shall be developed to 
define project specific FM arrangements. The manual 
should, to the extent possible, comply with procedures 
issued by the MOF for projects funded by Development 
Partners. 

No later than three 
months after field-
ing of FM consult-
ant 

Individual finan-
cial manage-
ment consultant 

4. The Financial Procedures Manual, as a part of the PAM, 
shall be translated into Russian to facilitate its applica-
tion for relevant FM staff 

No later than three 
months after ap-
proval of the FPM 

PAG 

5. Procurement, installation, and adaptation of a project 
specific accounting software.  

Within 3 months of 
effectiveness 

PAG 
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ADB = Asian Development Bank; FM = Financial Management; MOF = Ministry of Finance; MOHSPP = Ministry of 
Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan; PAG = Project Administration Group; 
TOR = terms of reference 
 

B. Disbursement 
 

30. The grant proceeds will be disbursed in accordance with ADB’s Loan Disbursement 
Hand book (2017, as amended from time to time),18 and detailed arrangements agreed upon 
between the government and ADB. Online training for project staff on disbursement policies 
and procedures is available.19 Project staff are encouraged to avail of this training to help en-
sure efficient disbursement and fiduciary control. Overall, the Project will use traditional dis-
bursement mechanisms.  
 
31. Advance fund procedure. Project funds will flow from the ADB to an Advance Account 
to be established with a Commercial Bank located in Tajikistan, approved by the MOHSPP. 
MOHSPP, through PAG will establish and administer the account, the currency, liquidation and 
replenishment. Separate advance account should be established and maintained by the gov-
ernment of Tajikistan for each funding source. The currency of the advance account is the US 
dollar. The advance account is to be used exclusively for ADB’s share of eligible expenditures. 
MOHSPP/PAG who administer the advance account is accountable and responsible for proper 
use of advances to the advance account.  
 
32. The total outstanding advance to the advance account should not exceed the estimate 
of ADB’s share of expenditures to be paid through the advance account for the forthcoming 6 
months or $1.5 million, whichever is lower. The PAG may request for initial and additional 
advances to the advance account based on an Estimate of Expenditure Sheet20 setting out the 
estimated expenditures to be financed through the account for the forthcoming 6 months. Sup-
porting documents should be submitted to ADB or retained by the PAG in accordance with 
ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook (2017, as amended from time to time) when liquidating 
or replenishing the advance account. 
 
33. Statement of expenditure procedure.21 Statements of Expenditure (SOE) may be 
used for reimbursement of eligible expenditures or liquidation of advances to the advance ac-
count. The ceiling of the SOE procedure is the equivalent of $100,000. Supporting documents 
and records for the expenditures claimed under the SOE should be maintained and made 
readily available for review by ADB’s disbursement and review missions, upon ADB’s request 
for submission of supporting documents on a sampling basis, and for independent audit. Re-
imbursement and liquidation of individual payments in excess of the SOE ceiling should be 
supported by full documentation when submitting the withdrawal application (WA) to ADB.  
 
34. Before the submission of the first WA, the government should submit to ADB sufficient 
evidence of the authority of the person(s) who will sign the WA on behalf of the government, 
together with the authenticated specimen signatures of each authorized person. The minimum 
value per WA is stipulated in the Loan Disbursement Handbook (2017, as amended from time 
to time). Individual payments below such amount should be paid (i) by the MOHSPP/PAG and 
subsequently claimed to ADB through reimbursement; or (ii) through the advance fund proce-
dure, unless otherwise accepted by ADB. The government should ensure sufficient category 
and contract balances before requesting disbursements. Use of ADB’s Client Portal for 

                                                
18 The handbook is available electronically from the ADB website (http://www. adb.org/documents/ loan-disburse-

ment handbook) 
19 Disbursement eLearning: http://wpqr4.adb.org/disbursement_elearning 
20 Estimate of Expenditure sheet is available in Appendix 8A of ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook (2017, as 

amended from time to time) 
21 SOE forms are available in Appendix 7B and 7D of ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook (2017, as amended 

from time to time) 

http://www/
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Disbursement (CPD)22 system is encouraged for submission of WAs to ADB. PAG under 
MOHSPP will be responsible for (i) preparing disbursement projections, and (ii) requesting 
budgetary allocations for counterpart funds. The government will finance local taxes and duties 
under the project.    
 
35. No withdrawals shall be made from the Grant Account until the PAG has been estab-
lished and staffed and the tri-partite agreement on the adoption of the masterplan for the de-
velopment of maternal and child health services in the project districts has been signed by the 
EA, the MOF, and relevant local governments. 
  
C. Accounting  

 
36. MOHSPP through PAG will maintain, or cause to be maintained, separate books and 
record by funding source for all expenses incurred on the project. MOHSPP through PAG will 
prepare consolidated project financial statements in accordance with the government’s ac-
counting laws and regulations which are consistent with international accounting principles and 
practices.  
 
37. The local legislation on accounting encourages institutions to use manuals and instruc-
tions on budgeting process, accounting policies and procedures issued by the MOF. As a re-
sult, the law on accounting and the instructions of the MOF on accounting, reporting, and 
budget formulation are main reference documents for accountants in the MOHSPP. Therefore 
a (complementary) Financial Procedures Manual shall be developed to cover the Project’s FM 
arrangements. The manual should, to the extent possible, be in compliance with procedures 
issued by the MOF for externally funded projects. In addition, the Manual will need to be trans-
lated into the Russian language to facilitate utilization by MOHSPP FM staff. 
 
38. For purposes of monitoring of project progress and financial performance, Interim Un-
audited Financial Reports (IFRs) shall be prepared under the proposed project. The MOHSPP 
will produce a full set of IFRs every quarter throughout the life of the project. The format of 
IFRs would be agreed with the ADB and should include: (a) Sources and Use of Funds by 
Project Activity, (b) Project Balance Sheet, (c) Advance Account Statements, and (d) SOE and 
Withdrawal Schedule. These financial reports shall be submitted to the ADB within 45 days of 
the end of each quarter. The first quarterly IFR would be submitted after the end of the first full 
quarter following the initial disbursement. 
 
39. Although the accounting department uses an automated payment system provided by 
the Treasury of MOF this system has limitations specifically with regard to reporting on Project 
related expenditures, because the system treats external funding under one category only with 
no possibilities to monitor various expenditure categories or to create vendors. Therefore, it is 
recommended to procure a modern double-entry financial management information system 
(FMIS) to ensure quality and reliability of the accounting and reporting system used for the 
Project. Almost all projects funded by WB use the 1C accounting software that has a capacity 
to produce interim financial reports in any format agreed with the ADB.  

D. Auditing and Public Disclosure 

40. The MOHSPP will cause the detailed consolidated project financial statements to be 
audited in accordance with International Standards on Auditing or equivalent national stand-
ards adopted by the government by an independent auditor acceptable to ADB. The audited 
project financial statements together with the auditor’s opinion will be presented in the English 
language to ADB within 6 months from the end of the fiscal year by MOHSPP through PAG.  

                                                
22  The CPD facilitates online submission of WA to ADB, resulting in faster disbursement. The forms to be com-

pleted by the government are available online at https://www/adb.org/documents/client-portal-disbursements-
guide.  

https://www/adb.org/documents/client-portal-disbursements-guide
https://www/adb.org/documents/client-portal-disbursements-guide


27 

 

 
41. The audit report for the project financial statements will include a management letter 
and auditor’s opinions, which cover (i) whether the project financial statements present an 
accurate and fair view or are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting standards; (ii) whether the proceeds of the grant were used only 
for the purpose of the project; and (iii) whether the government was in compliance with financial 
covenants contained in the legal agreements (where applicable).  
 
42. Compliance with financial reporting and auditing requirements will be monitored by re-
view missions and during normal program supervision, and followed up regularly with all con-
cerned, including the external auditor.  
 
43. The government, MOHSSP and PAG have been made aware of ADB’s approach to 
delayed submission, and the requirements for satisfactory and acceptable quality of the au-
dited project financial statements. ADB reserves the right to require a chance in the auditor (in 
a manner consistent with the constitution of the government), or for additional support to be 
provided to the auditor, if the audits required are not conducted in a manner satisfactory to 
ADB, or if the audits are substantially delayed. ADB reserves the right to verify the project’s 
financial accounts to confirm that the share of ADB’s financing is used in accordance with 
ADB’s policies and procedures.  
 
44. The MCHIC Project will be audited by an external auditor. Projects funded by the WB 
have been audited by eligible audit firms under a block audit arrangement, and the same 
should be adopted for the MCHIC Project. The project audit report for Calendar Year (CY) 
2017 under projects funded by the World Bank and implemented by the MOHSPP was pub-
lished in June 2018. The auditor, Baker Tilly Romania, has issued an unmodified (clean) opin-
ion on the project financial statements23. The auditor did not raise any significant finance re-
lated issue in the management letter. 
 
45. The audit of the MCHIC Project shall be conducted (i) on an annual basis; (ii) by inde-
pendent auditors and based on TOR acceptable to the ADB; and (iii) according to the Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing (ISA) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Stand-
ards Board of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Table 14 summarizes the 
audit requirement of the project. 
 

Table 14: Audit Requirements 
Audit Report Due Date 

Continuing Entity Financial Statements. N/A 

Project financial statements (PFS). The PFS includes Project Balance Sheet, 
Sources and Uses of Funds, Uses of Funds by Project Activity, statement of 
expenditure (SOE) Withdrawal Schedule, Advance Account Statement, and 
Notes to the financial statements, and Reconciliation Statement.  

Within six months of the end of 
each fiscal year (i.e., by Decem-
ber 31) and at the closing of the 
project. 

 
46.  Public disclosure of the audited project financial statements, including the auditor’s 
opinion on the project financial statements, will be guided by ADB’s Public Communications 
Policy 2011. After the review, ADB will disclose the audited project financial statements and 
the opinion of the auditors on the project financial statements no later than 14 days of ADB’s 
confirmation of their acceptability by posting them on ADB’s website. The management letter, 
additional auditor’s opinions, and audited entity financial statements will not be disclosed. 
 
 

                                                
23  http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/556031530867752918/Tajikistan-Health-Services-Improvement-

Project-Audit-report-for-the-year-ended-December-31-2017 
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VI. PROCUREMENT AND CONSULTING SERVICES 

A. Advance Contracting and Retroactive Financing 

47. All advance contracting and retroactive financing will be undertaken in conformity with 
the Procurement Regulations for ADB Borrowers: Goods, Works, Non-consulting and Consult-
ing Services (2017, as amended from time to time) and ADB Procurement Policy - Goods, 
Works, Non-consulting and Consulting Services (2017, as amended from time to time). The 
issuance of invitations to bid under advance contracting and retroactive financing will be sub-
ject to ADB approval. MOHSPP has been advised that approval of advance contracting and 
retroactive financing does not commit ADB to finance the project.   
 
48. Advance Contracting. Advance contracting will be undertaken for the following pack-
ages: (i) the recruitment of PAG manager and key technical staff; (ii) procurement of PAG 
office furniture, office equipment and vehicles; (iii) recruitment of project implementation sup-
port firm; (iv) recruitment of 2 individual consultants for financial management and integrated 
care; (v) recruitment of design and civil works supervision firm; and (vi) recruitment of UNICEF.   
 
49. Retroactive financing: To ensure effective implementation of the project, retroactive 
financing will be applicable for (i) recruitment of key PAG staff; and (ii) recruitment of 2 individ-
ual consultants (Financial Management and Integrated Care). Retroactive financing will only 
be up to 20% of the grant amount and only those eligible expenditures that are incurred prior 
to grant effectiveness but not earlier than 12 months before the grant agreement is signed.  

B. Procurement of Goods, Works, and Consulting Services 

50. All procurement of goods, works, non-consulting and consulting services will be under-
taken in accordance with ADB Procurement Policy (2017, as amended from time to time) and 
Procurement Regulations for ADB Borrowers (2017, as amended from time to time). ADB will 
allow advance contracting.  
 
51. The project will construct/renovate district hospitals and district health centers. The pro-
ject will provide various medical equipment, IT equipment and other related accessories to the 
Hospitals and district PHC clinics to cost more than $100,000, using Open competitive bidding 
(OCB) procedures. Office equipment, furniture and vehicle for the use of the project PAG staff 
to cost less than $100,000, the Request for quotations (RFQ) will be used for the procurement 
of off-the-shelf equipment. Direct contracting is considered for the recruitment of UNICEF, sub-
ject to approval of ADB.24 
 
52. An 18-month procurement plan indicating bidding and review procedures, goods, 
works, and consulting service contract package is in Section C.  The terms of reference for all 
consulting services are detailed in Section D. 
 
53. The project requires an estimated (i) 1,071-person months national individual consult-
ants (including PAG staff); (ii) 6 person-months international and 5 person months national 
individual consultants; (iii) 461 person-months for project consulting firms (of which 79 person 
months international and 323 national consultants); (iv) 12 person-months audit firm; and (v) 
324 person-months for UNICEF. 

 
 
 

                                                
24 Justification for direct contracting of UNICEF is provided in the RRP. 
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C. Procurement Plan 

Basic Data 

 Project Name:   Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care  

 Project Number:   51010-002 Approval Number:     

 Country:   Tajikistan 
 

 

Executing Agency: Ministry of Health and Social Pro-
tection 

 

 Implementing Agency: 
N/A 

 

  

 Project Financing Amount:   US$ 35,200,000 
ADB Financing:   US$ 32,000,000 
Cofinancing (ADB Administered):   
Non-ADB Financing:   US$ 3,200,000 

Project Closing Date: 31 August 2025  

 Date of First Procurement Plan:   18 September 
2018  

Date of this Procurement Plan:  28 September 2018 
 

 

 Procurement Plan Duration (in months): 18 Advance Contracting: 
 Yes 

e-GP:  
No 

 

 
1.  Methods, Review and Procurement Plan 

 
54. Except as the Asian Development Bank (ADB) may otherwise agree, the following 
methods shall apply to procurement of goods, works, and consulting services.  

 
Procurement of Goods and Works 

Method Comments 
 Open Competitive Bidding (OCB) for Goods International advertisement:  $2,000,000 and above;  

 
National advertisement: Between $100,001 and $1,999,999. 
 
All contracts OCB Goods (International and National) will be re-
viewed using prior review procedure.   

 Request for Quotation for Goods Up to $100,000; Prior review.   
 Open Competitive Bidding (OCB) for Works International advertisement: $3,000,000 and above. 

 
National Advertisement: Between $100,001 and $2,999,999. 
 
All contracts OCB Works (International and National) works will be 
reviewed using prior review procedure.   

 
 

Consulting Services 
Method Comments 

 Fixed Budget Selection for Consulting Firm Pilot Case-based Financing Firm   
 Least-Cost Selection for Consulting Firm Audit Firm   
 Quality- and Cost-Based Selection for Consult-
ing Firm 

Using 80:20 ratio. 
 
Project Implementation and Monitoring and Evaluation Support 
Firm; Design and Supervision of Civil Works and Equipment 
Firm 
   

 Direct Contracting for Consulting Firm  Integrated Maternal and Child Health Behavior Change Com-
munication Firm 

 Competitive for Individual Consultant Individual Consulting Recruitment 
 
Financial Management Consultant; Integrated Care Consultant; 
Project Administration Group staff   
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2.  Lists of Active Procurement Packages (Contracts) 

55. The following table lists goods, works, and consulting services contracts for which the 
procurement activity is either ongoing or expected to commence within the procurement plan 
duration.  
 

Works and Goods 

Package 
Number 

General 
Descrip-

tion 

Estimated 
Value (in 

US$) 

Procure-
ment 

Method 
Review 

Bidding 
Proce-
dure 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 
Comments 

G01 Office 
Equipment 
for the 
Project 
Admin-
istration 
Group 
(PAG) 
 

36,750.00 
 
 

RFQ Prior   Q4 / 2018 No. Of Contracts: 1 
 

Comments: At least 
3 quotations; In-
cluding accounting 
software; Advance 
action: Yes; Retro-
active financing: 
No; National sup-
plier  

G02 Office Fur-
niture for 
the PAG 
 
 

17,700.00 
 
 

RFQ Prior   Q4 / 2018 No. Of Contracts: 1 
 

Comments: At least 
3 quotations; Ad-
vance action: Yes; 
Retroactive financ-
ing: No; National 
supplier  
 

G03 Vehicles 
(2 units) 
 
 

105,000.00 
 
 

OCB Prior   Q4 / 2018   Advertising: Na-
tional 

 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of 
Bidders: No 
 
Domestic Prefer-
ence Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 

G04 Medical 
Bags for 
General 
Practition-
ers and 
Nurses 
 
 

473,445.00 
 
 

OCB Prior  1S1E Q2 / 2019 Advertising: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of 
Bidders: No 
 
Domestic Prefer-
ence Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 

 
Comments: Medical 
bags for general 
practitioners; ma-
ternity kits for mid-
wives  
 

G05 Infor-
mation 
and 

108,000.00 
 
 

OCB Prior  1S1E Q1 / 2020 Advertising: Na-
tional 
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Communi-
cations 
Technol-
ogy Equip-
ment for 
Case-
based Fi-
nancing 
 

 
No. Of Contracts:1 
 
Prequalification of 
Bidders: No 
 
Domestic Prefer-
ence Applicable: 
No 

 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 

OCB = open competitive bidding, RFQ = request of quotation, 1S2E: 1 stage 2 envelope, Q = quarter, SBD = ADB 

Standard Bidding Documents June 2018.  

 

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General De-
scription 

Estimated 
Value (in US$) 

Selection 
Method 

Review 
Type of 

Proposal 

Advertise-
ment 

Date (quar-
ter/year) 

Comments 

CS01 Project Ad-
ministration 
Group Staff 

1,310,311.00 Competitive Prior   
 

Q4 / 2018 Type: Individual 
 
Assignment: Na-
tional 
 
Expertise: Project 
Management 
 
Comments: Indi-
vidual Consulting 
Recruitment; 18 
staff members; 
Advance action: 
yes; Retroactive fi-
nancing: Yes   

CS02 Project Im-
plementation 
and Monitor-
ing and Eval-
uation Sup-
port Firm 

901,980.00 QCBS Prior  STP 
 

Q4 / 2018 Type: Firm 
 
Assignment: Inter-
national 

 
Quality-Cost Ra-
tio: 90:10 

 
Comments: Per-
son-months: 24; 
International ad-
vertisement; Ad-
vance Action: Yes; 
Retroactive financ-
ing: No   

CS03 Financial 
Management 
Consultant 

15,300.00 Competitive Prior   
 

Q4 / 2018 Type: Individual 
 
Assignment: Na-
tional 
 
Expertise: Finan-
cial Management 

 
Comments: Indi-
vidual Consulting 
Recruitment; Per-
son-months: 6; 
Advance action: 
Yes; Retroactive 
financing: Yes   

CS04 Integrated 155,250.00 Competitive Prior   Q4 / 2018 Type: Individual 
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Care Con-
sultant 

  
Assignment: Inter-
national 
 
Expertise: Mother 
and child health 
integrated care 

 
Comments: Indi-
vidual Consulting 
Recruitment; Per-
son-months: 6; 
Advance Action: 
Yes; Retroactive 
Financing: Yes   

CS05 Design and 
Supervision 
of Civil 
Works and 
Equipment 
Firm 

2,193,763.00 QCBS Prior  FTP 
 

Q4 / 2018 Type: Firm 
 
Assignment: Inter-
national 

 
Quality-Cost Ra-
tio: 90:10 

 
Comments: Per-
son-months: 355 
(International, 50 
person-months; 
National, 305 per-
son-months; Inter-
national Advertise-
ment; Advance 
Action: Yes; Ret-
roactive Financ-
ing: No   

CS06 Integrated 
Maternal and 
Child Health 
Behavior 
Change 
Communica-
tion Firm 

$3,500,000 Direct  
Contracting 

Prior FTP Q1 2019 Type: Firm 
 
Assignment:  
International 
 
Advance Contract-
ing: Yes 
 
Comments: 
Person-months: 
324; 
Advance action: 
Yes; 
Retroactive financ-
ing: No  
 

CS07 Pilot Case-
based Fi-
nancing Firm 

463,386.00 FBS Prior  BTP 
 

Q3 / 2019 Type: Firm 
 
Assignment: Inter-
national 
 
Comments: Per-
son-months: 52 
(International, 20 
person-months; 
National, 32 per-
son-months); In-
ternational Adver-
tisement; Advance 
Action: No   

CS08 Audit Firms 
(3 years x 2 
packages) 

70,800.00 LCS Prior  BTP 
 

Q4 / 2019 Type: Firm 
 
Assignment: 
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National 
 

Comments: Per-
son-months: 6 x 2 
packages; Na-
tional assignment; 
Advance action: 
No   

        

BTP = biodata technical proposal, CS = consulting services, FBS = Fixed-budget selection, FTP = full technical 
proposal, ICR = individual consultant recruitment, PAG = project administration group, Q = quarter, QCBS = Quality 
Cost-Based Selection, STP = simplified technical proposal. 

 
a. List of Indicative Packages (Contracts) Required Under the Project 

 
56. The following table lists goods, works, and consulting services contracts for which pro-
curement activity is expected to commence beyond the procurement plan duration and over 
the life of the project (i.e., those expected beyond the current procurement plan duration). 
 

Goods and Works  

Package 
Number 

General 
Descrip-

tion 

Estimated 
Value (in US$) 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
Bidding 

Procedure 
Comments 

     CW01 Civil 
Works in 
Rasht Dis-
trict 

4,996,000.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Small Works 

 
Comments: Advertise-
ment in Q2 2020; Con-
struction and Rehabili-
tation of Central Dis-
trict Hospital and Sew-
age Water Supply; Re-
habilitation of CHC and 
Sewage Water Supply; 
Construction of Diag-
nostic and Treatment 
Centre Block, Antepar-
tum Dormitory 
 

     CW02 Civil 
Works in 
Fayzobod 
District 

4,741,000.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Small Works 
 
Comments: 
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Advertisement-Q2 
2020; Construction Re-
habilitation Works-Re-
habilitation Hospital-
Osbstetrics and Gyne-
cology;Rehabilitation 
Hospital-Pediatrics and 
Sewage Water Sup-
ply;Construction of Di-
agnostics and Treat-
ment Block 
 

     CW03 Civil 
Works in 
Shohin 
District 

2,977,000.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Small Works 
 
Comments: Advertise-
ment in Q2 2020; Con-
struction Rehabilitation 
Works: Construction of 
CDH and Sewage Wa-
ter Supply 
 

     G06 Medical 
and Mis-
cellane-
ous La-
boratory 
Equip-
ment for 
Health Fa-
cilities in 
Rasht, 
Fayzobod, 
and 
Shohin 
districts 

5,386,235.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: In-
ternational 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 
 
Comments: Advertise-
ment in Q1 2022 
 

     G07 Furniture 
for Health 
Facilities 
in Rasht, 
Fayzobod, 
and 
Shohin 
districts 

519,410.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 
 
Comments: Advertise-
ment in Q2 2022 
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     G08 ICT for 
Health Fa-
cilities in 
Rasht, 
Fayzobod, 
and 
Shohin 
districts 

161,959.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 
 
Comments: Advertise-
ment in Q3 2023 

     G09 Construc-
tion Moni-
toring 
System (3 
Construc-
tion Sites) 

315,000.00 OCB Prior 1S1E Advertising Type: Na-
tional 
 
No. Of Contracts: 1 
 
Prequalification of Bid-
ders: No 
 
Domestic Preference 
Applicable: No 
 
Bidding Document: 
Goods 

 
Comments: Advertise-
ment in Q3 2020 

       

DHC = district health center; CDH = central district hospital, SWS = Sewage - Water Supply, D & T = diagnostic 

and treatment center; OB/GYN = obstetrics and gynecology, ICT = information and communication technology, 

OCB = open competitive bidding, RFP = request for quotation (Shopping), 1S1E= 1 Stage 1 Envelope, 1S2E = 1 

Stage 2 Envelope, Q = quarter, SBD: ADB Standard Bidding Document.  

 

b. Indicative List of Packages Required Under the Project 
Consulting Services        

Package 

Number 

General 

Description 

Estimated  

Value  

(cumulative) 

Estimated  

Number of  

Contracts 

Recruit-

ment 

Method  

Review  

(Prior/Post) 

Type of 

Pro-

posal 

Comments 

None        

 
c. List of Awarded and On-going, and Completed Contracts 

57. The following tables list the awarded and on-going contracts and completed con-
tracts. 

 
Awarded and Ongoing Contracts: None 

Goods and Works      

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

Awarded 
Contract 
Value 

Procurement 
Method 

Advertise-
ment 

Date 
(quarter/year) 

Date of 
ADB 
Approval 
of 
Contract 
Award 

Com-

ments 

None        

 

 
Consulting Services  
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Package 
Number 

General 
Descrip-

tion 

Estimated 
Value 

Awarded   
Contract 
Value 

Recruitment 
Method 

Advertisement 
Date  
(quarter/year) 

Date of ADB  
Approval of  
Contract  
Award 

Com-
ments 

None        

 
d. Non-ADB Financing 
 

58. The following table lists goods, works and consulting services contracts over the life 
of the project, financed by Non-ADB sources.  

None.  

3. Open Competitive Bidding 

a.     General 

59. The procurement and recruitment will follow:  

• The ADB Procurement Policy for Goods, Works, Non-consulting and Consulting Ser-
vices –Jul 201725 

 Procurement Regulations for ADB Borrowers (“Regulations”) for Goods, Works, Non-
consulting and Consulting Services – Jul 201726  

 Open Competitive Bidding Guidance Note on Procurement - June 201827  

 The Consulting Services administered by ADB Borrowers Guidance Note on Pro-
curement – June 201828 

60. The EA will only use the last ADB Standard Bidding Documents English for Open Com-
petitive Bidding and eventually the Russian version for OCB National if necessary, if the Tajik 
version has not yet been adapted according to those new ADB regulations.  

• Prequalification: https://www.adb.org/documents/prequalification-bidders-us-
ers-guide  

• Goods: Guidelines: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-
goods-guide.pdf ; SBD:  1S-1E https://www.adb.org/sites/de-
fault/files/sbd-goods-1s1e-201806.zip ;1S-2E https://www.adb.org/sites/de-
fault/files/sbd-goods-1s2e-201806.zip   

• Works – Large; Guidelines: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procure-
ment-large-works-guide.pdf; SDB Works following pre-qualification: 
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-preq-201806.zip  

SDB Works without pre-qualification:https://www.adb.org/sites/de-
fault/files/works-large-contracts-postq-201806.zip;  

                                                
25 https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/adb-procurement-policy.pdf  
26 https://www.adb.org/documents/procurement-regulations-adb-borrowers  
27 https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/open-competitive-bidding.pdf  
28 https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/consulting-services.pdf and for information https://www.adb.org/sites/de-

fault/files/framework-agreements-consulting.pdf  

https://www.adb.org/documents/prequalification-bidders-users-guide
https://www.adb.org/documents/prequalification-bidders-users-guide
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-goods-guide.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-goods-guide.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/sbd-goods-1s1e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/sbd-goods-1s1e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/sbd-goods-1s2e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/sbd-goods-1s2e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-large-works-guide.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-large-works-guide.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-preq-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-postq-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-postq-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/adb-procurement-policy.pdf
https://www.adb.org/documents/procurement-regulations-adb-borrowers
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/open-competitive-bidding.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/consulting-services.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/framework-agreements-consulting.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/framework-agreements-consulting.pdf
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SDB 1S-2E https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-1s2e-
201806.zip  

• Works – Small; Guidelines: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procure-
ment-small-works-guide.pdf ; SDB: 1S-1E https://www.adb.org/sites/de-
fault/files/works-small-1s1e-201806.zip ;1S-2E https://www.adb.org/sites/de-
fault/files/works-small-1s2e-201806.zip  

• Consulting Services Guidelines: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/selec-
tion-consulting-services.pdf  

b. Eligibility 

61. The eligibility of bidders shall be as defined under section I of ADB's Procurement Reg-
ulations for ADB Borrowers (April 2017), as amended from time to time; accordingly, no bidder 
or potential bidder should be declared ineligible to ADB-financed contracts for other reasons 
than the ones provided by section I of ADB’s Guidelines. Bidders must be nationals of member 
countries of ADB, and offered goods, works and services must be produced in and supplied 
from member countries of ADB. 

c. Prequalification 

62. Normally, post-qualification shall be used unless explicitly provided for in the grant 
agreement/procurement plan. Irrespective of whether post qualification or prequalification is 
used, eligible bidders (both national and foreign) shall be allowed to participate. 

d. Bidding Period 

63. The minimum bidding period is at least 42 (forty-two) days prior to the deadline for the 
submission of bids for the OCB and RFP, and 15 (fifteen) days for the RFQ. 

e. Bidding Documents 

64. Procuring entities should use standard bidding documents for the procurement of 
goods, works and services acceptable to ADB, as mentioned at E.1 General.  

f. Preferences 

65. No domestic preference shall be given for domestic bidders and for domestically man-
ufactured goods. 

g. Advertising 

66. Invitations to bid shall be advertised in at least one widely circulated national daily 
newspaper or freely accessible, nationally-known website allowing a minimum of forty-two (42) 

days for the preparation and submission of bids. Bidding of OCB International, contracts esti-
mated at US$2,000,000 equivalent or more for goods and related services or US$3,000,000 
equivalent or more for civil works shall be advertised on ADB’s website via the posting of the 
Procurement Plan. 

h. Bid Security 

67. Where required, bid security shall be in the form of a bank guarantee from a reputable 
bank. 

https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-1s2e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-large-contracts-1s2e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-small-works-guide.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/procurement-small-works-guide.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-small-1s1e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-small-1s1e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-small-1s2e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/works-small-1s2e-201806.zip
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/selection-consulting-services.pdf
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/selection-consulting-services.pdf
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i. Bid Opening and Bid Evaluation 

(i) Bids shall be opened in public 15 minutes after the bid submission deadline. 

(ii) Evaluation of bids shall be made in strict adherence to the criteria declared in 
the bidding documents and contracts shall be awarded to the lowest evaluated 
bidder. 

(iii) Bidders shall not be eliminated from detailed evaluation on the basis of minor, 
non-substantial deviations. 

(iv) No bidder shall be rejected on the basis of a comparison with the employer's 
estimate and budget ceiling without ADB’s prior concurrence. 

(v) A contract shall be awarded to the technically responsive bidder that offers the 
lowest evaluated price and who meets the qualifying requirements set out in the 
bidding documents. 

(vi) No negotiations of item price shall be permitted. 

j. Rejection of All Bids and Rebidding 

68. Bids shall not be rejected, and new bids solicited without ADB’s prior concurrence. 

k. Participation by Government-owned enterprises 

69. Government-owned enterprises in the Republic of Tajikistan shall be eligible to partici-
pate as bidders only if they can establish that they are legally and financially autonomous, 
operate under commercial law and are not a dependent agency of the contracting authority. 
Furthermore, they will be subject to the same bid and performance security requirements as 
other bidders. 

l. Right to Inspect/Audit 

70. A provision shall be included in all OCB works and goods contracts financed by ADB 
requiring suppliers and contractors to permit ADB to inspect their accounts and records and 
other documents relating to the bid submission and the performance of the contract, and to 
have them audited by auditors appointed by ADB. 

m. Fraud and corruption 

71. The Borrower shall reject a proposal for award if it determines that the bidder recom-
mended for award has, directly or through an agent, engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, 
or coercive practices in competing for the contract in question. 
 
72. ADB will declare a firm or individual ineligible, either indefinitely or for a stated period, 
to be awarded a contract financed by ADB, if it at any time determines that the firm or individual 
has, directly or through an agent, engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, coercive or ob-
structive practices in competing for, or in executing, an ADB-financed contract. 

D. Consultant’s Terms of Reference 

73. Terms of reference for the PAG staff are included in Attachment 1 and Terms of Ref-
erence for other consultants are shown in Attachment 3 of the PAM.  

VII. SAFEGUARDS 
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74. In compliance with ADB’s Safeguard Policy Statement (SPS) 2009, the project’s safe-
guard categories are as follows: 
 
75. Environmental Category and Environmental Assessment. The project is classified 
B for environment. Potential negative environmental impacts are largely related to construction 
activities under Output 2. Impacts from the Project are expected to be mostly related to con-
struction work and can be mitigated. The identified impacts during construction phase include 
dust, solid waste, and occupational and community health risks for reconstruction activities, in 
particular removal, handling and disposal of old asbestos sheeting, dust and solid waste for 
small-scale construction activities outside buildings (for example building septic tanks, and re-
pairing water supply and canalization systems), solid waste for replacement of old equipment. 
Impacts during operation are also expected, mainly with regards hospital waste storage and 
disposal. The EMP provides mitigation measures and monitoring requirements and will be in-
cluded as an appendix in all bidding and contract documents. A site-specific EMP will be pre-
pared by the contractor at pre-construction phase and approved by the IA. The IEE provides 
guidance for the Medical Waste Management Plan to be prepared by the contractor. PAG will 
be responsible for EMP implementation and will ensure that EMP will be adequately included 
in bidding documents and all environmental mitigation measures will be included in construc-
tion contracts. PAG and supervision consultant will be responsible to ensure the Contractor 
prepares SEMPs and PAG will approve all SEMPs before start of any construction works. 
Monitoring of environmental quality and the implementation of mitigation measures will be per-
formed by the PAG, with support from the supervision consultant as required, with sufficient 
TORs and staff-time for this task. The monitoring results will be included in the project quarterly 
progress reports and semi-annual environmental reports to be submitted to ADB. PAG will be 
responsible for establishing and implementing the Grievance Redress Mechanism (GRM) in 
accordance with the IEE/ EMP and ensure the contractor follows the procedures. The cost for 
implementing EMP will be financed by the grant, specifically the costs of mitigation measures 
will be included in the construction contracts, and the cost for supporting environmental moni-
toring will be included in the consulting service of the supervision consultant. Mitigation 
measures and a monitoring plan have been developed and incorporated into the EMP, which 
form the basis for the SEMP.PAG will promptly inform ADB of the occurrence of any risks or 
impacts, with detailed description of the event and proposed corrective action plan if any un-
anticipated environmental and/or social risks and impacts arise during construction, implemen-
tation or operation of the Project that were not considered in the initial environmental exami-
nation.  
 
76. The construction contractors will be responsible for implementation on the EMP. The 
contractor shall develop procedures for emergency response, sound construction manage-
ment program, implement occupational and community safety programs, develop site specific 
EMP (Contractor's Environmental Management Plan) based on the EMP prior to the com-
mencement of civil works construction activities. The contract should specify that the contractor 
should report monthly on the implementation of the Contractor's Environmental Management 
Plan.  The PAG will have the overall responsibility for supervising contractor’s environmental 
performance, coordinating the public consultations and project Grievance Redress Mechanism 
(GRM), and reporting to ADB through the periodic project progress reports and annual envi-
ronment monitoring reports. The PAG will assign an Environmental and Social Safeguards 
Specialist (ESS) to supervise the implementation of the EMP. Among responsibilities of the 
ESS are: (i) reviewing and approval site-specific EMPs, (ii) monitoring of EMPs implementa-
tion, (iii) establishing the GRM, (iv) organizing of training in environmental management, and 
(v) updating the IEE (if necessary). 
 
77. Public consultation was conducted during the project design and will continue through-
out project implementation. Regular Public consultations during the construction and operation 
period are required to be conducted by PAG and Design and Supervision environment con-
sultants. Any environmental grievances will be handled in accordance with the grievance 
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redress mechanism established for the project. According to EMP, a national and a project-
specific GRM will be established to receive and manage any community concerns which may 
arise due to the project. The PAG, working through the Environment and social safeguards 
staff will have final responsibility for management, implementation and reporting of the GRM. 
 
78. The Budget for EMP mitigation, environment training, update of EMP, environment su-
pervision, environment monitoring of environment parameters during construction and opera-
tions, public consultations during construction and operations until Project Completion Report 
(PCR) is approximately about USD 300,000 of the total project cost. Some of these costs for 
environment management are already included in the project costs (Works, PAG and Consult-
ing Services). If there are any changes in Project scope or unanticipated environmental and/or 
social risks and impacts that arise during construction, implementation or operation of the pro-
ject that were not considered in the IEE and the EMP, the PAG should promptly inform ADB. 
The PAG shall (i) assess the significance of any unanticipated impacts; (ii) evaluate the options 
available to address them; and (iii) prepare or update the IEE and EMP to incorporate these 
impacts. 
 
79. Involuntary resettlement.  The involuntary resettlement category is C. Social safe-
guards due diligence confirmed that the project activities will neither require land acquisition 
nor resettlement. Construction and rehabilitation of district hospitals and district health centers 
will take place within the existing land. If any changes or additional land requirements or invol-
untary resettlement impacts are identified during the project implementation stage, a resettle-
ment plan will be prepared in accordance with the ADB SPS (2009) and national requirements. 
The resettlement plan needs to be fully implemented before any works start at the impact sites.  
 
80. Indigenous Peoples.  The indigenous people’s category is C. There are no indigenous 
peoples, as defined in the ADB SPS (2009), in the project area, and thus the project is classi-
fied as category C for indigenous peoples impacts.   
 
81. The Grievance Mechanism during the Implementation Phase. Complaints and 
grievances received during the construction work addressed through the following steps and 
actions.  

• Step 1: Complaints will be lodged at the district level where the responsible and Hukumat 
officers, as well as representatives of the affected person, will attempt to resolve the issue. 
Each complaint will be registered, signed by the affected person and a representative of 
the Local Grievance Redress Committee. The period fixed for resolution of complaints is 
14 calendar days.  

• Step 2: If a grievance is not resolved during a 14-day period, the affected person (or her/his 
representative, if chosen) may lodge the complaint to the National Grievance Redress 
Committee at the MOHSPP/PAG. The National GRC has an obligation to attempt to re-
solve the issue within 14 calendar days. 

• Step 3: DPs have right to appeal to the court of law at any time if they wish to do so. 

82. Establishment of National Grievances Redress Committee (NGRC).  The National 
Grievance Redress Committee will register and follow up on any issues and/or complaints 
directly raised by any individual or community members in a group or via LGRC. The NGRC 
consists of representatives of the MOHSPP, PAG project coordinator and social and environ-
mental safeguards staff, the local Hukumat representative, and appropriate local NGOs to al-
low voices of the affected communities to be heard and to ensure a participatory decision-
making process. The NGRC decisions will be made by majority of members and will be publi-
cized among the local communities and directly to the complainant(s). If the complainants are 
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not satisfied with the National GRC decisions, they can always file their cases with ADB AM or 
in court. 
 
83. The MOHSPP/PAG will maintain the complaint register. This will include a record of all 
complaints for regular monitoring of grievances and results of services performed by the GRCs 
for periodic review by the ADB.  
 
84. Establishment of Local Grievance Redress Committee (LGRC). The LGRC will be 
established in each district at the Hukumat level. They will register and follow up on any issues 
and/or complaints raised by any individual or community members in a group at the local level. 
They will be established by the Head of Hukumat Resolution and will include the following 
professionals needed to solve specific cases: 
 

• Deputy Head of Hukumat 
• Head of Shahrak jamoat 
• District land management and geodesy department representative 
• District architecture department representative  
• District environment and forestry representative 
• Head of housing and communal services enterprise 
• A professional engineer 
• Community leaders and NGO leaders 
• Other specialized organizations as necessary 

 
85. One of the above-mentioned professionals will be selected to serve as the LGRC sec-
retary to register complaints in the database, to convene LGRC meetings, to process relevant 
paper work, keep records and to share summary of complaints with NGRC on monthly basis. 
 

Figure 5: Grievance Redress Process 

Source: ADB. TRTA Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care Project, August 2018 

 
86. GRM proceedings may need one or more meetings for each complaint and may require 
field investigations by specific technical or valuation experts. Grievance cases shared by more 
than one complainant may be held together as a single case.  
 



42 

 

87. For appeals lodged directly to the MOHSSP , the National GRC at PAG will review the 
case together with the respective Local GRC at Hukumat level and attempt to find a resolution 
together with the aggrieved person. The GRC decisions will be made by majority of members 
and will be publicized among the local communities and directly to the complainant(s). If the 
complainants are not satisfied with the National GRC decisions, they can always file their cases 
in court. 
 
88. If DPs want to register a complaint with the ADB, the Focal Person will provide the 
complainants the following contact information:  

ADB National Social Safeguards Focal Point 

Resident Mission of Asian Development Bank in Republic of Tajikistan 

45 Sovetskaya Street, Dushanbe, Tajikistan 

Tel: 992 372 210558 

and/or 

ADB Special Project Facilitator 

Asian Development Bank 

Email: to be access from www.adb.org/site/accountability-mechanism/contacts 

Fax number: (63-2) 636-2490 

 

ADB Office of the Compliance Review Panel 

Asian Development Bank 

6 ADB Avenue, Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila, Philippines 

Tel. +63 2 632 4336, Fax + 63 2 636 2088, E-mail: crp@adb.org 

VIII. GENDER AND SOCIAL DIMENSIONS 

89. The project is classified as Gender Equity (GEN), as it directly addresses the problem 
of limited access to MCH health services. Specifically, the project targets the significant in-
crease in the number of women and children who seek health care services, and the timely 
and quality provision of antenatal, delivery, postnatal, and well-child care and services. The 
project will create/rehabilitate obstetrics and gynecological units in the district hospitals and 
equip them with the necessary medical facilities, as well as female- and child- friendly facilities, 
such as private examination rooms, sex-segregated toilets, and diaper changing facilities, 
among others.  
 
90.  The project will also enable the development of gender-sensitive referral protocols, as 
well as ensure the continuous training of professional MCH staff such as family doctors, nurses 
and midwives. Finally, the project will address the socio-cultural attitudes that keep the popu-
lation from seeking timely MCH services through a behavior change communication campaign, 
especially targeting women of reproductive age, husbands and mothers-in-law, as well as mid-
dle and high school students.  The Gender Action Plan (GAP) below outlines the gender equal-
ity interventions that will improve women’s access to quality health services. 
 

http://www.adb.org/site/accountability-mechanism/contacts
mailto:crp@adb.org
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Table 15:  Gender Action Plan 

Activities Indicators Responsibility Timeframe 

Outcome:  Coverage of women and children with quality MCH services in the project districts improved 

0.1 Monitor in-
stitutional/hospital 
deliveries and prena-
tal check-ups in the 
project areasa 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
0.2 Monitor in-
fant immunizations 
within the first year of 
birth 

0.1.1. At least 10% increase in institu-
tional/hospital deliveries in Rasht and 
Shamsiddin Shohin, and 3% in Fayzo-
bod (2016 baseline: Fayzobod 93%, 
Rasht 69%, Shamsiddin Shohin 62%)b 

 
0.1.2. At least 80% pregnant women in 
Rasht and Fayzobod, and 95% in 
Shamsiddin Shohin, went for their first 
antenatal consultation in the first tri-
mester of pregnancy. (2016 baseline: 
Fayzobod 77%, Rasht 71%, Shamsiddin 
Shohin 90%)b 
 
0.1.3. At least 15% increase in Rasht and 
Shamsiddin Shohin, and 5% increase in 
Fayzobod, in the number of pregnant 
women who have gone for at least 4 an-
tenatal consultations during their preg-
nancy (2016 baseline: Fayzobod 91%, 
Rasht 68%, Shamsiddin Shohin 71%) b 

 
0.1.4. At least 50% of deliveries in project 
hospitals with referral slips from PHC 
providers (2017 baseline: 0) 
 
0.2.1 Percentage of infants with 5 types 
of vaccinations by age 2 increased by 
10% (2017 baseline: 61.5% in DRS; 
83.7% in Khatlon) c 

PAG M&E Specialist; 
Gender specialist 

Q1–Q4 
2024 

Output 1: Integrated delivery of maternal and child care services in project districts improved 

1.1. Ensure the develop-
ment and dissemina-
tion of gender sensi-
tive referral protocols  

1.1.1 Gender sensitive referral proto-
cols developed and institutionalized in all 
target districts (2018 baseline: 0) 
 
1.1.2 At least 50% of MCH health work-
ers trained on gender sensitive referral 
protocols. (2018 baseline: 0) 
 

PAG, MOHSPP; Local 
Health Authorities; 
Health Facility Manage-
ment, PAG Gender spe-
cialist to provide gender 
inputs to developers of 
referral protocols;  

Q2 2020 
 
 
 
Q2 2020–  
Q4 2022 
 
 

1.2. Train health workers 
(doctors, nurses, 
midwives) on MCH 
integrated services. 

1.2.1 At least 50% of the MCH health 
workers in the project areas have up-
dated knowledge and skills on MCH in-
tegrated services (2018 baseline: 0) 
 
1.2.2 At least 60% of trainees are fe-
male (2018 baseline: 0) 

PAG; MOHSPP, 
Local Health Authori-
ties; 
Health Facility Manage-
ment 

Q1 2020–  
Q2 2023 

Output 2: Infrastructure and equipment for MCH services in project districts rationalized and im-
proved 

2.1 Install 
mother-, women-, 
children-, and PWD-
friendly facilities in 
district health cen-
ters and hospitalsb   

 

2.1.1 All district health centers and dis-
trict hospitals have mother-, women-, 
children-, and PWD-friendly infrastruc-
ture facilities. (2018 baseline: 0) 
 
 
 

PAG; MOHSPP 
 
 
 
 
PAG Gender Specialist 
to provide gender inputs 

Q4 2019–  
Q2 2024 
 
 
 
 
Baseline: 
Q4 2019; 
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2.2 Conduct the 
satisfaction survey 
on the health facili-
ties 

2.2.1 At least 50% of clients (sex-dis-
aggregated) are satisfied with MCH facil-
ities and services (2018 baseline: 0) 
 

in survey development; 
Survey firm 

End line:  
Q4 2023 

Output 3: Knowledge on maternal and child health and health seeking behaviors in project dis-
tricts improved 

3.1 Conduct 
gender-sensitive be-
havior change cam-
paigns on MCH 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.2 Conduct 
baseline and end-
line surveys on the 
youth’s and adults’ 
knowledge and atti-
tudes on MCH  

3.1.1 All BCC materials include gender-
sensitive messages (2018 baseline: 0) 
 
3.1.2 At least 50% of those reached by 
BCC activities are females (2018 base-
line: 0) 
 
3.1.3 BCC campaign includes one com-
ponent that focus on the roles of hus-
bands in their wives’ pregnancies, as 
well as their roles as fathers in caring for 
infants and children (2018 baseline: 0) 
 
3.1.4 At least 85% of pregnant women 
received MCH booklet (2017 baseline: 0) 
 
3.2.1 At least 60% of the population have 
improved their knowledge and attitudes 
towards MCH (2018 baseline: 0) 
 
 

PAG Gender Specialist; 
PAG Communications 
Specialist; MOHSPP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PAG M&E Specialist; 
Survey firm; PAG Gen-
der Specialist 

Q1 2020–  
Q3 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Baseline:  
Q4 2019 
End Line:  
Q4 2023 
 

Project Management 

4.1 Conduct gender ca-
pacity building train-
ings for MOHSP and 
PAG staff and key 
stakeholders 
 
 
 
 
 

4.2 Incorporate gender 
indicators in the pro-
ject monitoring infor-
mation system and 
ensure regular col-
lection of gender 
disaggregated data. 
 

4.3 Engage women as 
PAG staff 

4.1.1 All PAG staff increase their 
knowledge on gender mainstreaming in 
MCH 
(2018 baseline: 0) 
 
4.1.2 At 80% MOHSPP staff involved in 
the project have increased their 
knowledge in gender mainstreaming. 
(2018 baseline: 0) 
 
4.2.1 All project progress reports in-
clude progress of GAP implementation 
with sex disaggregated data. 
(2018 baseline: 0) 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.1 40% of PAG staff are female (2018 
baseline: 0) 

PAG; PAG Gender 
Specialist 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PAG M&E Specialist 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PAG Project director 

Q3 2019– 
Q2 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Develop-
ment of 
M&E Sys-
tem: 
Q3–Q4 
2019; Col-
lection of 
M&E sex-
disaggre-
gated data:  
 
 
Q1 2020– 
Q4 2024 
Q3 2019 

BCC = behavior change communication, DRS = districts of republican subordination, GAP = gender action plan; ICR= 
implementation completion report; MCH = maternal and child health; MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection 
of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan; M&E = monitoring & evaluation,  PAG = project administration group, PHC 
= primary health care; PWD = persons with disabilities. 
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a   The project areas include the mostly rural districts of Fayzabod and Rasht in the Districts of Republican Subordination 
(DRS) region and Shamsiddin Shohin in the Khatlon region. Unless otherwise stated, baselines refer to the three 
districts of Fayzobod, Rasht, and Shamsiddin Shohin. 

b   Latest available data is 2016.  More recent figure will be collected during baseline M&E survey in the first year 
of project implementation.  
C  Baseline refers to regional averages.  Actual data from the target districts may be lower.  The actual figure will    
be collected during baseline M&E survey in the first year of project implementation. 
d  Examples of women-, child-, and PWD-friendly facilities include breastfeeding and diaper-changing rooms, 
toilets with wheelchair access, separate toilets for women and men, private examination rooms for women. 
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IX. PERFORMANCE MONITORING, EVALUATION, REPORTING AND  
COMMUNICATION 

A. Project Design and Monitoring Framework 

Table 16:  Design and Monitoring Framework 
Impact the Project is Aligned with  
Health status and well-being of mothers and children in the project districts improved (Sustainable De-
velopment Goal 3)a  

Results Chain 
Performance Indicators with Targets 

and Baselines 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms 

Risks 

Outcome 
Coverage of 
women and chil-
dren with quality 
MCH services in 
the project districts 
improved 
 

By 2026: 
1. At least 10% increase in institu-
tional/hospital deliveries in Rasht and 
Sh. Shohin, and 3% in Fayzobod 
(2016 baseline: Rasht 69%, Shamsid-
din Shohin 62%, and Fayzobod 93%).  
 

 
1. MOHSPP, dis-
trict health infor-
mation system 
(annual) 
 

 
Economic downturn 
reduces households’ 
budget for health  
 
 

2.  At least 50% of deliveries in project 
hospitals with referral slips from pri-
mary health care providers (2017 
baseline: 0)b   
 

2.-3.  Baseline 
and end-line sur-
veys, MOHSPP 

3. Share of medically justified hospitali-
zationsc among children aged 0-5 
years increased by 10% (2017 base-
line: 0)b   

 

Output 1: 
Integrated delivery 
of quality maternal 
and child care ser-
vices in project 
districts improved  

By 2025:  
1a. At least 50% of MCH health work-
ers trained on gender sensitive referral 
protocols (2017 baseline: 0) b   

 
1a.-3a. Project 
report, MOHSPP 
(annual) 
 
 

 
 

1b. Health budgets for project districts 
retained and case-based payment sys-
tem piloted in at least two project hos-
pitals (2017 baseline: 0) b   

 

Output 2: 
Infrastructure and 
equipment for 
MCH services in 
project districts ra-
tionalized and im-
proved  
 
 

By 2025:  
2a. At least one district health center 
and central district hospital per project 
district upgraded (2017 baseline: 0)b   

 Exchange rate fluc-
tuations beyond pro-
ject projections may 
raise construction 
costs significantly 

2b. Equipment management system 
established (2017 baseline: 
0) 

 

Output 3: 
Knowledge of 
MCH and health 
seeking behaviors 
in project districts 
improved  
 

By 2025:  
3a District specific BCC strategy on 
MCH, targeting both women and men, 
developed and implemented in project 
catchment areas (2017 baseline: 0)b 

  
Behavior change is 
a complex outcome 
and may not materi-
alize as expected 
despite the many 
project activities in 
this area. 

3b. At least 85% of pregnant women 
received MCH booklet (2017 baseline: 
0) b 

3b. Baseline, 
midline, and end-
line surveys on 
knowledge, 
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Impact the Project is Aligned with  
Health status and well-being of mothers and children in the project districts improved (Sustainable De-
velopment Goal 3)a  

Results Chain 
Performance Indicators with Targets 

and Baselines 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms 

Risks 

attitudes and 
practices, 
MOHSPP 

Key Activities with Milestones: 

Output 1: Integrated delivery of quality maternal and child care services in project districts im-
proved  
1.1 Start recruiting a firm for integrated delivery of MCH and BCC by Q4 2018 
1.2 Develop district-specific health workforce training plan by Q4 2019 
1.3 The government approves health workforce planning and deployment strategy by Q4 2021 
1.4 Train health personnel in project districts on using referral pathways by Q4 2022 
1.5 Develop operational manual for continuous quality improvement by Q4 2020 
1.6 Train health facility management and staff in application of Continuous Quality Improvement ap-

proaches by Q4 2021 
1.7 Develop and approve design, methods, processes and tools of a supportive supervision system by 

Q3 2020 
1.8 Develop an operational manual for the supportive supervision system by Q4 2020 
1.9 Initiate supportive supervision in project districts by Q1 2021 
1.10 Develop infection control policy, facility specific plans and clinical practice guidelines by Q2 2022 
1.11 Develop national medical waste management policy by Q2 2022 
1.12 Develop and approve waste management operational manual and standard operating procedures 

by Q4 2022 
1.13 Develop and approve regulatory framework for piloting case-based financing by Q3 2020 
1.14 Develop case-based and referral information system by Q4 2020 
 
Output 2: Infrastructure and equipment for MCH services in project districts rationalized and im-
proved 
2.1 Issue the request for proposal of design and supervision consultants by Q4 2018 
2.2 Invite bids for works by Q2 2020 
2.3 Evaluate proposals and award contracts by Q3 and Q4 2020 
2.4 Start construction and rehabilitation of selected health facilities by Q1 2021 
2.5 Invite bids for furniture and equipment by Q4 2022  
2.6 Evaluate and award contracts for furniture and equipment by Q2 2022 
2.7 Deliver and install furniture and equipment by Q2 2023 
2.8 Complete rehabilitation and construction works by Q3 2023 
2.9 Conduct final acceptance and issue final payment for works by Q3 2024 and for equipment by Q2 

2025  
  
Output 3: Knowledge of MCH and health seeking behaviors in project districts improved 
3.1 Start of recruiting a firm for integrated delivery of MCH and BCC by Q4 2018 
3.2 Complete baseline assessment of population knowledge, attitude and practice in project pilot dis-

tricts by Q3 2020 
3.3 Develop district specific BCC strategy and implementation plan by Q1 2019 
3.4 Print BCC materials by Q3 2020 
3.5 Develop communication strategy and plan for effective stakeholder communication by Q2 2019 
3.6 Start implementation of BCC strategy by Q3 2020 
3.7 Implement communication strategy by Q1 2020 
3.8 Implement community small grants program by Q 3 2020 

 
Project Management Activities 
Start recruiting project administration group staff (17 staff) in Q4 2018 
Start recruiting financial management consultant and an integrated care consultant (individuals) in Q4 
2018 
Start tender for office furniture and equipment for the PAG and vehicles (2 units) in Q4 2018 
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Impact the Project is Aligned with  
Health status and well-being of mothers and children in the project districts improved (Sustainable De-
velopment Goal 3)a  

Results Chain 
Performance Indicators with Targets 

and Baselines 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms 

Risks 

Issue request for proposal of project implementation support firm by Q1 2019 

Inputs 
Asian Development Bank: $32 million (Asian Development Fund grant)  
Government of Tajikistan: $3.2 million   

Assumptions for Partner Financing:  
German development cooperation through KfW, case-based financing pilot and national medical equip-
ment maintenance concept implemented (10 million euros) 

BCC = behavior change communication; MCH = maternal and child health;  MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and So-
cial Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan;  

a Government of Tajikistan, 2017. National Development Strategy. Dushanbe. 
b The indicated baseline will be updated once baseline survey data are collected. 
c “Medically justified” hospitalization means that patients have a condition for which treatment can only be provided 

in a hospital setting.  Numerator is derived through criteria based audit of medical records, which will be obtained 
from baseline and end-line project surveys.  Denominator will be the total number of pediatric hospitalizations in a 
given facility during the reporting period that matches the baseline and end-line surveys.  

Source: Asian Development Bank. 

B. Monitoring 

91. Project Performance Monitoring. A project M&E operational manual (PMEOP) and 
project M&E implementation plan (PMEPIP) will be developed by the TRTA consultants and 
finalized before the grant effectiveness. The project will establish and complete within the first 
year of project commencement a comprehensive project performance monitoring system 
(PPMS) acceptable to ADB.  
 
92. A baseline study will be undertaken during the first year of the project to establish base-
line data for the targets and indicators. This will update the baseline data in the PAM. All data 
will be disaggregated by gender, age, rural/urban and social background where relevant.  
 
93. The Project will ensure that all required data submitted from the institutions to the PAG 
is using standardized formats, procedures, and data collection instruments to enable easy in-
tegration of data into the project progress reports. A user manual for data collection and pro-
cedures will be developed to support the process. In addition, training workshops and on-the 
job training support will be conducted to build the capacity of those persons responsible for 
project monitoring. 
 
94. The M&E officer within the PAG will take the lead in designing the PPMS, developing 
the manual and appropriate instruments and reporting structures as well as conducting staff 
training at all levels. This will be done in close collaboration with the project consultants, and 
participating institutions in order to ensure that existing structures and systems are utilized as 
much as possible. 
 
95. As a result of project monitoring activity, disaggregated baseline data for output and 
outcome indicators gathered during project processing will be updated and reported quarterly 
through the PAG quarterly progress reports and after each ADB review mission. These quar-
terly reports will provide information necessary to update ADB's project performance reporting 
system29. 
 

                                                
29 ADB's project performance reporting system is available at http://www.adb.org/Documents/Slideshows/PPMS/de-

fault.asp?p=evaltool  

http://www.adb.org/Documents/Slideshows/PPMS/default.asp?p=evaltool
http://www.adb.org/Documents/Slideshows/PPMS/default.asp?p=evaltool
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96. Compliance Monitoring. Implementation compliance monitoring will focus on moni-
toring compliance by implementers and service providers with respect to implementation 
guidelines, specifications, quantity and quality of goods and services delivered, work plans and 
budgets, and financial/accounting policies and procedures. This is the responsibility mainly of 
the PAG. Due to the importance and specific nature of environmental impact information, col-
lection of this data is the responsibility of the Environment and Safeguards Specialist of the 
PAG and will be performed in compliance with ADB regulations. All project grant covenants 
will be monitored regularly by the PAG and annually during ADB project review missions. 
 
97. Safeguards monitoring. During construction, contractors will conduct monthly internal 
environmental management monitoring and cooperate with the design and supervision envi-
ronmental consultants. Contractors will submit monthly site-specific EMP implementation re-
ports to the PAG. The EMP implementation coordination and verification for the construction 
and operation periods will be carried out routinely by the PAG (semi-annual during construction 
period and annually during operations). Environmental Monitoring Reports (EMR) template 
attached as Attachment 3) will be prepared and submitted to ADB by the PAG within one month 
of the end of each period covered. The EMR will include a review of progress made on the 
implementation of the EMP, problems encountered, and remedial measures taken. Periodic 
project progress reports will include a section on environmental and social aspects of the pro-
ject. 
 
98. Gender and social dimensions monitoring. The Project MIS/M&E system will in-
clude social and gender indicators that will be regularly updated with gender-disaggregated 
data. The PAG, specifically the M&E Specialist in coordination with the Gender Specialists will 
monitor and report quarterly on the progress of GAP implementation. S/he will report on the 
progress towards achievement of both quantitative and qualitative targets in the DMF and GAP 
during each review mission. Each PAG’s progress report as well as its project completion re-
port will include a section that details these achievements, challenges encountered, actions 
taken to address these challenges, and recommended further actions. The progress and com-
pletion reports will be shared with the gender specialist in the ADB Resident Mission in Tajiki-
stan, as well as with the concerned gender specialist in ADB Headquarters. 

C. Evaluation 

99. The project will carry out periodic review and evaluation focusing on project achieve-
ments against targets, the soundness of strategies being pursued, and the need for realloca-
tion of resources, if necessary. This will be done jointly by the Government of Tajikistan (GOT) 
and ADB through supervision missions, mid-term review, annual review, and the project com-
pletion report. 
 
100. Supervision Missions. This activity is scheduled throughout the project implementa-
tion period ordinarily 2 times a year or depending on the need of the project. The task is to 
monitor and evaluate implementation progress, identify and address implementation issues 
and problems, and agree on actions that need to be taken by both the ADB and the Govern-
ment of Tajikistan (GOT) through MOHSPP with specific targets and milestones. The mission 
also follows up on the status and/or results of the actions taken which were agreed upon during 
the preceding mission. Annual Performance Review might be proposed. The GOT and ADB, 
will review the Project at the end of each year. The review will concentrate on compliance with 
specific grant covenants and whether all required inputs and support functions on the Govern-
ment side are in place. The review will also evaluate the effectiveness of implementation mech-
anisms and the efficiency of the training approach and may result in a decision to continue 
them or to change them. 
 
101. Midterm Review. The GOT and ADB will undertake a midterm review (MTR) of the 
project at the end of year 3 of project implementation. The review will assess the summary 
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report and recommendations regarding the progress and achievements of the project against 
its objectives after due consideration of the results of the previous reviews. The MTR will in-
clude an assessment of the long-term vision for project in Tajikistan, as presented in the Gov-
ernment’s action plan. In coordination with the Tajikistan Resident Mission, the Government 
will prepare MTR report including a midterm monitoring report for submission to ADB at least 
15 days before the fielding of the MTR mission. 
 
102. Project Completion Report. Within 6 months of physical completion of the project, the 
MOHSPP will submit a Government’s Project Completion Report (PCR) to ADB. The PCR will 
assess the relevance of project formulation and design, the effectiveness and efficiency in 
achieving output, outcome, and impact indicators relative to targets, and the overall project 
performance based on evaluation criteria including relevance, effectiveness, efficiency, sus-
tainability and impact. The PCR will also identify lessons learned and provide recommenda-
tions for future projects. 
 
103. Evaluation Studies. Certain evaluation studies will be outsourced to external research 
organization and will be conducted at different stages of project implementation including the 
baseline study at project commencement and end-of-project evaluation study. Other studies 
may also be conducted in the course of project implementation if deemed necessary. 

D. Reporting 

104. The PAG will provide ADB with (i) quarterly progress reports in a format consistent with 
ADB's project performance reporting system; (ii) consolidated annual reports; and (iii) a project 
completion report within 6 months of physical completion of the Project. An annual financial 
audit will also be undertaken by an auditing firm mutually acceptable to GOT and ADB. 
 
105. Quarterly Progress Report. The PAG will prepare a quarterly progress report for sub-
mission to GOT and ADB to provide an update on the status project achievements, the issues 
and problems encountered in the course of implementation and actions taken, and the plan for 
the next quarter. 
 
106. Consolidated Annual Report. Based on the executing agency’s progress reports and 
the results of project review missions, the annual report will provide a basis for assigning pro-
ject ratings, identifying any problems in implementation, and, if needed, proposing modifica-
tions in the project design or other remedial action. Key elements of the report include: (i) a 
rating for progress in project implementation; (ii) intermediate development results based on 
targets and indicators in the DMF; (iii) progress in using project inputs and achieving project 
outputs based on targets and indicators in the DMF; (iv) recent developments related to as-
sumptions, risks, implementation arrangements, or other factors affecting project success; (v) 
any problems in implementing the project; (vi) proposed design changes or other action to 
address these problems; and (vii) compliance with major covenants.30 The report will also in-
clude an updated procurement plan and implementation plan for the next 12 months. 
 
107. Project Completion Report (PCR). A PCR will be prepared by the MOHSPP and ADB 
provide to provide an assessment of the project's performance in terms of using inputs and 
producing outputs consistent with the DMF. It will also provide a preliminary assessment of the 
project's success in achieving the development outcomes and impacts identified in the DMF. 
Based on these assessments, the PCR will suggest follow-up actions to improve the sustain-
ability of project benefits and will make recommendations for future projects. The instructions 
for preparing a PCR indicate that it should include a general assessment of significant poverty, 
social, and other impacts, both positive and negative, and whether intended or not. The 

                                                
30 ADB Project Administration Instruction No. 6.05 (Project Performance Report). 
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implementation and effectiveness of social safeguard measures should be specifically docu-
mented.31 

E. Stakeholder Communication Strategy 

108. The project’s running message in its public communication will highlight the benefits of 
integrated quality MCH services in addressing maternal and child health.  Various modes of 
mass media communication will be used, such as print (newspapers, tabloids, and maga-
zines), radio, television, and social networking sites.  Posters and billboards will be set up in 
strategic places to inform the public of the project.   
 
109. Information needs of specific stakeholders, such as the government, academia, civil 
society groups, development partners will be served through the conduct of target-specific 
conferences, seminars, orientations, and trainings, as well as regular updating meetings with 
partners and grievance meetings with concerned groups as necessary.  The rural and remote 
population will be reached by the PHC service providers and patronage nurses and midwives 
in particular through home visits. PHC workers will conduct community meetings and orienta-
tions will be conducted in selected areas.  All these will be organized and laid out in the social 
marketing plan that will be developed at the start of project implementation.   
 
110. The project M&E findings will be used on an ongoing basis and disseminated through 
regular progress performance reports, press releases and press conferences, statistical data 
publication and website/internet as well as other interactive IT mediums. The regular 
monitoring and process evaluation reports will be summarized and presented to donors and 
other stakeholders. Outcome and impact evaluation results will also be used in a timely manner 
to improve and strengthen the programs which may lead to decisions about changes in 
program implementation. 
 
111. In addition, regular meetings will be held for key stakeholders to inform them about the 
project and its achievements, opportunities and other issues. Activities will include: (i) project 
launch ceremonies; (ii) opening of constructed/rehabilitated hospitals; (iii) discussion sessions 
or seminars with local government and other stakeholders to promote project initiatives; and 
(iv) leaflets or news bulletins outlining the project purpose, achievements to date and proposed 
activities for the next period which will be distributed to key stakeholders at the national and 
local levels, prospective students, local employers, etc. All these activities and more will be 
integrated and implemented in a coherent and coordinated manner through the social market-
ing plan which will be developed and implemented under the project. A summary of the stake-
holder’s communications strategy is given in the matrix below. 
 

                                                
31 ADB Project Administration Instruction No. 6.07 (Project Completion Report). 
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Communications Strategy Matrix 
 

Communications Contexts: 

Project Objectives:  To improve the coverage of women and children with integrated quality MCH services, ADB will help to improve integration of MCH care delivery at 
both primary and secondary health care levels (district level) in project districts. The proposed project will have three expected outputs: (i) Integrated delivery of quality 
maternal and child care services in project districts improved  
; (ii) Infrastructure and equipment for MCH services in project districts rationalized and improved.; and (iii) Knowledge on maternal and child health and health 
seeking behaviors in project districts improved 

 

 

Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements  Evaluation 

Objectives Risks Audiences/ 
Stakeholders 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviors 

Messages/ In-
formation 

Activity/ 
Channels 

Timing Responsibility Re-
sources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

To ensure 
that key 
stakeholders 
learn about 
project and 
support its ef-
fective imple-
mentation 

In the absence of de-
tailed and accurate in-
formation about the 
project, stakeholders 
may start criticizing 
the project design 
and/or effectiveness 
of implementation 

Government 
officials; 

Local Govern-
ments; 

Academia; 

Health sector 
staff; 

General popu-
lation 

Development 
Partners 

Project ob-
tains buy-in 
from key pro-
ject stake-
holders 

Basic project in-
formation:  

- Rationale for 
project de-
sign,  

- Implementa-
tion strategy 
and plan  

- Strategy for 
the selection 
of project 
districts 

- Expected 
benefits for 
the popula-
tion, health 
sector and 
economy 

Project launch 
ceremonies at:  

- National  
- District 

levels 

MOHSPP web-
page 

Radio/TV pub-
lic service an-
nouncement 

Press release 
in print media 

Within the 
first quarter 
after project 
effectiveness 

MOHSPP and 
PAG 

$ 25,000 Overall un-
derstand-
ing of the 
project en-
sured 
among key 
stakehold-
ers and 
support lev-
eraged 

To ensure 
that key 
stakeholders 
support 

The current Medical 
and nursing education 
system produces 
more health workers 

Government 
officials – 
MoHSPP, 
MoF, Ministry 

Government 
policy mak-
ers support 
adoption and 

- HRH plan-
ning accord-
ing to the 

Stakeholder 
consultation 
workshops; 

 

Continuing 
throughout 
the 

MOHSPP and 
PAG 

US$ 
50,000 

The 
MOHSPP 
leverages 
support 
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Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements  Evaluation 

Objectives Risks Audiences/ 
Stakeholders 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviors 

Messages/ In-
formation 

Activity/ 
Channels 

Timing Responsibility Re-
sources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

Health Hu-
man Re-
source 
(HRH) Plan-
ning and De-
ployment 
Strategy 

than the system can 
utilize. There are 
shortages of new doc-
tors in certain special-
izations. The country 
lacks well formulated 
deployment strategy, 
particularly in remote 
areas. On average in 
project target districts 
staffing level varies 
between 30%-40% 

of Education 
and Science, 
Local Govern-
ments 

Academic and 
Education In-
stitutions, nurs-
ing schools 

 

implementa-
tion of the 
HRH Plan-
ning and De-
ployment 
Strategy 

health sys-
tem needs 

- The role of 
Government 
in planning 
HRH pro-
duction and 
deployment 

- Strategic ap-
proaches to 
HRH de-
ployment 
and reten-
tion 

- Strategy for 
HRH contin-
uous Educa-
tion and pro-
fessional de-
velopment 

implementa-
tion period 

 

from key 
stakehold-
ers and en-
forces im-
plementa-
tion of the 
HRH plan-
ning and 
deployment 
strategy 

 

To ensure 
that MCH re-
ferral system 
is effectively 
implemented 

Health workforce may 
oppose to comply with 
proposed MCH refer-
ral system. Population 
may still buy-pass 
PHC and seek care at 
district hospital with-
out referral from PHC 

 

- MOHSPP 
respective 
Depart-
ments; 

-  
- Academia; 
- District 

Health Au-
thorities; 

- Health 
workforce 
in project 
targeted 
districts 

- Population 
in their 

MCH referral 
system is en-
dorsed by all 
stakehold-
ers; 

Population 
understands 
benefits of 
the MCH re-
ferral sys-
tem; 

Referral sys-
tem is re-
flected in 
medical and 

- Justification 
for MCH Re-
ferral Sys-
tem 

- Cost effi-
ciency of the 
MCH Refer-
ral System 

- Roles and 
responsibili-
ties of PHC 
and Hospi-
tals 

 

Stakeholder 
consultation 
workshops at 
national and 
district levels; 

MOHSPP web-
page; 

Radio/TV pub-
lic service an-
nouncements; 

Community 
meetings 

 

Continuing 
throughout 
the imple-
mentation 
period 

 

MOHSPP; PAG; 
District Health 
Authorities 

 

US$ 
50,000 

HRH 
demon-
strate ad-
herence to 
MCH refer-
ral proto-
cols 
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Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements  Evaluation 

Objectives Risks Audiences/ 
Stakeholders 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviors 

Messages/ In-
formation 

Activity/ 
Channels 

Timing Responsibility Re-
sources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

communi-
ties 

nursing edu-
cation curric-
ula; 

HRH in tar-
get districts 
trained and 
complies 
with referral 
pathways 

To ensure 
that stake-
holders sup-
port introduc-
tion of the 
Continuous 
Quality Im-
provement 
(CQI) 

Health facility man-
agement and staff 
may resist to intro-
duce CQI principles, 
due to additional ad-
ministrative, financial 
burden 

- Health Au-
thorities 

- Health fa-
cility Man-
agement 

- Health fa-
cility staff 

CQI system 
is effectively 
introduced in 
project tar-
geted health 
facilities 

- Rationale for 
introduction 
of CQI; 

- Potential 
economic 
and financial 
benefits; 

- Effects on 
staff satis-
faction and 
motivation 

Stakeholder 
consultation 
workshops at 
national and 
district levels; 

Supportive Su-
pervisors pro-
moting and as-
sisting health 
facilities in im-
plementation 
of CQI 

Continuing 
throughout 
the imple-
mentation 
period 

 

MoHSPP; PAG; 
District Health 
Authorities 

Around 
US$ 
100,000 

Number of 
health facil-
ities imple-
menting 
CQI 

Case-based 
financing is 
piloted in pro-
ject targeted 
districts 

Albeit introduction of 
the case-based fi-
nancing was planned 
under the Health Fi-
nancing Strategy 
2015-2018 of the 
GoT, it has not yet 
been implemented. 
The is a risk, that gov-
ernment may oppose 
to pilot new funding 
methodology. Pro-
pose funding mecha-
nism may also be 

Government 
officials – 
MOHSPP, 
MoF, Local 
Governments, 
Hospital Man-
agement 
teams and staff 

 

Key stake-
holders un-
derstand the 
benefits of 
case-based 
financing 

 

 

- Concept of 
the case-
based fi-
nancing; 

- Implementa-
tion ap-
proach; 

- Salary cal-
culation 
methodol-
ogy for 
health staff; 

Stakeholder 
consultation 
workshops at 
national and 
district levels; 

 

Continuing 
throughout 
the imple-
mentation 
period 

 

MOHSPP; PAG; US$ 
10,000 

Number of 
districts pi-
loting case-
based fi-
nancing  
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Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements  Evaluation 

Objectives Risks Audiences/ 
Stakeholders 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviors 

Messages/ In-
formation 

Activity/ 
Channels 

Timing Responsibility Re-
sources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

opposed by local 
health authorities, 
hospital management 
and staff 

- Benefits of 
case-based 
financing 

- Information 
manage-
ment system 
for case-
based fi-
nancing to 
streamline 
reporting 
and data 
analysis 

To ensure 
that rationali-
zation of the 
hospital facil-
ities and bed 
capacity is 
not opposed 
by local 
stakeholders 

 

The rationalization 
process may be sensi-
tive to the local au-
thorities, health staff 
and population. 

There is a risk that lo-
cal health authorities 
and hospital manage-
ment will oppose to 
decrease of bed ca-
pacity, as this may re-
sult in lowering hospi-
tal budget. 

- District 
Health Au-
thorities; 

- Health 
workforce 
in project 
targeted 
districts 

- Population 
in their 
communi-
ties 

 

Key stake-
holders un-
derstand 
benefits of 
proposed 
changes  

 

- Justification 
for smaller 
hospital 
buildings 
and fewer 
bed capacity 

- Cost effi-
ciency of the 
proposed 
change 

- Overall ben-
efits for local 
authorities, 
staff and 
population 

Stakeholder 
consultation 
workshops at 
national and 
district levels 

MOHSPP web-
page; 

Radio/TV pub-
lic service an-
nouncements; 

Community 
meetings 

 

Continuing 
throughout 
the imple-
mentation 
period 

 

MOHSPP; PAG; 
District Health 
Authorities 

 

US$ 
50,000 

Tripartite 
MOU 
signed be-
tween 
MOHSPP, 
MoF and 
Local Gov-
ernments;  

Key stake-
holders 
support 
proposed 
changes – 
zero oppo-
sition cases 

Local com-
munities do 
not protest 
construction / 
rehabilitation 
works 

The health facilities 
are in densely popu-
lated areas and sur-
rounded by private 
houses and state-
owned enterprises, 
the neighborhood 

Local commu-
nities 

 

Population is 
informed 
about the na-
ture and du-
ration of 
work  

The local com-
munities will be 
informed about 
the nature and 
duration of work 
well in advance 
so that they can 

Radio/TV pub-
lic service an-
nouncements; 

Community 
meetings 

Continuing 
throughout 
the imple-
mentation 
period 

 

MOHSPP; PAG; 
District Health 
Authorities; 

Civil works con-
tractors 

 

Costs 
covered 
by civil 
works 
contrac-
tors 

 

Number of 
complaints 
from the 
population 
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Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements  Evaluation 

Objectives Risks Audiences/ 
Stakeholders 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviors 

Messages/ In-
formation 

Activity/ 
Channels 

Timing Responsibility Re-
sources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

members may protest 
against additional traf-
fic, noise, dust and 
permanent movement 
of constructors, as 
well as temporary lim-
ited accessibility to 
public services, in-
cluding communica-
tion lines, water sys-
tems, electricity etc. 
associated with recon-
nected the health fa-
cilities to the local in-
frastructure 

 

make necessary 
preparations 

 

Billboards in 
the public ar-
eas 

No issues on 
corruption 
raised either 
privately or 
publicly 

Lack of transparency 
in bidding of rehabili-
tation works and sup-
ply of equipment and 
furniture may raise is-
sue of corruption and 
delay project imple-
mentation 

 

Concerned 
government 
agencies 

Business and 
NGO commu-
nity 

Donor commu-
nity 

Media person-
nel 

General public 

Government 
and ADB bid-
ding guide-
lines and 
procedures 
should be 
followed 

Evaluation of 
bids fair and 
transparent 

Government and 
ADB guidelines 
and procedures 

All bidding docu-
ments accessible 

Commitment to 
transparency in 
all bidding pro-
cesses 

Announcement 
in 
MOHSPP/PAG 
website 

Advertisement 
in print media 
with national 
circulation 

Publication of 
bid results 

 

Coincide with 
bidding 
schedule 

MOHSPP Man-
agement Work-
ing Group 

PAG Manager 

Procurement 
Specialist 

 

Budget 
for pro-
curement 
of goods 
and ser-
vices 

Bidding 
process 
made 
transparent 

No issues 
on corrup-
tion raised 
either pri-
vately or 
publicly  

ADB = Asian Development Bank, CQI = Continuous Quality Improvement, GOT = Government of Tajikistan, HRH = Human Resources for Health, MCH = maternal and child 
health, MOF = Ministry of Finance, MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan, PAG = Project Administration Group.  
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X. ANTICORUPTION POLICY 
 
112. ADB reserves the right to investigate, directly or through its agents, any violations of 
the Anticorruption Policy relating to the project.32  All contracts financed by ADB shall include 
provisions specifying the right of ADB to audit and examine the records and accounts of the 
executing agency and all Project contractors, suppliers, consultants and other service provid-
ers. Individuals and/ or entities on ADB’s anticorruption debarment list are ineligible to partici-
pate in ADB-financed activity and may not be awarded any contracts under the project.33 
 
113. To support these efforts, relevant provisions are included in the grant agreement/ and 
the bidding documents for the project. 

XI. ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM 

114. People who are, or may in the future be, adversely affected by the project may submit 
complaints to ADB’s Accountability Mechanism. The Accountability Mechanism provides an 
independent forum and process whereby people adversely affected by ADB-assisted projects 
can voice, and seek a resolution of their problems, as well as report alleged violations of ADB’s 
operational policies and procedures. Before submitting a complaint to the Accountability Mech-
anism, affected people should make an effort in good faith to solve their problems by working 
with the concerned ADB operations department. Only after doing that, and if they are still dis-
satisfied, should they approach the Accountability Mechanism. 34 

XII. RECORD OF CHANGES TO THE PROJECT ADMINISTRATION MANUAL 

115. The PAM is a living document subject to change after ADB Board approval of the pro-
ject's RRP. It is concise yet informative, providing checklists of all activities related to project 
implementation along with the necessary procedures for the borrower/grantee, EAs, and IAs 
to effectively implement and monitor the project.  
 
116. After ADB Board approval of the project's RRP, changes in implementation arrange-
ments are subject to agreement and approval pursuant to relevant Government and ADB ad-
ministrative procedures, and upon such approval, they will be subsequently incorporated in the 
PAM. 
 
117. Subject to the approval procedure described above, the overall implementation plan 
may be updated annually by the EA together with ADB. The updated draft implementation plan 
will normally be submitted to ADB in month 10 of the preceding year for no objection, a re-
sponse on which will normally be provided on or before month 12.  

                                                
32 Anticorruption Policy: http://www.adb.org/Documents/Policies/Anticorruption-Integrity/Policies-Strategies.pdf  
33 ADB's Integrity Office web site: http://www.adb.org/integrity/unit.asp  
34 Accountability Mechanism. http://www.adb.org/Accountability-Mechanism/default.asp  

http://www.adb.org/Documents/Policies/Anticorruption-Integrity/Policies-Strategies.pdf
http://www.adb.org/integrity/unit.asp
http://www.adb.org/Accountability-Mechanism/default.asp
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Appendix 1: TOR––Project Administration Group 
 
Project Administration Group (PAG) will be established for implementation of the project. PAG 

Director will be appointed by the Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the People of 

Republic of Tajikistan (MOHSPP). PAG Manager and key staff will be selected through com-

petitive procedure and financed by the project.  

Tasks and responsibilities of PAG will include, but not limited to the following: 

Item  Position/ No. / Person-month Tasks and Responsibilities 

PAG.1 PAG Manager 1 69 - The PAG Manager will manage all tasks related to the imple-

mentation of the Project with EA (MOHSPP), MOF, and other 

Ministries and Agencies involved;  

- S/he will ensure that the accountability measures are re-

spected by the EA/IA during grant implementation. This will 

include updating of operational and yearly budget plans, re-

view of all reports before submission, and contractual man-

agement; and  

- S/he will also be responsible for overall financial manage-

ment and for timely reporting to the EA; Project Steering 

Committee and ADB.  

PAG. 2 Financial man-

agement  

1 69 Financial Management (FM) officer will be working in close coop-

eration with PAG Director, MOHSPP, MOF and other PAG staff 

and Consultants to: 

- Manage operating expenditures for the PAG; 

- Report bank statements; issue certificates required for cus-

toms or tax clearance; 

- Maintain the Finance Management Information System with 

support of the Disbursement officer; 

- Prepare budget reviews and monthly financial reports; 

- Prepare the documents related payments of contracts and 

withdrawal applications with Disbursement officer; 

- Manage Advance account replenishment and financial status 

of the project; 

- Manage all audit-related tasks together with Disbursement 

officer; 

- Review the PAG operating expenditures and payments or-

ders; 

- Maintain the book keeping system for all PAG operating costs 

and keep record of all petty cash disbursed; and 

- Manage and review bank operations for PAG contract pay-

ments. 

PAG. 3 Disbursement  1 69 Disbursement officer will work in close cooperation with PAG Di-

rector, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG Financial Management Officer 

and the consultants to: 

- Manage the operating expenditures for the PAG; 

- Process financial data with the Finance Management Infor-

mation System; 

- Assist with the preparation of budget revisions and monthly 

financial reports; 

- Manage payments of contracts and withdrawal applications; 

- Process the advance account replenishment and financial 

status of the project; 

- Manage the PAG operating expenditures and payments or-

ders; 



Appendix 1 59 

 

Item  Position/ No. / Person-month Tasks and Responsibilities 

- Support maintenance of the book keeping system for all PAG 

operating cost; 

- Manage all petty cash disbursements; and 

- Manage and prepare bank operations for PAG contracts pay-

ments. 

PAG. 4 Procurement  1 69 Procurement officer will work in close cooperation with PAG Di-

rector, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG staff and consultants to: 

- Regularly update Procurement Plan; 

- Prepare all bid documents and contracts for Services (recruit-

ment of Consultants), Works (construction), and the procure-

ment of goods (equipment); 

- Prepare RFQ for small contracts (Capacity building train-

ings); 

- Manage and supervise all procurement processes; 

- Organise pre-bid meetings as needed and prepare minutes 

of those meetings; 

- Prepare all answers for RFCs from bidding companies; 

- Assist MOHSPP with the establishment of the bid evaluation 

committees; 

- Monitor and manage all contracts; 

- Prepare Variation Orders for all contracts as needed; 

- Verify that all contract relevant documents are available and 

valid (bank guaranties, social security, insurances, drawing, 

etc.); 

- Ensure that all documents are approved, signed and pub-

lished on time; and 

- Respond to queries from stakeholders including government, 

NGOs, contractors, suppliers, consultants, and ADB 

PAG. 5 Equipment  1 54 Equipment officer will work in close cooperation with PAG Direc-

tor, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and consultants to: 

- Organize and prepare all RFQ for small contracts (including 

e.g. capacity building material) and the procurement for 

Goods; 

- Review technical specifications prepared by the Consulting 

Design and Supervision Firm with PAG and concerned 

MOHSPP staff; 

- Organize publications on ADB, national and international 

Websites and newspapers;  

- Prepare answers to requests for clarifications issues by sup-

plier companies; 

- Organize the bid openings; 

- Ensure the bid evaluation committee have been nominated 

by MOHSPP; 

- Organize bid evaluation and prepare reports for contract 

award notice; 

- Prepare contracts; 

- Monitor supplier contracts; 

- Prepare Variation Orders for Supplier Contracts in coopera-

tion with the consulting firms; 

- Verify that all documents relevant for contracting are provide 

on time and are valid (bank guaranties, social security, insur-

ances, etc.); 

- Ensure that all documents are approved, signed and pub-

lished on time; and 

- Support updating of the procurement plan and schedule. 
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Item  Position/ No. / Person-month Tasks and Responsibilities 

PAG. 6 Civil Engineer 1 49 Civil engineer will work in close cooperation with PAG Director, 

MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and consultants to: 

- Manage, monitor, and supervise the Design and Supervision 

of Construction and Equipment Consultants in preparation of 

the design and during the works supervision; 

-  Review technical requirement in coordination with MOHSPP 

and consulting firms; 

- Assure the follow up; 

- Participate at pre-bid meetings, prepare minutes of those 

meetings; 

- Prepare all answers for RFCs from bidding companies; 

- Assist MOHSPP with the establishment of the bid evaluation 

committees; 

- Organize the bid opening (technical and financial offers sep-

arately); 

- Organize bid evaluation and prepare reports for contract 

award; 

- Prepare Letter of Acceptances and verify that all contract rel-

evant documents are available and valid (bank guaranties, 

social security, insurances, drawing, etc.); 

- Prepare and manage all civil works-related contracts; 

- Participate to regular site visits; 

- Prepare contract variations for works contracts; 

- Ensure that all documents are approved, signed and pub-

lished on time; 

- Organize with the Engineer the provisional acceptance and 

final acceptance; 

- Verify the final invoice and all the supporting documents (As 

build drawings, users ‘manuals, etc.); 

- Verify all contractors, suppliers and users’ claims; and 

- Review and update the procurement and project schedule 

PAG. 7 Environment  1 48 

 

Environment officer will work in close cooperation with PAG Di-

rector, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and consultants to: 

- Update IEE and EMP TRTA prepared after detailed project 

design; 

- Oversee incorporation of EMP recommendations into the bid-

ding documents; 

- Ensure SEMP is prepared by the Contractor and approved 

by PAG before any construction work starts. 

 

- Ensure that EIA approval by Ministry of Environment has 

been secured prior to the awarding of civil works contract; 

- Set up, coordinate, and report on the grievance redress 

mechanism (GRM); 

- Monitor contractors to ensure adherence to the EMP and the 

contractor SEMPs and monthly report; 

- Prepare Quarterly reports on project EMP implementation to 

the PAG; 

-  Ensure bi-annual monitoring reports to ADB are prepared 

and submitted timely. 

- coordinate consultation with local stakeholders as required, 

inform them of imminent construction works, update them on 

the latest project development activities, GRM, etc.; and 

- Support the Supervision environment consultants in conduct-

ing training, EMP compliance reviews, annual reporting, etc. 



Appendix 1 61 

 

Item  Position/ No. / Person-month Tasks and Responsibilities 

PAG. 8 Monitoring and 

Evaluation 

(M&E) 

1 21 Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) officer will work in close coop-

eration with PAG Director, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers 

and consultants to: 

- Set-up the M&E reporting system: 

- Prepare and submit to MOHSPP and ADB all required PAG 

reports, GAP monitoring, and MCHIC project evaluation re-

ports; 

- Finetune the project performance management and reporting 

systems; 

- Monitor and evaluate achievements during project implemen-

tation (baseline, mid-term review, and project completion); 

and 

- Review data collection plan to ensure all baseline data and 

targets of the design and monitoring framework are available. 

PAG. 9 Communica-

tion  

1 69 Communication officer will work in close cooperation with PAG 

Director, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and consultants to: 

- Implement, monitor, and update (when needed) the commu-

nication strategy with all stakeholders and provide feedbacks 

MOHSPP/PAG management/ADB; 

- Prepare with the IT specialist the MCHIC Website and keep 

it updated with all relevant information; 

- Organise workshops, seminars, and round-tables during the 

project implementation and the beginning, mid-term and end 

Seminars; 

- Establish the relation with the media; 

- Preparing press release, media publications, reportages, etc. 

in accordance with MOHSPP; 

- Organise all information flow to all stakeholders; 

- Prepare reports formats and support the publishing; and 

- Assist MOHSPP and other PAG officers in organizing meet-

ings, and workshops. 

PAG. 10 Information 

Technology 

(IT) 

1 69 Information Technology (IT) officer will work in close cooperation 

with PAG Director, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and con-

sultants to: 

- Set-up and maintain the IT system for PAG; 

- Prepare the technical specifications for the purchasing of IT 

equipment; 

- Maintain the system to assure continuous functioning; 

- Support the preparation of technical specifications for IT 

equipment to be procured at district level; 

- Support the development of data collection systems; build 

and organize the set-up of the PAG electronic library and 

maintain it; 

- Support all experts with IT, software and data base organisa-

tion; and 

- Support the creation and maintenance of the MCHIC website 

PAG. 11 Social Safe-

guards & Gen-

der  

1   Social safeguards and Gender officer will work in close coopera-

tion with PAG Director, MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and 

consultants to: 

- Prepare and update the (i) Land acquisition and Resettle-

ment Plan and (ii) Gender Action Plan in accordance with 

Government and ADB SPS requirements; 

- Provide guidance and support for its effective implementa-

tion; 
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Item  Position/ No. / Person-month Tasks and Responsibilities 

- Ensure meaningful consultation and participation of affected 

households, civil society stakeholders, community-based or-

ganizations, representatives of relevant ethnic groups and 

relevant government agencies in the gender action plan; 

- Create together with relevant Government agencies an effec-

tive grievance redress mechanism; 

- Develop a communication strategy addressing gender is-

sues, HIV and human trafficking (awareness and prevention); 

- Ensure incorporation of agreed social action and mitigation 

measures in Project documentation and implementation 

plans; and 

- Oversee the implementation of the Communication Strategy 

with communities regarding works implementation. 

PAG. 12 Legal Expert 1 3 Legal expert will work in close cooperation with PAG Director, 

MOHSPP, MOF, other PAG officers and consultants to: 

- Analyze national and international legal documents for their 

compliance with existing laws and regulations (including but 

not limited to the country’s constitution); 

- Report on findings and establish recommendations for the 

development / adaptation of those documents and/or the ad-

aptation of existing national laws and regulations; and 

- Present and discuss findings and recommendations in inter-

national meetings, workshops, and conferences with IFIs and 

other Development Partners. 
 

Office Man-

agement 

6 414 

 

PAG. 13 Office man-

ager 

1 69 Will be defined by the PAG Director 

PAG. 14 Secretary 1 69 Will be defined by the PAG Director 

PAG. 15 Translator - In-

terpreter 

1 69 Will be defined by the PAG Director 

PAG. 16 Driver 1 1 69 Will be defined by the PAG Director 

PAG. 17 Driver 2 1 69 Will be defined by the PAG Director 

PAG. 18 Cleaner  1 69 Will be defined by the PAG Director 

ADB = Asian Development Bank, EA = Executing Agency, EIA = Environmental Impact Assessment, EMP = Envi-
ronment Management Plan, FM = Financial Management, GRM = Grievance Redress Mechanism, HIV = Human 
Immunodeficiency Virus, IEE = Initial Environment Examination,  IT = Information Technology, MOF = Ministry of 
Finance, MOHSPP = Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan, NGO 
= Non-government Organization, PAG = Project Administration Group, RFC = Request for Clarification, RFQ = 
Request for Quotation, SPS = Safeguard Policy Statement. 
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Appendix 2: Terms of References of Consultants 
 

Abbreviations and Acronyms 
CDH Central District Hospital 
CSRN Consulting Services Recruitment Notice 
DHC District Health Center 
EA Executing Agency 
EMP Environmental Management plan 
FIDIC Fédération Internationale des Ingénieurs Conseil  
GEMP Generic Environmental Management Plan 
IA Implementing Agency 
IEE Initial Environmental Examination 
IFI International Financing Institution 
M&E Monitoring and Evaluation 
MCHIC Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care 
MDB Multilateral Development Bank 
MOF  Ministry of Finance  
MOPHSPP  Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Re-

public of Tajikistan  
PAG Project Administration Group 
QCBS Quality and Cost Based Selection 
RFC Request for Clarification 
RFQ Request for Quotation 
TOR Terms of Reference  
TRTA Transaction Technical Assistance 
UNDP United Nations Development Fund 
UNFPA United Nations Population Fund 
UNICEF United Nations Children’s Fund 
WHO World Health Organization 
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A. Individual Consultants (CS03 and CS04) 

Code Position Int/ 

Nat 

No. PM Key Tasks and Outputs 

CS03 Financial 

Management 

Specialist 

Nat 1 6.00 Support PAG and EA with the implementation of all activities re-

lated to Financial Management according to ADB regulations and 

procedures: 

- Assist the PAG in defining the requirements for the account-

ing software and train the users; 

- Assist the PAG / EA with the verification of claims and in-

voices submitted by Contractors, Suppliers, and Service Pro-

viders and with the management of related payment proce-

dures to assure compliance with ADB procedures;  

- Develop the project-specific financial management manual; 

- Support the PAG / EA with the preparation of withdrawal ap-

plications according to ADB regulations. Some on-the-job 

training of PAG and EA financial management staff may be 

involved; 

- Assist PAG / EA with the preparation of internal and external 

financial audits (review TOR prepared by the TRTA). 

- Conduct any other relevant task relating to financial manage-

ment, auditing and accounting under the project; 

- Organize online training (available at ADB website) on dis-

bursement procedures. 

CS04 Integrated 

Care Special-

ist (Output 1 & 

3)  

Int 1 6.00 Support the PAG and EA with the implementation of all activities 

related to Output 1 and 3: 

- Monitor and support implementation of the service contract 

with UNICEF  

- Verify detailed implementation plans following the pro-

ject’s overall implementation plan; 

- Verify technical reports provided by UNICEF; 

- Conduct site visits to monitor implementation of activities 

and compliance with activity plans and schedules; 

- Compare objectives / targets and achievements made us-

ing indicators defined in the project’s DMF. 

- Monitor implementation of key activities under Output 1 

- Health Workforce Planning & Cap Building 

- Operationalization of effective referral systems (RS) 

- Institutionalization of Continuous Quality Improvement 

System 

- Piloting of the case-based financing system 

- Monitor implementation of key activities under Output 3 

- Enhancing capacity of the National Healthy lifestyle Cen-

ter and strengthen partnership with relevant stakeholders; 

- Development of district specific BCC strategies; 

- Promotion of community mobilization; 

- Management of small grants for the development of the 

community-based BCC activities; 

- Development of technically sound, culturally relevant, vis-

ually attractive, and effective BCC materials. 
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B. Project Implementation and Monitoring & Evaluation Support Firm 

(CS02) 

i. Objectives of the assignment 

Purpose and objective of this consultancy is to support the MOHSPP and the PAG with the 
planning and implementation of Project activities and the development of Monitoring and Eval-
uation (M&E) tools and instruments. The Consultant’s employer or client is the MOHSPP, the 
Project’s Executive Agency (EA); the project’s Implementing Agency (IA) is the PAG working 
on behalf of the MOHSPP. The PAG will coordinate project implementation. 

ii. Scope of the Assignment  

In close coordination with the MOHSPP / PAG, the consultant firm will perform the following 
tasks: 

1. Support EA / IA with the procurement of Goods, Works, and Services for 
the development of the health care infrastructure in Project districts 

A Procurement Specialist will assist with the recruitment of the Design and Supervision Con-
sultant (see CS05) and the procurement of Works and review bidding documents for medical 
and non-medical equipment and furniture for the: 

• Rasht District Health Center (DHC)and Central District Hospital (CDH) 
• Fayzobod DHC (equipment only) and Central District Hospital (CDH) 
• Sh. Shohin new CDH with integrated DHC 

The Consultant will assist the EA/IA in answering to requests for clarification issued by bidding 
companies and in reviewing Technical Offers and Technical Evaluation Reports; the Consult-
ant will further support the PAG / EA with the evaluation of the financial offers the contract 
award procedure according to ADB evaluation guide (June 2018).  

2. Support EA / IA with the implementation of health care infrastructure de-
velopment in Project districts 

The Consultant’s Engineering Team (Architect, Structural and Mechanical / Electrical and 
Plumbing Engineers) and the Environmental Management Specialist will support detailed de-
sign development, supervision of Civil Works, and procurement and installation of medical and 
non-medical equipment for all the above-mentioned facilities. The Consultant will verify docu-
ments provided by the Design and Supervision Consultant (see CS05) and be responsible / 
take care of the following activities: 

Design phase 

- Review concept design and IEE / EMP prepared under the TRTA; 
- Review survey results (soil, water, power supply), preliminary design drawings, lists 

of equipment and technical requirements, preliminary estimates proposed / pre-
sented by the Design and Supervision Consultant; 

- Review detailed design drawings and verify compliance with international norms 
and standards for the design and construction of health care facilities as well as 
adequacy of functional areas and fittings for equipment delivery and installation to 
identify any issue that requires amendment before preparing the bidding docu-
ments, review detailed cost estimates;  

- Review all proposed medical and non-medical equipment, furniture, technical re-
quirements and related services, delivery and installation planning. 
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Supervision and commissioning phase 

The Consultant’s Engineering Team and the Environmental Management Specialist will 
participate at both the provisional and final acceptance events. The will 

- Verify the Contractor’s “as-built” drawings, relevant environmental documents 
- Verify if the equipment supplier provided all spare parts, trainings, warranties and 

requested users’ documentation; 
- Assess results of materials testing conducted by the contractor (water, gas and 

power supply), assess the adequacy of the equipment testing and commissioning 
arrangements provided by the Suppliers, coordinate and oversee their operations; 

- Examine and make recommendations to the Employer on claims from Contractors 
and Suppliers regarding timely execution, additional payment requests, works or 
expenses or similar matters; 

- Assist and advise the Employer on all matters pertaining to the Contracts and re-
lated disputes; prepare reports and provide assistance, as necessary and required, 
to the Disputes Board and during any subsequent arbitration procedure. 

3. Establishment of a Monitoring and Evaluation System 

The objective of this element of the consultancy service package is to support the 
MOHSPP and the PAG with the development and implementation of Monitoring 
and Evaluation (M&E) tools and instruments and related methodologies for output 
/ outcome and impact assessment. In this context, the Consultant will: 

- Develop M&E operational manual 
- Develop M&E data collection tool(s) 
- Provide training to MOHSPP, PAG, and District Health Staff in M&E  
- Conduct monitoring visits to all project sites 
- Conduct refresher trainings 

4. Conduct Surveys and Operational Research 

The Consultant shall also conduct base-line, mid-line and end-line surveys as well 
as mid-term and project-end evaluations. This would include but not be limited to 
the following tasks 

- Design baseline and end line survey methodology and tools 
- Conduct baseline assessment survey and analyze data  
- Conduct annual performance reviews of health care services in all target districts 
- Prepare and conduct project mid -term evaluation 
- Conduct end-line assessment survey and analyze data 
- Prepare and conduct project end evaluation 
- Establish project completion report 

iii. Deliverables  

1. General reporting requirements 

All reports, minutes, documents are to be submitted as follows: two hardcopies to the Employer 
(EA / IA) and one hardcopy to ADB. All reports are also to be submitted electronically, e.g. as 
email attachments in pdf format to all concerned parties. All reports shall be issued in the 
English AND the Russian language. 



Appendix 2 67 

 

2. Specific reporting requirements for the infrastructure component 

1. Inception Report, to be submitted within 15 calendar days after receiving the Prelimi-
nary Design from the Design and Supervision Consultant (DSC), including review of 
tests performed, preliminary drawings, equipment lists and cost estimates,  

2. Assessment of detailed design drawings and recommendations to be submitted within 
15 calendar days receiving the details design form the DSC; 

3. Report of acceptance of bidding documents (five days after receiving the documents); 
4. Reports on assistance provided to provisional and final acceptance procedures within 

15 days after each acceptance; 
5. Final Report in conformity with ADB’s guidelines; 

3. Specific reporting requirements for the M&E component 

1. Inception Report: including the M&E proposed tools and surveys methodology; PAG 
monthly and quarterly report template, both within 4 weeks after the contract com-
mencement 

2. Base-line monitoring report within 6 weeks after the approval of the inception report 
3. Mid-term monitoring report within 4 weeks before the project mid-term 
4. End-line monitoring report within 4 weeks before the project end 
5. Mid-term M&E report within 3 weeks after the project mid-term  
6. Completion Report within 4 weeks after the end of the project 

iv. Required Expert Positions 

1. For the Infrastructure Component  

Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

CS02-1 Architect 

(Team 

Leader for 

Design Re-

view) 

Registered Architect (M.SC or 

equivalent) with at least 10 

years of experience in health 

care facility design.  

Specific experience: 

- has worked on the design 

of at least 2 hospitals with 

an inpatient capacity of at 

least 100 beds; 

- has learned considering 

Building Energy Manage-

ment (BEM) aspects in 

continental climate zones 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA and the Design and Su-

pervision Consultant 

The Specialist will mainly be involved in 

tasks listed under points 1), 2) and 3) above 

S/he will be the Team Leader of the Design 

Review and lead site visits to Construction 

sites i) at the completion of structural works, 

ii) for provisional and iii) for final reception 

2 

CS02-2 Structural / 

Civil Engineer 

Registered Civil (Structural) 

Engineer (M.SC in Civil Engi-

neering / Building construction 

or equivalent) with at least 10 

years of experience in man-

agement and supervision of 

construction works 

S/he worked on the structural 

aspects of the design of at least 

5 buildings of minimum 3 floors 

and/or 5,000 m² surface in con-

tinental climate regions  

Specific Experience: 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA, the Design & Supervision 

Consultant and the Specialist team 

The Specialist will mainly be involved in 

tasks listed under 2) and 3) above. 

S/he will review the Consultant’s proposed 

structural design including Building Energy 

Management concept and verify structural 

works implemented by the Contractors (dur-

ing the first visit to be conducted at comple-

tion of structural works) 

2 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

- has at worked as structural 

engineer for at least the 

design of 2 hospitals of a 

capacity of more than 100 

beds 

- Having a background in 

Green Energy Design and 

Building Energy Manage-

ment will be an asset 

CS02-3 Mechanical 

Engineer 

Registered Mechanical Engi-

neer (M.Sc. in Mechanical En-

gineering) with at least 10 

years of experience in building 

design and construction super-

vision. 

S/he worked on the mechanical 

aspects of the design of at least 

3 buildings (minimum 3 floors 

and/or 5,000 m²) in continental 

climate regions  

Specific experience: 

- has worked on the design 

of the mechanical infra-

structure (HVAC) of at 

least 2 hospitals of a ca-

pacity of more than 100 

beds 

- has experience in the de-

sign of clean rooms, air 

handling units, air filtration, 

heating systems in conti-

nental climate regions 

- having a background in 

Green Energy Design and 

Building Energy Manage-

ment will be an asset 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA, the Design & Supervision 

Consultant and the Specialist team 

The Specialist will mainly be involved in 

tasks listed under 2) and 3) above. 

S/he will review the Consultant’s proposed 

mechanical design including Building Energy 

Management concept and verify mechanical 

works implemented by the Contractors (dur-

ing provisional and final reception). 

2 

CS02-4 Electrical En-

gineer 

Registered Electrical Engineer 

(B.SC. or equivalent) with at 

least 10 years of professional 

experience.  

S/he worked on the electrical 

aspects of the design of at least 

5 buildings (minimum 2 floors 

and/or 5,000 m²) in continental 

climate regions  

Specific experience: 

- Has worked on the design 

of electrical systems for at 

least 2 health care facilities 

of a capacity of at least 

100 beds each. 

- has experience in verifica-

tion of electrical systems in 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA, the Design & Supervision 

Consultant and the Specialist team 

The Specialist will mainly be involved in 

tasks listed under 2) and 3) above. 

S/he will review the Consultant’s proposed 

electrical design including Building Energy 

Management concept and verify electrical 

works implemented by the Contractors (dur-

ing provisional and final reception) 

2 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

hospitals and review of 

equipment fittings. 

- Having a background in 

Green Energy Design and 

Building Energy Manage-

ment will be an asset 

CS02-5 Water supply 

/ Plumbing 

Engineer 

Registered water and sanita-

tion (plumbing) engineer 

(B.SC, or equivalent) with at 

least 10 years of professional 

experience. 

Design and implementation of 

Water Supply and Sewage 

Systems and the planning and 

supervision of related works. 

Specific Experience: 

- Design of Water Supply 

and Sewage Systems for 

at least 2 hospitals of a ca-

pacity of at least 100 beds 

each; 

- Projects considering water 

management and environ-

mental safety issues in 

continental climate re-

gions; 

- Supervision of construc-

tion works and commis-

sioning of water supply 

and sewage systems in 

health care facilities 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA, the Design & Supervision 

Consultant and the Specialist team 

The Specialist will mainly be involved in 

tasks listed under points 2) and 3) above. 

S/he will review the Consultant’s proposed 

design for water and sewage systems (inside 

and outside of the building considering envi-

ronmental safety issues) including Building 

Energy Management concept and verify wa-

ter supply and sewage system works imple-

mented by the Contractors (during provi-

sional and final reception). 

2 

CS02-6 Safeguards 

Specialist 

(environment, 

resettlement, 

social) 

Qualified BSc or equivalent in 

environment, social develop-

ment or related field, preferably 

with 10 years of relevant pro-

fessional experience. 

Specific Experience: 

Worked for IFI funded projects 

in fields of Environmental Man-

agement Planning and Social 

Safeguards management plan-

ning. 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA and the Project Implemen-

tation Supporting firm. S/he will 

- If required, undertake a cumulative as-

sessment of the potential environmental 

impact of the Project. 

- If required, update the IEE and EMP by 

undertaking impact assessment of addi-

tional or unanticipated impacts, includ-

ing design change, detailing environ-

mental mitigation measures to address 

each identified impact and developing a 

Corrective Action Plan (CAP) if neces-

sary in the event of non-compliance, and 

recommend appropriate environmental 

mitigation measures. 

- Assist PAG in implementation of IEE, 

EMP and SEMP to ensure compliance. 

- Assess the cost, responsibilities, sched-

ule, location, and monitoring framework 

associated with the implementation of 

the mitigation measures and the EMP. 

2 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

- As required, assist PAG in incorporating 

EMP in bidding documents and bid eval-

uation. 

- Provide guidance and quality assurance 

in undertaking the environmental moni-

toring as outlined in the EMP. 

- Prepare a section in Project quarterly 

progress report on environmental safe-

guard compliance. 

- Assist PAG in compiling semi-annual 

environmental monitoring reports. 

- Monitor compliance with environmental 

mitigation and management plans, con-

tractor health and safety plan. 

- Conduct consultation with groups to be 

affected by the project. 

- Undertake the environmental monitoring 

as outlined in the IEE, EMP and SEMP. 

- Prepare related certificates or any rele-

vant papers or documentations. 

- Assist PAG in establishing and imple-

menting GRM and providing necessary 

training to EA, IA/ PAG and Contractor 

to build capacity, as required. 

CS02-7 Procurement 

Specialist 

B.Sc. degree in engineering, 

procurement, law or related 

discipline with 10 years of ex-

tensive experience in procure-

ment related to works, goods 

and services 

Specific experience: 

- Procurement of works, 

goods and services for at 

least 3 infrastructure pro-

jects of a volume of above 

USD 5 million funded by 

International Financing In-

stitutions (IFI) 

- Procurement of Works, 

Goods and Related Ser-

vices for construction and 

equipment of health care 

facilities. 

The Specialist will work in close cooperation 

with the PAG / EA. 

S/he will mainly be involved in tasks listed 

under points 1 and 2 above. 

S/he will assist the PAG / EA with the verifi-

cation of bids submitted by Consultants, 

Contractors and Suppliers and in the man-

agement of related procurement processes 

to assure compliance with ADB regulations 

and procedures. Some on-the-job training of 

PAG and EA procurement staff may be in-

volved. 

S/he may also assist PAG / EA with the prep-

aration of internal and external procurement 

audits. 

2 

 

2. For the M&E Component 

Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

CS02-8 Health Sys-

tems / Moni-

toring and 

Evaluation 

Specialist 

(Team 

leader) 

- Advanced (university) degree in Public 

Health or similar 

- Medical background specifically in the field 

of maternal and child health 

- Proven experience in adapting global 

standards and guidelines to local context 

- Develop M&E opera-

tional manual 

- Develop M&E data col-

lection tool(s) for base-

line and end-line survey 

- Conduct monitoring vis-

its to all project sites 

15 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

- Minimum 10 years of professional experi-

ence in design, implementation and moni-

toring and evaluation of (international) Ma-

ternal and Child Health projects and pro-

grams; 

- Specific experience 

- capacity building and transfer of 

knowledge on MCH issues and the estab-

lishment of related M&E systems and pro-

cesses at international level; 

- assessment of performance and quality of 

MCH (and other health care) services; 

- analysis of and reporting on M&E findings 

and development of recommendations; 

- continuous adaptation of M&E systems. 

-  

- Conduct Capacity 

Building in M&E for Im-

plementing Partners 

- Provide training of im-

plementing partners in 

M&E 

- Conduct refresher train-

ings 

- Prepare and conduct 

project mid-term and 

end evaluation 

- Establish project com-

pletion report 

CS02-9 Health Sys-

tems / Moni-

toring and 

Evaluation 

Specialist 

(National) 

- Advanced (university) degree in Public 

Health, Health Care Management or simi-

lar 

- Medical / nursing / midwifery background 

(in the field of maternal and child health) 

- Specific experience 

- Minimum 5 years of professional experi-

ence in implementation and monitoring 

and evaluation of Health projects and pro-

grams; 

- assessment of performance and quality of 

MCH (and other health care) services; 

- analysis of and reporting on M&E findings 

and development of recommendations. 

- Support the Team 

Leader in;  

- Develop M&E opera-

tional manual 

- Develop M&E data col-

lection tool(s) for base-

line and end-line survey 

- Conduct monitoring vis-

its to all project sites 

- Conduct Capacity 

Building in M&E for Im-

plementing Partners 

- Provide training of im-

plementing partners in 

M&E 

- Conduct refresher train-

ings 

- Prepare and conduct 

project mid-term and 

end evaluation 

- Establish project com-

pletion report 

9 

CS02-10 Data Collec-

tion and 

Analysis Ex-

perts (up to 

5) 

- Higher education in Social Sciences 

and/or Statistics or similar field; 

- At least 3 years of experience with re-

search in the Public Health, Social Sci-

ences, Nutrition or similar sectors 

- Communication skills and ability to work in 

a team; 

- Knowledge and skills of working on a PC, 

work in Word, EXCEL, and at least once 

statistical software  

- Specific experience 

- Knowledge of data collection methods and 

tools;  

- Experience with data management includ-

ing data quality assurance and data anal-

ysis 

- Support the other spe-

cialist by 

- Collecting data accord-

ing the requirements 

- Analyze and treat the 

data collected for statis-

tical, monitoring and 

evaluation use 

9 
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v. Qualification of the Firm 

1. For the Infrastructure Component 

The Firm applying for the above-mentioned Consulting services should have a proven track 
record in the management and implementation of health care facility design and construction 
projects as well as in the planning and procurement of medical and non-medical equipment. 
Further, the Firm should have experience with the implementation of ADB funded projects and 
programs in countries with a similar socio-economic background. 

2. For the M&E Component 

The firm should have confirmed successful experience in implementing monitoring and eval-
uation (M&E) schemes for health projects and more specifically for Mother and Child Health 
projects and to manage related processes. The Consultant shall also have experience in mid-
term and project-end evaluations. 

3. For both Components 

The Consultant (Firm or Consortium of Firms) shall provide evidence for their: 

• Availability of competent and experienced personnel; 

• Ability to mobilize appropriate resources and team to successfully complete the assignment 
within a short time; 

• Experience with the provision of technical assistance in international projects;  

• Work experience in CIS/CEE countries. 

Association with national specialized partner firms is strongly advised considering the com-
plexity of the assignment and the specific subjects that must be covered (in addition to design 
and construction management, particularly Financial Management and Health Project Moni-
toring and Evaluation). 
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C. Design and Supervision of Civil Works and Equipment Firm (CS05) 

Objectives of the assignment 

1. The objective of this consultancy is to support the MOHSPP with the planning, procure-
ment, and supervision of construction and rehabilitation works, and the planning, procurement 
and supervision of the installation of medical and non-medical equipment at selected health 
care facilities in the Project’s target districts to improve access to quality maternal and child 
health (MCH) integrated care.  

Scope of Work 

2. The Design and Supervision Consultant will have to fulfil the following tasks  

(i) Develop preliminary a detailed design for rehabilitation works and (new) construction 
of district health care facilities following the infrastructure development program pre-
pared by the TRTA (concept design); 

(ii) Establish the detailed list of equipment and materials to be procured to assure full func-
tioning of the rehabilitated / newly constructed health care facilities; and  

(iii) Supervise construction and rehabilitation works and equipment delivery and installation 
for the following projects: 

District Facility Size 

m2 

Rasht     

 Hospital – MCH – Rehabilitation 1,925 

 District Health Center (DHC) – New 998 

 D&T Block – New  3,024 

 Antepartum Dormitory – Rehabilitation 750 
 

Total Size 6,697 

Fayzobod     

 Hospital - OB/GYN – Rehabilitation 1,980 

 Hospital – Pediatrics - Rehabilitation 525 
 

District Health Center (DHC) – Equipment only 
  

D&T Block – New Construction 3,024 
 

Total Size 5,529 

S. Shohin     
 

Central District Hospital – New Construction 3,745 
 

District Health Center (DHC) 
  

Total Size 3,745 
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3. The firm will closely work with the Executive Agency, the Ministry of Health and Social 
Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan (MOHSPP) and the Project Admin-
istration Group (PAG) and provide services to: 

(i) Review the master plan and concept design and Initial Environmental Examination and 
related documents prepared under the Transaction Technical Assistance (TRTA); 

(ii) Develop tests, preliminary design and equipment and furniture lists and estimates  
(iii) Develop detailed design and technical specifications for materials needed to prepare 

the tender documents for works; 
(iv) Detailed bill of quantities and related item per item estimates  
(v) For equipment medical and non-medical, furniture: define the list of items, bill of quan-

tities, technical specifications, delivery and installation requirements, related services 
and delivery and installation planning to prepare the bidding documents    

(vi) Support the preparation of the bidding documents for works and goods according to 
the last ADB regulations  

(vii) Act as “The Engineer” defined in the MDB FIDIC Conditions of Contract  
(viii) Supervise the construction works as well as deliveries and installations of medical and 

non-medical equipment and furniture; 
(ix) Review the mensal Contractor’s claims and Environmental Management Plan for each 

facility  
(x) Support the EA to manage the Contractors variation order and disputes risks  
(xi) Report on project progress until completion (final reception of works and equipment). 

4. The facilities shall be constructed in a manner that will set standards for the provision 
of quality care, for environmental protection as well as for easy operation and maintenance of 
the infrastructure and its equipment. To achieve this objective, the buildings shall provide sev-
eral energy saving and comfort enhancing features to be developed by the consultant. Electri-
cal power and water supply, sewage and waste treatment, and any other necessary utility must 
be made available considering principles of sustainable operation of the facilities as well as 
the rules of site specific design based on common (national and international) standards.  

5. Contracts for works shall be awarded on behalf of and in cooperation with the Executing 
Agency by way of open competitive bidding. Contracts for the supply of medical equipment 
shall be awarded on behalf of and in cooperation with the Executing Agency by way of open 
competitive bidding; Contracts for the supply of non- medical devices and office equipment 
shall be awarded through open competitive bidding.  

6. Furthermore, the Health Care facilities need to improve their maintenance systems for 
infrastructure (buildings and installations) and for medical and non-medical equipment to sus-
tain operations and value the investments made and still to be made in the development of the 
health care infrastructure. In this context, a strategy shall be developed, and different ap-
proaches and models experimented to attract private sector entities to invest in and support 
the establishment of a public private partnership that would provide both preventive and cura-
tive maintenance services for health care facilities (buildings and installations) and medical 
equipment. 

Specific Tasks and Activities  
 

a. Architectural and Engineering Design 
 
(i) Review and update the concept design developed during TRTA for each facility; adapt 

the design to the local conditions of the selected site; 
(ii) Perform all necessary test (soil, water power supplies, sewages, etc.) to prepare the 

facilities design;  
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(iii) Develop preliminary design for all facilities that includes the technical requirement, list 
of equipment and furniture and the draft of the technical specifications, preliminary es-
timates   

(iv) Develop detailed architectural and engineering design for construction works (detailed 
architectural and engineering drawings ready for construction considering the equip-
ment and furniture installation, the sustainability and the needs for energy supply and 
savings, water supply and sanitations; 

(v) Elaborate Bills of Quantities (BoQ) for civil works with cost estimates and submit for 
approval the detailed design and BOQ for State Expertise; 

(vi) Develop the works and disbursement schedules; 
(vii) Train the PAG staff on facility design and costs estimates based on market price.  
(viii) Assist PAG with the preparation of Bidding Documents for the procurement of works 

through open competitive bidding (OCB) using SBD ADB June 2018 or amended. 
(ix) Support the PAG with the pre-bidding meetings, the answers to bidders’ requests of 

clarifications, bid (technical and financial) evaluations according to ADB regulations 
2017 and amended, preparing the required report, the contracts negotiations and con-
tract preparation.  
 
b. Planning and Procurement of Equipment 

 
(i) Review and develop the equipment and furniture needs for each facility; 
(ii) Assist PAG and the MOHSPP with the procurement of equipment and furniture, verify-

ing the technical specifications and all related services requirements developed by / 
with the MOHSPP staff.   

(iii) Establish BoQ for the procurement of medical and non-medical equipment furniture ICT 
equipment, related services (trainings, users’ manuals, spare parts for 2 years) and 
detailed costs estimated for each facility; 

(iv) Develop all related documents necessary to prepare the bidding documents (SBD ADB 
Goods 2018 as amended from time to time)  

(v) Support the PAG with the pre-bidding meetings, the answers to bidders’ requests of 
clarifications, bid (technical and financial) evaluations according to ADB regulations 
2017 as amended from time to time, preparing the required report, the contracts nego-
tiations and contract preparation. Assist the PAG to technically and financially evaluate 
the bidders and reports preparation 

(vi) Assist the PAG and EA for the contracts negotiations and contract finalizations  
 

c. Supervision of Construction Works and Installation of Equipment and Furniture 
 

i. Act as “The Engineer” according to the FIDIC MDB definition 
- Assist PAG with contracts management and supervision of construction works and 

advise the Employer on all matters pertaining to the contracts and to disputes; 
- Develop a comprehensive system of inspection checking and recording to ensure 

compliance of all works with the specifications; 
- Provide day-to-day supervision and inspection of works on site; maintaining by the 

supervision staff of a site diary covering all contractors’ activities, and recording site 
conditions; 

- Perform at least a weekly visit with the PAG staff and the Health facility staff.  
- Monitor the Contractor’s performance and respect of the works schedules 
- Support the Employer managing the Contractor’s claims, variation orders, etc.  
- Examine and make recommendations to the Employer on all claims from contrac-

tors for time execution, additional payments, work or expenses or similar matters; 
- Develop interim and final measurement and payment systems; establish a monitor-

ing system for costs to date, and costs to completion; 
- Provide the Employer with complete records and assist Contractor(s) with the es-

tablishment of “As Built” drawings; 
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- Certify completion and hand over of parts or all the works and equipment installed; 
develop a system for the preparation of interim and final payment certificates; 

- Assist PAG with provisional and final reception and payment of all buildings. 
-  

(i) Review the Contractor Environment Plan to be in accordance with GoT and ADB reg-
ulations 

(ii) Determine operation and maintenance costs for all facilities buildings  
 

(iii) Assist with the Procurement of Equipment and Furniture 
- Assist the PAG in accepting the proposed Suppliers’ samples; 
- Supervise the delivery and installation of the equipment furniture and of users’ train-

ing by the suppliers; 
- Verify handbooks and training materials provided by the suppliers and the correct-

ness of the translation into Tajik and Russian; 
- Assist the PAG with interim and final payments of suppliers’ claims and payment 

process; 
- Assist the PAG to deal with the Suppliers’ variations order requests  
- Assist PAG with the provisional and final reception of all equipment and furniture 
- Support facility managers with the development and implementation of an equip-

ment maintenance concept & manuals. 
 

(iv) Assist with the Development of a Maintenance System 
 
- Assess existing maintenance systems and the its financing process in the health 

facilities in the concerned district (budgets, staffing, performance in operation, stra-
tegic perspectives)  

- Analyze previous work on maintenance implemented in the sector 
- Identify and document best national and international maintenance practice 
- Cost standard health facilities maintenance and determine the potential sources of 

funding 
- Recommend alternative maintenance models appropriate for Tajikistan, including 

detailed description of their respective financing, staffing and management models 
/ approaches 

- Analyze the hospital buildings and equipment maintenance market in Tajikistan 
- Identify potential partners and propose a strategy to attract them through different 

types of contracts eventually PPP model 
- Provide capacity building for staff / hospital management teams to help them effec-

tively implementing the health facilities building and equipment maintenance prac-
tices 

- Support the development and implementation of a hospital maintenance concept 
and plan with KFW and JICA 

- Support facility managers with the development and implementation of a mainte-
nance concept & manuals. 

 
Deliverables 
 

a) General Reporting Requirements 
 

i. The Consultant shall work directly with structural units of the MOHSPP and health care 
facilities in close interaction with relevant staff of the PAG; 

ii. The Consultant shall be accountable directly to the PAG Manager; 
iii. Produced reports shall contain information on progress achieved, findings identified, 

and recommendations; 
iv. Reports on results of the Consultant’s work shall be agreed with officials in charge 

appointed by the MOHSPP (further on collectively acting as the Client). The timeframe 
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for reconciliation of the reports by the Client given the presentation of comments is 10 
working days.  

v. Design and implementation plan for construction works shall be mutually agreed by the 
MOHSPP, Heads of the Health Care Facilities and the MOF. 
 

b) Specific Reports to be Submitted. 
 
All reports and minutes are to be submitted as follows: 2 copies to the EA/PAG and 1 copy to 
ADB. All reports are also to be submitted electronically in pdf format to all concerned persons. 
All reports shall be issued in the English and the Russian language. 
 

i. Inception Report to be submitted no later than 4 weeks after contract commencement; 
the report shall include review of the concept design and recommendation for design 
development, all necessary testing and equipment lists;  

ii. The Preliminary Design Report taking into consideration Building Energy Management 
to reduce the recurrent costs and all the necessary tests results to develop the designs 
no later than 2 months after the contract commencement; 

iii. The Detail Design Report including technical requirements for works, detailed BoQ and 
estimated costs, works schedules and disbursement plan. The Equipment and furniture 
lists per facilities and technical specifications related services requirements, BOQ per 
facilities, delivery and installation schedules no later than 2 months after receiving the 
Preliminary Design approval.  

iv. Bidding documents for works of the Health Facilities including all necessary drawings 
for the bidding documents, Bills of Quantities (BOQs) with specifications and detailed 
cost estimates for each facility no later than 3 weeks after the approval of the detail 
design report;  

v. Bidding documents for Goods: Medical and Non-medical equipment, furniture, ICT 
equipment for health facilities no later than 6 weeks after the approval of the detail 
design report.  

vi. Pre-bid meetings documentation for works and goods; 
vii. Technical and Financial Evaluation methodology for works and goods, trainings docu-

mentation for the Evaluation Committee    
viii. Supervision reports 

- Daily record book of Contractors’ works; 
- Weekly minutes of meetings with the Contractor, PAG and Facility staff; 
- Monthly reports, including verification and measurement of works performed, veri-

fication of Contractors’ claims (advance payment, interim monthly claims, works 
completion claim and final payments);  

- Verification of the Contractor’s Environmental, Safety and other required Manage-
ment Plans required by Tajik Authorities and/or by ADB;  

- Record and comments on Equipment Delivery Status (equipment, trainings, 
maintenance manuals, and spare-parts delivered / compliance with specifications); 

- Reports on provisional acceptance of works performed and equipment delivered 
and verification of suppliers’ invoices; list of defects that shall be corrected during 
the defects liability period; 

- Report on works performed, and problems occurred during the defect liability pe-
riod; 

- Verification of as-build drawings and all equipment installation fittings; 
- Reports on Final Acceptance of Works and Equipment and related services; Verifi-

cation of Contractors’ and Suppliers’ final invoices; 
- Take-Over Certificates, and Performance Certificates 
- Project Completion Report and a Benefit Monitoring and Evaluation Report in con-

formity with ADB’s guidelines for such reports. 
ix. For the maintenance / physical assets management component 

- Report on the assessment of existing maintenance systems and service providers 
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- Report on alternative models (including e.g. Public-Private Partnership) for the or-
ganization of maintenance services; detailed description of financing, staffing, and 
management requirements 

- Report on standard cost of hospital maintenance 
- Report on pilot projects implementation, including recommendations to the govern-

ment 
- Report on capacity building measures 
- Completion report at the end of the assignment 

 
Required Qualification of the Firm 
 
The Firm shall fulfill the following requirements 
 
(i) Confirmed successful experience in developing the design of health care facilities and 

implementing health care facility projects including equipment and supervision of con-
struction / rehabilitation / modernization works. Successful implementation of at least 3 
hospitals of a size of 100 beds including Mother and Child Health Units; 

(ii) Availability of competent personnel with required experience in hospital design and 
health care facility construction / rehabilitation supervision; 

(iii) Ability to mobilize appropriate resources and team to successfully complete the assign-
ment within the envisaged timeframe; 

(iv) Experience of providing technical support at the international level for a minimum of 4 
years is a mandatory requirement;  

(v) Work experience in countries of CIS/CEE countries will be an asset. 
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D. Integrated Maternal and Child Health and Behavior Change Communica-
tion Firm (CS06 - UNICEF) 

 

Objective. The MOHSPP and PAG will contract UNICEF and will require its support to imple-
ment the set of activities under Output 135 and Output 3, which are in line with the United 
Nations Development Framework as well as the UNICEF Program of Cooperation with the 
Government of Tajikistan. By partnering with UNICEF, it is expected that selected Project in-
terventions will be expanded by existing UNICEF Programming for children in the early years 
in project target districts. 
 

1. Main requirements 
 
Within the frame of this assignment, UNICEF is requested but not limited to meet the following 
requirements: 
 
(i) Ensure Implementation of assigned tasks with high quality and in a timely manner; 
(ii) Regularly invite guidance from and coordinate project implementation and policy re-

lated issues with Project Technical Working Group represented by departments of the 
MOHSPP and subordinated Agencies; 

(iii) Mobilize best technical expertise within and outside the RT to warrant production of 
high quality outputs and contribute to institutional development of organizations and 
individuals targeted by the project; 

(iv) Ensure close coordination with other consultants and development partners; 
(v) Regularly monitor Project implementation progress and introduce course correction 

when required; 
(vi) Regularly report to EA and PAG on the progress achieved, challenges observed during 

the implementation and suggested mitigation measures; 
(vii) Prepare/update implementation plan and budget on a semi-annual basis and submit to 

PAG for approval 
 

i. Specific Objectives and Scope of work 
 
UNICEF is requested to support the MOHSPP in implementation of the following activities: 
 

1. Output 1: Integrated delivery of quality maternal and child care 
services in project districts improved 

 
a. Sub-output 1.1 Health Workforce Planning and Ca-

pacity Building 
 

Objectives of the assignment  
 

i. Design and implementation of the human resources for health management system 
(HRHM) 

ii. Development of a district specific Human Resources for Health (HRH) development 
plan 

iii. Institutional capacity building for continuous medical education 
iv. Development of district specific health human resource training plan for strengthening 

health workforce clinical capacity in project targeted districts 
 

UNICEF will perform the following tasks in close coordination with MOHSPP and other key 
stakeholders: 

                                                
35 with the exception of sub-output 1.4 Case-based Financing 
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Task 1.1.1: Health workforce planning and deployment 

 
i. Development/update of the health workforce registration database (health workforce 

demographics (education, age and sex), employment status, place of deployment and 
composition, etc. by designing of the HRH software module which could potentially be 
linked to the Health Management Information System (HMIS); 

ii. Develop operational manual and step-by-step guide for the use of the health workforce 
registration database 

iii. Train responsible people at the MOHSPP and in project districts in use of the health 
workforce registration database and reporting forms 

iv. Register health workforce in project targeted districts 
v. Develop health workforce plan for project targeted districts  

 
Task 1.1.2: Institutional capacity building for continuous medical education 

 
i. Institutional assessment of the public agencies providing continuous medical education 

and identification of the public agency best placed to coordinate, plan and monitor im-
plementation of the CME 

ii. Design of the institutional capacity development plan 
iii. Develop institutional capacity building training curriculum and materials 
iv. Conduct a series of the institutional capacity development workshops, seminars etc. 
v. Elaboration of the baseline and end-line institutional development assessment meth-

odology and tools and report on the results achieved 
 

Task 1.1.3: Strengthening clinical capacities in project targeted districts 
 

i. Define key clinical training modules/packages for capacity building of the MCH health 
workforce in project targeted districts 

ii. Develop MCH HRH training plan for project targeted districts 
iii. Standardize training and trainee evaluation methodology/approaches 
iv. Support PAG in development of the standard training reporting template 

Key Milestones and Deliverables 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due 

date 

1.1.1 HRH database designed and piloted 

in project districts 

Software generated report on 

HRH status in project districts 

By November 

2019 

Operational manual and step-by-step 

guide for the use of the HRH registra-

tion database developed  

Operational manual and step-by-

step guide in both, English and 

Russian languages 

By November 

2019 

Responsible people at the MOHSPP 

and in project districts trained in use 

of the health workforce registration 

database and reporting forms 

Training Report By November 

2019 

HRH plan for project targeted dis-

tricts developed, submitted and dis-

cussed with HR Department of the 

MOHSPP and District Health Author-

ities 

District specific HRH plan By June 2021 
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Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due 

date 

1.1.2 Institutional assessment of the public 

agencies providing continuous medi-

cal education completed and public 

agency best placed to coordinate, 

plan and monitor implementation of 

the CME identified 

Report on the institutional as-

sessment of the public agencies 

providing continuous medical 

education and proposed CME 

system design and institutionali-

zation plan 

By November 

2019 

Stakeholder consultation and con-

sensus building workshops orga-

nized for institutionalization of CME 

Materials of consensus building 

workshops (list of participants, 

presentations, etc.) 

By March 2020 

CME institutional development plan 

developed and endorsed by 

MOHSPP 

CME institutional development 

plan 

By November 

2019 

Baseline and end line institutional de-

velopment assessment methodology 

and tools developed 

institutional development as-

sessment methodology and 

tools 

By November 

2019 

End-line CME institutional assess-

ment completed 

End-line CME institutional as-

sessment report  

By November 

2022 

1.1.3 MCH HRH training plan per each pro-

ject district developed and approved 

by HR department of the MOHSPP 

Annual training plan per district, 

which contains list of training 

modules, number of trainings, 

participants, dates  

By May 2019 

MCH workforce in project targeted 

districts are trained according ap-

proved training plan 

Annual training report per district Annually 

Simulation modules for the training 

class in Rasht procured 

List of simulation modules pro-

cured and delivery report 

By November 

2021  

Mamanatalie and Neonatalie simula-

tion modules procured and delivered 

to project targeted Central District 

Hospitals and at CME institutions 

Simulation module delivery re-

port 

By November 

2019 

 

Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

1.1.1 Health Human 

Resource Expert 

- A Master’s degree in Human Resources Management, Labour Law, 

Business Administration, Psychology or related fields; 

- Minimum 10 years of practical experience in strategic planning of 

health human resources; 

- Recent experience (within the past 5 years) in implementation of pro-

jects on reform of health human resource planning systems in coun-

tries with transition economies and experience of working with top-

management of national ministries and local authorities would be an 

advantage; 

- Experience in providing technical advice, capacity building, and 

knowledge transfer 
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Task Key expertise Qualifications 

- Excellent communication skills, analytical skills, ability to lead a team 

of experts and researchers; 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

 Software devel-

opment expert 

- Advanced degree (Master’s level) in a relevant field (computer sci-

ence, data/information management, econometrics, advanced statis-

tical analysis, information technology, software engineering).   

- Minimum 10 years’ experience related to data management/database 

development and archiving, including use of web-enabled platforms 

and common statistical analysis tools 

- Recent experience (within the past 3 years) in database design and 

maintenance in countries with transition economies 

- Experience of working with top-management of national ministries 

and local authorities would be an advantage 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

1.1.2 Institutional De-

velopment ex-

pert  

- Specializes in economics and/or public health and/or health policy, 

and has Master's or PhD degree in related area(s); 

- Minimum 10 years of practical experience in institutional assessment, 

strategic planning and institutional capacity building (mandatory); 

- Recent experience (within the past 5 years) in implementation of in-

stitutional development projects in countries with transition econo-

mies and experience of working with top-management of national 

ministries and local authorities would be an advantage; 

- Extensive experience of working in countries with different govern-

ance systems 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

1.1.3 Training and ca-

pacity building 

expert 

- Advanced University degree in Medicine  

- Proven extensive experience of technical consultancy, capacity build-

ing and transfer of knowledge in health sector reforms and manage-

ment of projects on health systems reform at the national level; 

- Minimum 5 years of practical experience in developing training mod-

ules, training materials, training evaluation methods and tools, de-

velop training plan, and maintain training calendar 

- Demonstrated ability to work in a multi-disciplinary team environment 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

 
b. Sub-output 1.2: Operationalization of effective refer-

ral systems 

The objective of this sub-output is to develop/refine the referral and counter-referral algorithms 
and pathways to ensure continuity of care. UNICEF will perform the following tasks in close 
coordination with MOHSPP and other key stakeholders: 
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i. Assess the legal framework regulating MCH referrals and follow-up between differ-
ent levels of health care 

ii. Design/revise the MCH referral and counter-referral pathways 
iii. Develop a mobile application and technical specifications for mobile equipment re-

quired to improve communication between referring health facilities 
iv. Build capacity of MCH health personnel in application of mobile application 
v. Training of MCH health workforce in application of referral and counter-referral path-

ways 
vi. Development of indicators for monitoring compliance with referral and counter refer-

ral pathways. 

Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

1 Legal framework regulating MCH refer-

rals and follow-up between different lev-

els of health care reviewed and recom-

mendations elaborated 

Report on the legal review By November 2019 

2 MCH referral and counter-referral path-

ways designed and approved by the 

MOHSPP 

MCH referral and counter-referral 

pathways 

By May 2020 

3 Mobile application for the improvement of 

communication between referring health 

facilities operational 

Progress Report By November 2020 

4 MCH health personnel trained in applica-

tion of mobile application 

Training report By September 2020 

5 MCH health personnel trained in applica-

tion of referral and counter-referral path-

ways 

Training reports By November 2022 

6 Indicators for monitoring compliance with 

referral and counter referral pathways de-

veloped and approved by MOHSPP 

Indicators for monitoring compliance 

with referral and counter referral 

pathways 

By July 2020 

 

Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

1 MCH Expert - Advanced university degree in Public Health, Medicine 

- Proven experience of adapting global standards and guidelines to developing 

countries context 

- Proven experience of developing competency based training materials and 

conducting competency-based training 

- Minimum 5 years of practical experience in developing MNCH guidelines and 

protocols training modules and MCH service supervision, monitoring and 

evaluation tools; 

- Recent experience (within the past 3-5 years) in implementation of projects 

on reform of MCH systems in countries with transition economies as well as 

experience of working with top-management of national ministries and local 

authorities would be an advantage; 

- Excellent writing, analytical and interpersonal skills, ability to lead a team of 

experts; 

- Excellent communication skills, analytical skills, ability to lead a team of ex-

perts and researchers; 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 
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- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

2 Software develop-

ment expert 

- Advanced degree (Master’s level) in a relevant field (computer science, 

data/information management, econometrics, advanced statistical analysis, 

information technology, software engineering).   

- Minimum 10 years’ experience related to data management/database devel-

opment and archiving, including use of web-enabled platforms and common 

statistical analysis tools 

- Recent experience (within the past 3 years) in database design and mainte-

nance in countries with transition economies and experience of working with 

top-management of national ministries and local authorities would be an ad-

vantage 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

 
c. Sub-output 1.3  Institutionalization of Continu-

ous Quality Improvement 
The objective of this sub-output is to support the MOHSPP in the development of the continu-
ous quality improvement (CQI) system in Republic of Tajikistan. UNICEF will perform the fol-
lowing tasks in close coordination with key stakeholders: 
 

Task 1.3.1: Design of Continuous Quality Improvement System (CQI) 
 

(i) Revision/development of the CQI system design based on the evaluation re-
sults of UNICEF CQI pilot 

(ii) Institutional capacity assessment of the agency responsible for CQI 
(iii) Develop CQI operational manual (including tools and processes) 
(iv) Design of the institutional capacity development plan and implementation 
(v) Revision/refinement of CQI tools and processes as needed 

 
Task 1.3.2: Enhance facility based MCH CQI practices 

 
(i) Development of CQI training curricula and materials 
(ii) TOT training of CQI master trainers 
(iii) Training of health facility management and staff in application and CQI 
(iv) Design facility Score Cards 

 
Task 1.3.3: Institutionalization of MCH supportive supervision system 

 
(i) Refinement of the Supportive Supervision system design, methods, processes, 

tools 
(ii) Development of Supportive Supervision operational manual 
(iii) Capacity building of staff responsible for supportive Supervision 
(iv) Evaluation of the effectiveness of Supportive Supervision 
(v) Refinement of Supportive Supervision system and practices as necessary 

 
Task 1.3.4: Improving Infection control Practices 

 
(i) Develop up-to-date infection control (IC) policy, facility specific plans and clini-

cal practice guidelines 
(ii) TOT training in infection control 
(iii) Support the introduction of IC sub-committees in health facilities 
(iv) Put in place a follow-up & monitoring scheme of the IC measures in liaison with 

IC Committees and IC officers 
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Task 1.3.5: Improving waste management Practices 
(i) Develop/revise national medical waste management policy 
(ii) Develop medical waste management operational manual and SOPs 
(iii) TOT training in waste management 

 
Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due 

date 

1.3.1 CQI system designed based on the 

evaluation results of UNICEF CQI pi-

lot and approved by MOHSPP 

CQI system designed By November 

2019 

Institutional capacity assessment of 

the agency responsible for CQI com-

pleted and institutional capacity 

building plan approved  

Report on institutional capacity 

assessment of agency responsi-

ble for CQI 

Institutional development plan  

By November 

2020 

CQI operational manual (including 

tools and processes) and pocket 

guide developed 

CQI operational manual By November 

2020 

Design facility Score Cards Facility Score Cards By November 

2020 

1.3.2 CQI training curricula and materials 

developed 

CQI training curricula and mate-

rials 

By April 2020 

TOT training of CQI master trainers 

completed 

TOT report including List of CQI 

master Trainers 

By July 2020 

Health facility management and staff 

trained in application of CQI methods 

Training Report including list of 

participants  

By November 

2020 

Staff of Project targeted facilities 

trained in CQI methods 

Training Report including list of 

participants 

By July 2021 

1.3.3 Supportive Supervision (SS) system 

designed and SS operational manual 

developed and approved by 

MOHSPP 

Supportive Supervision (SS) 

system design and operational 

manual 

By July 2020 

Staff responsible for Supportive Su-

pervision trained 

Training Report including list of 

participants 

By November 

2020 

SS visits to project districts and facil-

ities regularly carried out 

SS annual reports  Annually, starting 

from Q 1, 2021 

Effectiveness of Supportive Supervi-

sion evaluated 

Evaluation Report June 2022 

1.3.4 MCH guidelines revised/updated and 

approved by MOHSPP 

MOHSPP Decree  By November 

2019 

Master Trainers trained in application 

of revised MCH guidelines 

Training Report including list of 

participants 

By November 

2020 

1.3.5 Infection control (IC) policy, facility 

specific plans and practice guidelines 

developed 

MOHSPP Decree approving IC 

policy 

By July 2021 
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Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due 

date 

Facility IC plans approved by fa-

cility management 

Infection Control training curricula 

and materials development 

Infection Control training curric-

ula and materials 

By September 

2021 

Master trainers trained in IC Training Report including list of 

participants 

By December 

2021 

Supportive supervisors & Sanitary 

Department Staff (SES) trained in in-

fection control at national and district 

level 

Training Report including list of 

participants 

By December 

2021 

1.3.6 National medical waste management 

policy revised and approved by 

MOHSPP 

MOHSPP Decree approving 

waste management policy 

By July 2020 

Waste management operational 

manual and SOPs developed and 

approved 

MOHSPP Decree approving 

waste management operational 

manual and SOPs 

By July 2020 

Waste management training curric-

ula and materials development 

Waste management training cur-

ricula and materials 

By December 

2020 

Master trainers trained in waste man-

agement 

Training Report including list of 

participants 

By March 2021 

Supportive supervisors & Sanitary 

Department Staff (SES) trained in 

waste management at national and 

district level 

Training Report including list of 

participants 

By September 

2021 

 

Required key experts and qualifications: 

Out-

put 

Key expertise Qualifications 

1.3.1 Health quality expert - Advanced university degree in Public Health, Epidemiology, So-

cial Science 

- Proven experience of adapting global standards and guidelines 

to developing countries context 

- Proven experience of developing competency based training 

materials and conducting competency-based training 

1.3.5 

&1.3.6 

Medical waste and In-

fection Control Expert 

- Advanced university degree in Public Health, Medicine 

- Proven experience of adapting global standards and guidelines 

to developing countries context 

- Proven experience of developing competency based training 

materials and conducting competency-based training 

- Previous work experience in developing health care quality pol-

icies and designing and implementing interventions to improve 

health care quality 
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- Recent experience (within the past 3-5 years) in implementation 

of projects on health quality improvement in countries with tran-

sition economies as well as experience of working with top-

management of national ministries and local authorities would 

be an advantage 

- Excellent writing, analytical and interpersonal skills, ability to 

lead a team of experts; 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 
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2. Output 3: Knowledge on maternal and child health and health 
seeking behaviors in project districts improved. 

 
d. Sub-output 3.1: Enhance capacity of the National 

Healthy lifestyle Center and strengthen partnership 
with relevant stakeholders 

 
Main objective of this sub-output is to develop the Institutional capacity building of the Repub-
lican Healthy Lifestyle Center and its local branches. UNICEF will perform the following tasks 
in close collaboration with MOHSPP and other key stakeholders: 
 
(i) Institutional Assessment of the Republican Healthy Lifestyle Center (RHLC) 
(ii) Development of the RHLC institutional capacity building plan 
(iii) Implementation of the RHLC institutional capacity building at national and district levels 

 
Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

1. Institutional Assessment of the Republican Healthy 

Lifestyle Center (RHLC) 

Report  By March 2020 

2. Stakeholder consultation and consensus building 

workshops 

Report By March 2020 

3. Implementation of the RHLC institutional capacity 

building at national and district levels 

Training report By November 2022 

 

Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

 Institutional Develop-

ment expert  

- Specializes in economics and/or public health and/or health policy, and 

has Master's or PhD degree in related area(s); 

- Minimum 10 years of practical experience in institutional assessment, 

strategic planning and institutional capacity building (mandatory); 

- Recent experience (within the past 5 years) in implementation of insti-

tutional development projects in countries with transition economies 

and experience of working with top-management of national ministries 

and local authorities would be an advantage; 

- Extensive experience of working in countries with different governance 

systems 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

 
e. Sub-output 3.2: Development of the district specific 

BCC strategy 
 

Main objectives of this sub-output are: 
 
(i) Develop district specific BCC strategy based on the findings of the baseline Knowledge, 

Attitude and Practice Survey 
(ii) Ensure implementation of district specific BCC strategies 
(iii) Monitor implementation of BCC strategies and revise as deemed necessary based on 

the findings of the midline KAP survey 
(iv) Measure the progress in narrowing knowledge gaps, changing cultural beliefs, behav-

ioral patterns and practices. 
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UNICEF will perform the following tasks in close coordination with MOHSPP and other key 
stakeholders: 
 

c. Baseline KAP Survey 
(i) To establish a baseline regarding knowledge and practices of the community 

about key health related issues in project targeted districts 
(ii) To identify the priority needs in health promotion 
(iii) Based on the findings of the KAP survey formulate appropriate IPC messages 

for different sections of society (Women, men, children, elders, decision mak-
ers, health managers and policy makers). 

 
d. Midline KAP Survey 
(i) To measure effectiveness of the district specific BCC strategy through generat-

ing midline data on knowledge, attitudes and practices in the project districts 
(ii) To determine any positive or negative change in behavior change of target pop-

ulation groups 
(iii) Recommend appropriate revisions and course correction actions. 

 
e. End-line KAP Survey 
(i) To generate end-line data on knowledge, attitudes and practices in the project 

districts 
(ii) To create better understanding of the change in knowledge, attitudes and prac-

tices among the project beneficiaries  
(iii) To determine any change in capacities in terms of service delivery by Commu-

nity health workers, community volunteers and peer educators. 
(iv) To determine any positive or negative change (post project) in availability and 

quality of key health services such as uptake of antenatal, postnatal and insti-
tutional deliveries, immunization, well child care and health seeking behavior in 
the presence of danger signs for both mother and child. 
 

The surveys should establish information on but not limited to: 
 
(i) Knowledge of Maternal and Child Health related issues; 
(ii) Thoughts about health system response to MCH 
(iii) Early seeking care practices or other actions related to MCH 
(iv) Sources of messages (though inadequate) about MCH 
(v) Preferred means of communication utilized to access information related to Maternal 

and Child Health 
(vi) Knowledge on importance of antenatal and postnatal services and why women use 

these services 
(vii) Knowledge on importance of facility-based deliveries and anything associated with 

skilled birth attendants Scope of service 
(viii) Knowledge on diarrhea prevention and treatment particularly home-based care 
(ix) Knowledge on infant and young child feeding practices (IYCF) at the community level 

and community attitudes, behavior and belief on key optimum IYCF practice 
(x) Knowledge on key health / hygiene messages& practices  
 

Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

3.2.1 Baseline KAP survey  Report on baseline KAP survey By July 2019 

3.2.2 Stakeholder workshop Report By September 2019 
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Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

3.2.3 District Specific BCC strategies devel-

oped and agreed by NHLC 

District Specific BCC strategies By November 2022 

3.2.4 Monitoring of BCC implementation in pro-

ject districts 

Monitoring reports Regular 

3.2.5 Midline KAP survey conducted Report on midline KAP survey By June 2023 

3.2.6 End line KAP Survey Report on end line KAP survey By November 2024 

 

Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

3.2 Researcher  - A master’s degree in Public Health and relevant certified training in par-

ticipatory M&E, Results Based M&E and Results based management. 

- Experience in quantitative and qualitative data analysis, policy (and fi-

nance) analysis (including experience in the consistent use of age and 

sex-disaggregated and gender sensitive data) and report preparation 

- Proven at least 3 years’ experience in statistical data analysis  

- At least 5 years’ proven experience in the design and implementation 

of KAP surveys 

- Strong analytical skills and ability to clearly synthesize and present find-

ings, draw practical conclusions, make recommendations and to pre-

pare well-written reports in a timely manner 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

3.2 Communications Spe-

cialist 

- Advanced degree in one or more of the following disciplines: Mass 

Communications; Development Communication; Organizational Com-

munications, Journalism, or other relevant fields. 

- Demonstrate prior experience (at least 5 years) in developing MCH 

communication strategy, ideally in the development context 

- At least five (10) years of relevant experience in developing, designing, 

production and publishing/dissemination/airing of communication prod-

ucts using various media 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

-  

 
f. Sub-output 3.3: Community mobilization 

 
Main objectives of this sub-output are to strengthen capacity and knowledge of communities 
on MCH issues and ensure stronger linkage with health facilities through mobilization of village 
community members and local governments. 
UNICEF will perform the following tasks in close coordination with MOHSPP and other key 
stakeholders: 
 
(i) Development of the community mobilization strategy and delivery channels and modes 
(ii) Organization of community sensitization events (meeting, workshops, etc.) 
(iii) Training of community members on route cause analysis and planning 
(iv) Administration of small grants for the development of the community-based BCC activ-

ities 
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Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

3.3.1 Development of the community mobiliza-

tion strategy  

Community mobilization strategy By November 2019 

3.3.2 Organization of community sensitization 

events 

Report Annually 

3.3.3 Development of the training materials on 

route cause analysis and planning 

Training materials By November 2019 

3.3.4 Small grants manual developed and ap-

proved by MOHSPP 

Small grants manual By November 2019 

 Training of community members in route 

cause analysis and planning 

Training reports, Progress reports By June 2020 

3.3.5 Administration of small grants Report on awarded small grants Annual starting 

from 2020 

3.2.7 Monitoring of small grants implementa-

tion 

Monitoring reports Regular 

 

Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

3.3 Small Grants expert - A master’s degree in Social Science or other related disciplines 

- Experience in developing operational manuals for administration of 

small grants programs 

- Proven 5 years’ experience in the design and implementation of small 

grants programs ideally in the development context  

- Familiarity with Tajikistan context 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

 

g. Sub-output 3.4: Development of technically sound, 

culturally relevant, visually attractive, and effective 

job aids 

Main objectives of this sub-output are to develop technically sound, culturally relevant, visually 

attractive information materials for the health workers and communities. UNICEF will perform 

the following tasks in close coordination with MOHSPP and other key stakeholders: 

(i) Design of the job- aids 
(ii) Testing and finalization of job aids  
(iii) Printing of district specific job aids 

Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

3.4.1 Job -aids designed, tested and finalized Job aids By June 2020 

3.3.2 Job -aids printed and distributed Report Annually 
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Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

3.4.1 Communications Spe-

cialist 

- Advanced degree in one or more of the following disciplines: Mass 

Communications; Development Communication; Organizational Com-

munications, Journalism, or other relevant fields. 

- Demonstrate prior experience (at least 5 years) in developing MCH 

communication materials, ideally in the development context 

- At least five (10) years of relevant experience in developing, designing, 

production and publishing/dissemination/airing of communication prod-

ucts using various media 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

3.4.2 Graphic Designer - Strong theoretical and practical background in graphic design, including 

the use of design software such as Adobe Design Premium, In-Design, 

CorelDraw, web design tools such as Dreamweaver and Flash, etc. 

- Show a clear and mature style of design, demonstrating an understand-

ing of the communication requirements  

- Proven experience of graphic production from start to published/printed 

product with knowledge of printing processes (offset and digital) and 

color management;  

- Good understanding of new and evolving technologies and digital plat-

forms;  

- Knowledge of standard software packages, including MS Office– MS 

Access–MS Visio –Adobe Acrobat;  

- Working experience in development or humanitarian environment is de-

sirable 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 

-  

 

h. Sub-output 3.5: Counselling capacity development 

of health workers and community members 

The main objective of this sub-output is to capacitate health providers and community mem-

bers in counselling of target population groups on health seeking behaviors and issues related 

to MCH. UNICEF will perform the following tasks in close coordination with MOHSPP and other 

key stakeholders: 

(i) Development of the counselling training curricula and materials for both, health workers 
and community members; and 

(ii) Training of health workers and community members 
 

Key Milestones and Deliverables: 

Task Key Milestones Deliverables Tentative due date 

3.5.1 Counselling training curricula and materi-

als 

Training materials By June 2019 

3.5.2 TOT in project districts carried out Training report and supporting mate-

rials 

By November 2019 
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Required key experts and qualifications: 

Task Key expertise Qualifications 

3.4.1 Communications Spe-

cialist 

- Advanced degree in one or more of the following disciplines: Commu-

nications, Psychology, Social Science 

- Minimum 7 years of progressively responsible relevant experience in 

the development of counselling programs in the Health sector 

- Excellent communication, analytical and team working skills 

- Proficiency in English language is essential; 

- Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage 
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E. Pilot Case-based Financing Firm 

1. Objectives of the assignment 

The objective of this consultancy is to support the MOHSPP and MOF in the development / 

improvement of the case-based financing methodology to ensure budget calculation and fi-

nancing effectiveness of the integrated MCH health system and pilot the case-based financing 

mechanism at project district hospital(s) 

ii. Scope of the Assignment  

The consultant firm will perform the following tasks in close coordination with key stakeholders: 

3. Design the Case-based Financing System 

• Support MOHSPP and MOF in the design of a case-based financing scheme for inpatient 

MCH services. 

• Assist in the revision/adjustment of the regulatory framework for government approval of 

the case-based financing pilot. 

• Develop phased implementation plan for the introduction of the case-based financing pilot 

in project target districts. 

4. Facilitate the Introduction of a Virtual Salary Calculation 

System 

• Develop / revise / adjust instructions for salary calculation in case-based financing pilot 

regions 

• Analyze and present / discuss results of the virtual salary calculation system for case-

based financing pilot regions to key stakeholders. 

• Develop and revise, when necessary, M&E framework for the salary calculation system 

of case-based financing 

5.  Ensure Development and Implementation of the In-

formation System to track case-based financing and financ-

ing of referral services  

• Develop unified information system / database for registration and tracking of services fi-

nanced through case-based financing including referral cases 

• Develop indicators for monitoring of compliance with referral and counter referral pathways 

• Design data input forms, analytical framework, and reporting forms 

• Develop technical specifications for computer equipment required to improve communica-

tion between referring health facilities, local government financial department, MOF, 

MOHSPP 

6. Provide Guidance and Technical Support during all phases 

of the case-based financing pilot system implementation 

• Regularly monitor implementation of the case-based financing system in pilot districts and 

ensure revision/adjustment as needed 

• Present results to the MOHSPP, MOF, Local Governments, Partners, etc. 

7.  Train Hospital Staff in the Application of the Case-

based Financing System  

• Train hospital management teams in application of case-based financing principle 
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• Build capacity of health personnel, data input operators, statisticians, accountants, and 

economists, in applying the case-based information system. 

• Train MCH health workforce in application of software for the improvement of compliance 

with referral and counter-referral pathways 

iii. Deliverables 

All reports and minutes are to be submitted as follows: 2 copies to EA/PAG and 1 copy to ADB. 

All reports are also to be submitted electronically, as email attachments in pdf format to all 

concerned persons. All reports shall be issued in English and Russian. 

(i) Inception Report to be submitted no later than 4 weeks after contract commencement; 
the report shall include review of the case-based financing concept design and recom-
mendation for its development  
 

(ii) Report 1: Design of the case-based financing system:  

• Report on recommended revision/adjustment of the regulatory framework for case-
based financing 

• Approved concept document on case-based financing  

• Revised/adjusted regulatory document(s) for government approval on the case-
based financing pilot (if needed), with phased implementation plan for introduction 
of the case-based financing pilot in project target districts 

• Report and data analyses for MOHSPP and MOF about introduction of the virtual 
case-based financing pilot. The report shall be issued 4 weeks after the approval 
of the Inception report 
 
 

(iii) Report 2: Introduction of the virtual salary calculation system for case-based financing 
report 

• Report on the revision/adjustment of the instruction for salary calculation in case-
based financing pilot districts 

• Report on results and analysis of introduction of the virtual salary calculation system 
for case-based financing in pilot districts 

• M&E framework for the salary calculation system for case-based financing 
 

(iv) Report 3: Development and implementation of the information system to track case-
based financing and financing of referral services 

• Terms of References for case - based financing and referral information system. 

• Standard data input and reporting forms for referral and financing information sys-
tem 

• Technical specifications for ICT equipment 

• Referral and financial information system software 
 

(v) Report 4: Guidance and technical support during all phases of the case-based financ-
ing pilot 

• Set of indicators for monitoring of the implementation of the case-based financing 
pilot 

• Monitoring reports on implementation progress and challenges 

• Reports on presentations of results to (workshops with) the MOHSPP, MoF, Local 
Governments, Partners, etc. 

• Workshop agenda 

• List of participants 

• Power Point Presentation on results of the case-based financing 

• Summary of issues discussed and follow-up actions 
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(vi) Report 5: Training in application of the case-based financing system  

• Capacity building plan  

• Training curriculum and materials 
✓ Training of hospital management teams, accountants, economists 
✓ Training of MOHSPP, MOF, Local legal authority staff 
✓ Coaching on work and support in budget preparation and execution 

 
(vii) Report 6: Training in using the financial/statistical information system (data entry and 

analysis) 

• Capacity building plan  

• Training curriculum and materials 
✓ Training of health personnel, statisticians in filling data registration forms, 
✓ Training of data input operators, statisticians in applying the system, 
✓ Training of hospital management teams, statistician, accountants, economists 
✓ Training of MOHSPP, MOF, Local executive bodies staff in applying system, re-

porting, monitoring of the system. 
 

iv. Requirements 

• The Consultants shall work directly with related units of the MOHSPP, Health providers 

and development partners in close interaction with relevant staff of the Project Administra-

tion Group (hereinafter – the PAG) and consultants working on the MCH referral system 

development.  

• The Consultants shall be accountable directly to the PAG Manager. 

• Produced reports shall contain information on progress achieved, findings identified, and 

recommendations on improving the processes with specification of sources of materials. 

Reports on results of Consultant’s work shall be agreed with officials in charge appointed 

by the MOHSPP). The timeframe for reconciliation of reports commented by the Client is 

15 working days.  

• Design and implementation plan of the case-based financing system should be mutually 

agreed by the MOHSPP and MOF 

v. Qualification requirements 

Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

CS07-1 Lead Health 

Care Financ-

ing Specialist 

Advanced (university) degree 

in Finance and Economics, 

Health Economics, Health Pol-

icy, Public Financial Manage-

ment or similar field;  

Experience in health budget 

planning and monitoring of 

budget execution 

Experience in developing ma-

terials for and in conducting 

competency-based training 

At least 10 years of experience 

with the development and im-

plementation of health care fi-

nancing reforms; 

- Design of the case-based financing sys-

tem 

- Support MOHSPP and MOF in the de-

sign of a case-based financing scheme 

for in-patient MCH services 

- Assist in the revision/adjustment of the 

regulatory document for government ap-

proval of the case-based financing pilot 

- Develop phased implementation plan for 

the introduction of the case-based fi-

nancing pilot in project target districts 

- Design and develop specific tasks for 

national health financing specialist 

- Facilitate the introduction of a virtual sal-

ary calculation system for case-based fi-

nancing in pilot districts 

14 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

Excellent writing, analytical and 

interpersonal skills, ability to 

lead a team of experts; 

Excellent knowledge and skills 

in using spread-sheet software 

(EXCEL, ACCESS) 

Specific experience 

Experience in the development 

of health financing and health 

care specifically with case 

based and per capita fee sys-

tems activities related to data 

and information management 

systems to support claims and 

payment of provider pro-

cesses;  

Track record in managing oper-

ations and coordinating people, 

agencies and resources 

through a task network (this 

Consultant should be able to 

provide a range of services);  

At least 10 years of experience 

in developing health services 

budget calculation methods 

and related guidelines, training 

modules, monitoring and eval-

uation tools 

 

- Develop / revise / adjust instructions for 

salary calculation in case-based financ-

ing pilot districts 

- Analyze and present / discuss results of 

the virtual salary calculation system for 

case-based financing pilots to key 

stakeholders 

- Develop and revise, when necessary, 

M&E framework for the salary calcula-

tion system of case-based financing 

- Design and develop specific tasks for 

the information system to track case-

based financing and financing of referral 

services 

- Define data to be recorded in the unified 

information system database to allow for 

the analysis of case-based financing 

and referral services 

- Participate in the design of the data input 

forms, analytical framework, and report-

ing forms 

- Provide guidance and technical support 

during all phases of the case-based fi-

nancing pilot 

- Regularly monitor implementation of the 

case-based financing pilot in target dis-

tricts and support revision/adjustment as 

needed 

- Present results to the MOHSPP, MOF, 

Local Governments, Partners, etc. 

- Train staff in budgeting and the applica-

tion of the case-based financing system  

- Train hospital management teams, ac-

countants, economists in 

- Train MOHSPP, MOF, Local legal au-

thority staff 

- Coach during day-to-day work and sup-

port budget preparation and execution 

CS07-2 Software Ar-

chitect and 

Information 

Technology - 

International 

Expert 

Master’s degree in computer 

science or engineering 

Medical background is highly 

desirable 

Proven experience in software 

engineering and/or software 

development 

At least 10 years of experience 

in data management / data-

base development and archiv-

ing, including use of web-ena-

bled platforms and common 

statistical analysis tools 

Specific Experience  

Ability to develop software in 

C# or other programming lan-

guages  

- Ensure development and implementa-

tion of the information system to track 

case-based financing and financing of 

referral services  

- Develop unified information system / da-

tabase for registration and tracking of 

services financed through case-based 

financing and of referral services 

- Design / develop data input forms, ana-

lytical framework and reporting forms 

- Develop technical specifications for 

computer equipment required to im-

prove communication between referring 

health facilities, local government’s fi-

nancial department, MOF, and 

MOHSPP; 

- Work closely with Health financing inter-

national consultant and Health financing 

6 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

Experience in designing inter-

active applications  

Experience with test-driven de-

velopment  

Ability to document require-

ments and specifications 

experience related to design 

and implementation of national 

health information systems, 

working with governmental or-

ganizations and/or interna-

tional development coopera-

tion programs 

Excellent knowledge of rela-

tional databases, SQL and 

ORM technologies (Entity 

framework, Hibernate) 

Experience in developing web 

applications using at least one 

popular web framework (ASP 

MVC, etc.) 

national specialist on specific tasks to 

track case-based financing and referral 

services 

- Set up environment for software devel-

opers including source code manage-

ment system 

- Manage the implementation of the sys-

tem in the production environment 

- Manage the lifecycle of the software; 

- Follow-up with programmers, testing 

specialists and database developers 

- Assure software maintenance; collect 

feedback from end users; create new re-

quirements based on the feedback from 

the users. Manage the software update 

lifecycle. 

CS07-3 Health Care 

Financing 

Specialist 

(National) 

Advanced (university) degree 

in Finance and Economics or 

similar field; 

At least 10 years of profes-

sional experience in health ser-

vice management / health 

economy / health care financ-

ing 

Specific experience 

Basic knowledge of health 

budget planning and health fi-

nancing; 

Knowledge in medical services 

cost construction and price cal-

culation methods, 

Experience in developing ana-

lytical studies/ reports, and in 

data collection; 

Experience in data analysis, 

modeling and budget calcula-

tions 

Communication skills and abil-

ity to work in a team; 

Knowledge and skills in work-

ing with standard software ap-

plications  

Experience in per capita fi-

nancing, case-based financing 

in the health sector; 

- Design the case-based financing sys-

tem 

- Support International Consultant in the 

understanding of the local specific con-

text, for better design of the case-based 

financing of the in-patient MNCH ser-

vices 

- Assist International Consultant in the re-

vision/adjustment of the regulatory doc-

ument for government approval of the 

case-based financing pilot 

- Collect data based on forms prepared 

by International Consultant; analyze and 

evaluate data and send results to Inter-

national Consultant. 

- Facilitate the Introduction of the virtual 

salary calculation system for case-

based financing in pilot districts 

- Provide necessary information and doc-

uments on current salary calculation 

system and special regulations in calcu-

lation of hospital staff wages; 

- Collect data based on forms prepared 

by International Consultant, collect, an-

alyze, and evaluate data and send re-

sults to International Consultant 

- Participate in every stage of develop-

ment of the information system to track 

case-based financing and financing of 

referral services  

- Participate in the testing of the infor-

mation system, verify input of financial 

data, automatic calculations, financial 

parts of reporting forms 

11 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

Experience in conducting train-

ings related to finance and 

budgeting for at least 3 years; 

- Provide guidance and technical support 

during all phases of the case-based fi-

nancing pilot 

- Regularly monitor implementation of the 

case-based financing system 

- Conduct visits to pilot districts and en-

sure quality of data provided in the forms  

- Support International Consultant and if 

necessary to present results to the 

MOHSPP, MoF, Local Governments, 

Partners, etc. 

- Coaching and on-job support to the hos-

pital staff in application of case-based fi-

nancing principle, regulations, data tran-

sition, etc. 

CS07-4 Software De-

veloper 

Bachelor’s degree in computer 

science or engineering. 

Good understanding of object-

oriented programming 

Understanding of fundamental 

design principles behind a scal-

able application 

Creating database schemes 

that represent and support 

business processes 

Familiarity with various design 

and architectural patterns and 

with Microsoft SQL Server 

Specific Experience 

experience in programming 

web applications using C# and 

ASP.NET 

Basic understanding of Com-

mon Language Runtime (CLR), 

its limitations, weaknesses, 

and workarounds 

Implementation of automated 

testing platforms and unit tests 

Proficient understanding of 

code versioning tools such as 

Git, SVN, and Mercurial 

Familiarity with continuous in-

tegration 

experience working with gov-

ernmental organizations or pro-

grams in the development of 

software and database man-

agement systems  

- Ensure development and implementa-

tion of the information system to track 

case-based financing and financing of 

referral services  

- Assist with the development of a unified 

information system/database for regis-

tration and tracking of services financed 

through case-based financing and of re-

ferral services 

- Support design / development of data in-

put forms, the analytical framework and 

reporting forms 

- Work closely with the health care financ-

ing international consultant and health 

care financing national specialist regard-

ing specific tasks 

- Support the development of the soft-

ware application based on the software 

requirement specification document, 

provided by the International Software 

Architect & IT Expert. 

- Develop the database structure for the 

software. 

- Install the system in the development 

and testing environment. 

- Perform testing of the system. Reveal 

bugs and errors. 

- Develop the unit and integration tests of 

the system. Apply fixes to the system. 

- Implement required changes in the soft-

ware application based on the changed 

requirements during the maintenance 

period. 

-  

15 

CS07-5 Software 

Quality As-

surance 

Bachelor’s degree in computer 

science or engineering. 

Proficient in C#, with a good 

knowledge of its ecosystems 

- Ensure development and implementa-

tion of the information system to track 

case-based financing and financing of 

referral services  

10 
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Code Position Qualification and Experience Key Tasks and Outputs PM 

Familiarity with the .NET frame-

work 

Working knowledge of test 

management software and 

SQL  

Excellent communication skills  

Analytical mind and problem-

solving attitude  

Specific experience  

Proven experience as a QA 

tester or similar role  

Experience in project manage-

ment and QA methodology  

Ability to document and trou-

bleshoot errors  

experience in programming 

web applications using the C# 

and ASP.NET; 

familiarity with Agile frame-

works and regression testing is 

a plus. 

experience working with gov-

ernmental organizations or pro-

grams in the development of 

software and database man-

agement systems  

- Revise and assess database for regis-

tration and tracking of services financed 

through case-based financing and of re-

ferral services 

- Revise and assess current and newly 

developed data registration forms, ana-

lytical framework, and reporting forms 

- Revise and assess the technical specifi-

cations for computer equipment re-

quired to improve communication be-

tween referring health facilities, local 

government’s financial departments, 

MOF, and MOHSPP 

- Work closely with Health financing inter-

national and Health financing national 

specialists regarding the specific tasks 

to track case-based financing and fi-

nancing of referral services 

- Develop testing plan. Select the appro-

priate testing methodology for the or-

ganization of the testing. 

- Perform unit and integration testing of 

the software components during the de-

velopment of the software; apply tests 

proposed by the software developer; 

- Perform user acceptance test of the 

software. 

- Perform unit, integration and ac-

ceptance testing of the software new re-

leases. 

 
International Specialists Experience in the Region / Language Proficiency 

(i) Experience in implementing health financing reforms in transition economies and spe-
cifically in former Soviet Union countries; 

(ii) Proficiency in English language is essential; 
(iii) Proficiency in Russian language would be an advantage. 

 
National Specialist language proficiency   

• Language skills: Russian, Tajik, knowledge of English is welcome 
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F. Audit Firm (CS08) 

Purpose and Objectives  

1. The Executing Agency (EA) of the Maternal and Child Health Integrated Care Project, 

the Ministry of Health and Social Protection of the Population of the Republic of Tajikistan 

(MOHSPP), supported by a Project Administration Group (PAG) will be responsible for prepar-

ing and fairly presenting the Project financial statements, and for maintaining sufficient internal 

controls to ensure that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. In addition, MOHSPP management is responsible for ensuring that funds 

were used only for the purpose(s) of the project, for compliance with financial covenants (where 

applicable), and for ensuring that effective internal controls, including over the procurement 

process, are maintained. 

2. In this regard, the EA with support provided by the PAG must: 

i. Prepare and sign the Audited Project Financial Statements (AFS) 

ii. Prepare and sign a Statement of Compliance that must declare the following: 

- That project financial statements are free from material misstatements including 

omissions and errors, and are fairly presented;   

- That the Executing Agency has utilized the proceeds of the grant only for the pur-

poses of the project; 

- That the Executing Agency was in compliance with the financial covenants of the 

legal agreement(s) (if and as applicable); 

- That the Advance Account procedure has been operated in accordance with the 

ADB’s Disbursement Handbook; 

- That adequate supporting documentation has been maintained to authenticate 

claims stated on the statement of expenditures (SOE), where applicable, for reim-

bursement of eligible expenditures incurred and liquidation of advances provided to 

the Advance Account; and 

- That effective internal control, including over the procurement process, was main-

tained. 

3. The objectives of the audit of the project financial statements is to enable the auditor to 

(i) express an independent and objective opinion as to whether the project financial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, or give a true and fair view of the project’s financial 

position, its financial performance and cash flows, and (ii) provide a reasonable assurance 

opinion over certain specific representations made in the Statement of Compliance.   

Auditing Standards 

4. The audit is required to be conducted in accordance with ADB and Government of 

Tajikistan (GOT) regulations and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These 

standards require that the auditor comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the project financial statements are free 

from material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the project financial statements. The procedures se-

lected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the project financial statements whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

and fair presentation of the project financial statements to design audit procedures that are 
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appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-

fectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-

ness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

the EA, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the project financial statements. 

5. Audit standards to be applied will be stipulated in the project documents and will include 

standards promulgated by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB): 

i) International Standards on Auditing (ISA); and ii) International Standards on Assurance En-

gagements (ISAE). 

6. In complying with ISA, the auditor will pay particular attention to the following standards: 

• ISA 800/ISSAI 1800 – Special Considerations – Audits of Financial Statements Prepared 

in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks. 

• ISA 240/ISSAI 1240 – The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Fi-

nancial Statements. 

• ISA 250/ISSAI 1250 – Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial 

Statements. 

• ISA 260/ISSAI 1260 – Communication with Those Charged with Governance. 

• ISA 265/ISSAI 1265 – Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged 

with Governance and Management. 

• ISA 330/ISSAI 1330 – The Auditor’s Responses to Assessed Risks. 

Project Financial Reporting Framework 

7. The auditor will verify that the project financial statements have been prepared in ac-

cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) or national equivalents. The EA and/or IA are responsible 

for preparing the project financial statements, not the auditor.  

Audit Deliverables 

8. Audited Project Financial Statements  

8. An auditor’s opinion providing reasonable assurance over the project financial state-

ments, and project financial statements comprising the following: 

CONTENT OF THE PROJECT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For Cash-Based Financial Statements For Accrual-Based Financial Statements 

- A statement of cash receipts and payments 

- A statement of budgeted versus actual expendi-

tures 

- A statement of advance account 

- A summary statement of expenditures (where 

applicable) 

- Significant accounting policies and explanatory 

notes 

- Any additional schedules agreed (e.g., a sum-

mary of assets) 

- A statement of financial position (balance sheet) 

- A statement of financial performance (income state-

ment) 

- A statement of cash flows 

- A statement of changes in net assets/equity (where 

applicable) 

- A statement of advance account (where applicable) 

- Significant accounting policies and explanatory 

notes 

- Statement of budgeted versus actual expenditures 

- Summary statement of expenditures (where appli-

cable) 

- Any additional schedules agreed 
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9. Reasonable Assurance Opinion over the Use of Grant Pro-

ceeds and Compliance with Financial Covenants 

9. The auditor will provide a reasonable assurance opinion following ISAE 3000 “Assur-

ance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” or ISSAI 

4200 “Compliance Audit Related to the Audit of Financial Statements” for the following confir-

mations provided by EA Management in the Statement of Compliance: 

• That the proceeds of the grant were used only for the purpose(s) of the project; and 

• That the borrower or executing agency was in compliance with the financial covenants of 

the legal agreement(s), where applicable.  

10. The auditor will outline the degree of compliance for each of the financial covenants in 

the Project agreement. 

10. Management Letter 

11. The auditor will provide a management letter containing, at a minimum, the following: 

i. Any weaknesses in the accounting and internal control systems that were identified 

during the audit, including any irregularity in the use of the Advance Account and state-

ment of expenditures (SOE) procedures; 

ii. Any identified internal control weaknesses related to the procurement process such as, 

over the bidding, evaluation and contract management domains; 

iii. Recommendations to rectify identified weaknesses; 

iv. Management’s comments on the audit recommendations along with the timeframe for 

implementation; 

v. The status of significant matters raised in previous management letters;  

vi. Any other matters that the auditor considers should be brought to the attention of the 

project’s management; and 

vii. Details of any ineligible expenditure36 identified during the audit. Expenditure is consid-

ered ineligible if it refers to (i) expenditures incurred for purposes other than the ones 

intended under the legal agreement(s); (ii) expenditures not allowed under the terms of 

the legal/financing agreements; and (iii) expenditures incurred in violation of applicable 

government regulations. 

Specific Considerations 

12. The auditor will, during the course of the audit, pay particular attention to the following: 

i. The use of external funds in accordance with the relevant legal and financing agree-

ments; 

ii. The provision of counterpart funds in accordance with the relevant agreements and 

their use only for the purposes intended; 

iii. The maintenance of proper books and records; 

iv. The existence of project fixed assets and internal controls related thereto; 

13. Where reasonable assurance has been provided using ISAE 3000 or ISSAI 4200, the 

assurance report must contain, among others: 

v. A statement that the engagement was performed in accordance with ISAE 3000 or 

ISSAI 4200; 

                                                
36  If the auditor reports any ineligible expenditure in the management letter, the details of the findings should in-

clude the funding source to which the observation relates. 
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vi. Subject matter; Criteria for measurement; 

vii. A summary of the work performed; and the auditor’s conclusion. 

viii. On the Advance Account procedure, audit procedures are planned and performed to 

ensure 

a) the advance account (and any sub-accounts) has been managed in accordance 

with ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook,  

b) the cash balance of the advance account (and any sub-accounts) is supported by 

evidence; 

c) the expenditures paid from the advance account (and any sub-accounts) comply 

with the approved project purpose and cost categories stipulated in the Project 

agreement, and 

d) the amount of expenditures paid from the advance account (and any sub-accounts) 

comply with disbursement percentages stipulated in the grant agreement; 

ix. Adequate supporting documentation has been maintained to authenticate claims stated 

in the SOE for reimbursement of eligible expenditures incurred and liquidation of ad-

vances provided to the imprest account (where applicable); 

x. On the SOE procedure (where applicable), audit procedures are planned and per-

formed to ensure that 

a) the SOEs have been prepared in accordance with ADB’s Loan Disbursement Hand-

book, 

b) the individual payments for expenditures stated in the SOE are supported by evi-

dence,  

c) the expenditures stated in the SOEs comply with the approved project purpose and 

cost categories stipulated in grant agreement, and 

d) the amount of expenditures stated in the SOEs comply with disbursement percent-

ages stipulated in the grant agreement; and 

xi. Any weaknesses in internal controls over the procurement process. 

14. All reports must be presented in the English language within 6 months following the end 

of the fiscal year. 

15. Public disclosure of the project financial statements, including the auditor’s opinion on 

the audited project financial statements, will be guided by ADB’s Public Communications 

Policy (2011). After review, ADB will disclose the audited project financial statements 

and the opinion of the auditor on the audited project financial statements no later than 

14 calendar days of ADB’s confirmation of their acceptability by posting them on ADB’s 

website. The management letter and the additional auditor’s opinions will not be dis-

closed37. 

OTHER MATTERS 

a) Statement of Access 

16. The auditor will have full and complete access, at all reasonable times, to all records 

and documents including books of account, legal agreement(s), bank records, invoices and 

any other information associated with the project and deemed necessary by the auditor.  

                                                
37 This type of information would generally fall under public communications policy exceptions to disclosure. ADB. 

2011. Public Communications Policy. Paragraph 97(iv) and/or 97(v). 
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17. The auditor will be provided with full cooperation by all employees of the MOHSPP / 

PAG and the project implementing units, whose activities involve, or may be reflected in, the 

annual project financial statements. The auditor will be assured rights of access to banks and 

depositories, consultants, contractors and other persons or firms hired by the employer. 

11. Independence 

18. The auditor will be impartial and independent from any aspects of management or fi-

nancial interest in the entity or project under audit. In particular, the auditor should be inde-

pendent of the control of the entity. The auditor should not, during the period covered by the 

audit, be employed by, or serve as director for, or have any financial or close business rela-

tionship with the entity. The auditor should not have any close personal relationships with any 

senior participant in the management of the entity. The auditor must disclose any issues or 

relationships that might compromise their independence. 

Auditor Experience  

19. The auditor must be authorized to practice in the country and be capable of applying 

the agreed auditing standards. The auditor should have adequate staff, with appropriate pro-

fessional qualifications and suitable experience, including experience in auditing the accounts 

of projects or entities comparable in nature, size and complexity to the project or entity whose 

audit they are to undertake. To this end, the auditor is required to provide curriculum vitae (CV) 

of the personnel who will provide the opinions and reports, together with the CVs of managers, 

supervisors and key personnel likely to be involved in the audit work. These CVs should include 

details of audits carried out by these staff, including ongoing assignments. 
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Appendix 3: Bi-Annual Environmental Monitoring Report 

 

 

 
 
BI-ANNUAL ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING REPORT 
 
 
PROJECT No: (XXXXX) 
Month, Year:  
 
 
 
 
(Full Country Name): (Project Title) 
(Financed by the <source of funding>) 
 
 
Prepared by: (author(s)) 
(Firm Name) 
(City, Country) 
 
 
 
This report does not necessarily reflect the views of ADB or the Government concerned, and 
ADB and the Government cannot be held liable for its contents. 
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Table of Content 
 
Part I: Introduction 

A. Construction activities and Project Progress during previous 6 months 
B. Changes in project organization and Environmental management team 
C. Relationships with Contractors, owner, lender, etc. 

 
Part II: Environmental Monitoring 
Environmental monitoring summary – summarize the previous six months monitoring data and 
provide explanations of any instances where environmental standards or guidelines are ex-
ceeded. Typically, this will cover: 

a. Noise and Vibration 
b. Water Quality 
c. Air Quality 
d. Flora and fauna monitoring 

 
Recommendations are required to show how any exceedances will be prevented in the future. 
Graphs can be used in this section to show trends; however large tables of data or multiple 
graphs should be attached as an appendix. 
 
Part III Environmental Management 
 

- EMS, SSEMP and work plans. Report on delivery of documents, required amendments 
etc. 

- Site Inspections and audits – summarize the number and type of site visits. 
- Non-compliance notices – summarize the details on the number of notices given out 

and the issues covered. Summaries the ranking of issues. 
- Corrective action plans - report on timeliness of preparation and completion 
- Consultation and complaints – report on any consultation undertaken and list any com-

plaints received. 
 
Annexes 
 

- Monitoring data 
- Photographs 
- Implementation report on EIA/IEE mitigation requirements 

 
Reference Requirement Action to date Action required/com-

ments 
    

    
    

 
 


